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PART I

Item 1. Financial Statements

CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)

Interest income:

0 $ 716 $ 598
SECUNTEIES ...ttt sttt bt et s h b e s e b et e e et e a e e ae e Rt eh e e b e e Rt eE e b e sE e sE et e b e ne et enseneeaeebeenenaeebenbas 304 253
TrAOING SECUNTIES ...ttt et ettt he b e s bt sbeebe s b se e b et e se e e e ne et e e eaeebeenesaesbenaeee 63 49
S aTo a1 g T V=S 1 1= TR 176 158
L)1 1= SRR 18 16
TOLAl INTEIEST INCOMIE ...ttt ettt b ettt b et b et b et neneens 1,277 1,074
Interest expense:
(D= 10 T OSSPSR URSPRURRIN 333 222
SNOPt-TEIM DOMTOWINGS ...ttt b e e et se et et e e s aeenesaesbeneas 62 33
LONG-EEIIN AEDL ...t b bbbt e b 312 257
L)1 1= SRR 8 10
QL0 t= L 12T TS =D 01 L 715 522
= T 1= =S T 0 PSSO 562 552
ProvisSion fOr CrEIT IOSSES.......iuciieiiieiiieiste et s sttt sttt sttt e st ebenense s s naene 58 (71)
Net interest income after provision for Credit I0SSES ... 504 623
Other revenues:
(OIS o [ o= 0 [ = =T o 1 12 11
Trust and iNvestment ManageMENT FEES .......vii e resre s 30 38
Other feeS and COMIMISSIONS........cciuiiiiiriiee ettt ettt be e be e ebe e ebeseesesaens 147 160
TrAOING FEVENUE.......ceeeeieeeeeeiee ettt sttt e e st a s st e he e b e bt sbe e b e s b se e b e b e se e e e ne et e e eaeebeeaeeaesbesbeses 133 163
Other SECUNMTIES QAINS, NEL .....ueiiiieieiie ettt b et ae bt b e see st et e e e se e e e ne et e aeeaeeaesaesbeneas 7 5
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affili@teS.........coveerieirieiriree e 81 99
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives..........ccccvevvenrenrennene 9) 30
OthEr INCOME (JOSS) .....vcveieviiietiieeis ettt ettt ae bbb e b e e s e s be b ese s besesbenesbe e s beneebenneseneenennens (11) 7
TOUAI OLNEE TEVEINUES ...ttt sttt ettt et b et b et et e b et s et benaeneneenes 390 513
Operating expenses:
Salaries and employee DENEFITS ........coo it 210 207
Support services from HSBC affili@eS.........ovrveirieirierererer e 380 411
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, MNMEL ...ttt ettt st st e e e et b e s b e se s R e e b e seese e b e e e e e e ese e e eneeneenennenrenres 45 43
(@1 0 cd o= 1S =R 115 621
TOtAl OPEIAtiNG EXPENSES ... .cuveeeeeeeeuieeee et st e e te e st e e te e e e e e e e e e esestesaestesteseessentestessensensenseneesesseanearenres 750 1,282
INCOmME (10SS) DEFOrE INCOME TAX ......ccueitiriiiiiitiie et e et sb e e 144 (146)
[NCOME TAX EXPIENISE. ... e eeueeueeeeueeteeierteetestesaesbesbestesee e e ee e e e eaeeae e st eheebesbeebeebesbese e b e nbese e s ane e e et eseeaeenesaeabenaees 35 92
NEE INCOME (I0SS) ....v.veveeeeeteteeeee et ete et e ettt e et e se e et s et eaese st et ese st stetese s esssesessessseseseassestesessasatesessasseasesesasates $ 109 $ (238

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME (LOSS) (UNAUDITED)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)
NEE INCOME (I0SS) ....veveveeeeeeietcteee sttt et ettt ettt e ettt eaese st et ese s eteteseseesssebese e st etesensseebesenesssesesenssentetensasata $ 109 $ (239
Net change in unrealized gains (losses), net of tax:
INVESIMENT SEOUMTIES. ...ttt sttt b et bbb e b se ke seebesa s b eneenenea 179 (195)
Fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit Spread.........cocvvveereveereeceeceeeeese e (111) 12
Derivatives designated as cash floOw hedgeS........cceveeeiririecci s s 14 2
Pension and post-retirement benefit Plans...........coccccciiccesc e e 3) 1
Total other comprehensive INCOME (I0SS) ......cciiieiiciicicieeeeeeee e re e sre b e s 79 (180)
Comprehensive INCOME (I0SS) ......cuiiueiiiieieceeeeeceeee ettt ettt sttt sa et et e e eaeebeeaeeaeebesbesaeebeanas $ 188 $ (418)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEET (UNAUDITED)

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions, except share data)

Assets®

Cash and dUE FTOM DENKS.........ccucueiiiecieiii ettt bbbttt $ 1,238 % 1,514
Interest bearing depoSitS With DENKS..........ccoviiii e e 20,197 15,700
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to resell (includes $1.0 billion and nil

designated under fair value option at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively) .........ccoeuvrene. 6,924 10,168
Trading assets (includes $2.7 billion and $2.5 billion of assets pledged to creditors at March 31, 2019 and

December 31, 2018, FESPECHIVEY) ....c...cvrceeeeeeeeeeeeeeet ettt esae s es st s s s s aessnsensssensssensesssesnsesansesanes 26,101 21,978
Securities available-for-sale (includes $1.2 billion and $0.8 billion of assets pledged to creditors at March

31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, rEPECHIVEIY) ....c.cuevriiecrereiieeete ettt ettt neebens 32,040 31,379
Securities held-to-maturity (fair value of $14.3 billion and $14.4 billion at March 31, 2019 and December

31, 2018, FESPECHVEIY)......cveieceieceieeeeeeeeeeeteteete st st st es st es st es st esaesen st esses s sessssenssssnsssssesnsesn s s s sessnsassnssnsneas 14,383 14,670
(0= 10RO 71,034 68,978
LesS— allOWanCe fOr Cradit [OSSES .......cciuirirereieteeie ettt sttt be sttt e e ae e e b e e ene e e e be e e s s 583 541

OGNS, NMEL ... .ottt e et e e ettt e et e e e etee e eateesbee e ateeeesseesasee e seeeeaseesabeeesaeeesseesaseeeasesesnteesnseeeasaeeanes 70,451 68,437
Loans held for sale (includes $98 million and $109 million designated under fair value option at March 31,

2019 and December 31, 2018, FESPECHIVEIY) .....c.vrueeceeeeceeeeeteeee e eete et ee et ense st s st s e 448 512
Properties and EQUIPMENT, NMEL ..ottt sttt et se e b st ae b et ebe e et be e enesbe e s be e ene e 156 158
(€000 L1/ 1| TP 1,607 1,607
OENEY BSSELS. ...ttt e bbb e b e e b b e A E b A b E b A bR R A b bR bbb bbb bbb bbbt b netas 7,376 6,325
TOTAI @SSELS ...t et et et et et et e e e e eeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeaeeeeeseeseaseesessenseeeeeeeeaeensenenseeeeeeeeeeeneeneeneensesenseesenreneereeneenneeenen $ 180,921 $ 172,448
Liabilities™
Debt:

Domestic deposits:
NONINEEFESE DEAIMNG.......vcvveieeieteieecte ettt ettt bbb bbbt s e bbb s bbb s s bt s st b s $ 22,081 $ 25,639
Interest bearing (includes $8.5 billion and $8.2 hillion designated under fair value option at March 31,
2019 and December 31, 2018, FESPECIVEIY) ......cvucvucucreeeereeeeeteseesese ettt es bt sbesse st st ensensans 85,061 78,830
Foreign deposits:

Noninterest bearing 178 202
QL= =S o= T oo USSR 6,310 6,274
DEPOSITS NEIA FOF SAE....c.eieeeie ettt 9 10
QL0 = 0 L= 0 £ TR 113,639 110,955
Short-term borrowings (includes $191 million and $560 million designated under fair value option at
March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, reSPECHVEIY)........ovevueeeeeereeeeeeeeeeceeee et ee e esae et 9,567 4,180
Long-term debt (includes $12.1 billion and $11.2 billion designated under fair value option at March 31,
2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively).. 31,475 30,628
TOLBI TEDE ...t bbb bbb R bbb e bR e bttt 154,681 145,763
TradiNG [HADITITIES.....c ettt b bbbt ettt ettt sttt et 3,908 3,643
Interest, taxes and OthEr [TADITTTIES.........ocii ittt e ettt s st e e s et e s sabe s sbeessabessabessbessanes 4,011 2,536
TOTAL THADIIITIES. ...ttt ettt et e e e e e st e st e s aeeseeesaeesee e aeeeesaeesaessasesnneseeesaeessnesaeessessaesans 162,600 151,942
Equity
Preferred stock (no par value; 40,999,000 shares authorized; 1,265 shares issued and outstanding at both
March 31, 2019 and DeCembEr 31, 2018) .......c.oveureeuereeeeeeceeecaeeee s sesaesessesessesessesessessssensesessesssesssesnsesanes 1,265 1,265
Common equity:
Common stock ($5 par; 150,000,000 shares authorized; 714 shares issued and outstanding at both March
31, 2019 and DeCeMbBET 31, 2018) ......ccceiiiieiirieieieiee ettt sttt b e a e aene e e b e s e — —
Additional PaId-iN CAPITAL........ccciieiieicesee e et et be e be e re e 15,736 18,136
RELAINEA BAIMINGS.......ceeuiiieietiie ettt sttt ettt et et e s e eae st e e ebeseeaesbe s ebessene et e e esesaeneebeseenesteneabaeeseaee 1,607 1,471
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (287) (366)
Total COMMON EQUILY .....cveeeeeereereree e 17,056 19,241
B0 1 L= U 7P 18,321 20,506
Total [iabilitieS AN EQUILY........ccvcviiececeeecs et b bbb bbb bbbt $ 180,921 $ 172,448
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@ Thefollowing table summarizes assets and liabilities rel ated to our consolidated variableinterest entities (*VIES") at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018

which are consolidated on our balance sheet. Assets and liabilities exclude intercompany balances that eliminate in consolidation. See Note 17, "Variable
Interest Entities," for additional information.

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Assets
(0107 =SS OSSR $ 106 $ 112
L0 = = 5= £ $ 106 $ 112
Liabilities
LONG-EIMI AEDL ... bbb bbb bbb $ 66 $ 66
Interest, taxes and OtNEY [HADIIITIES. .........cciiieiece ettt ettt e sttt eeae et et e ebeereesaeeaeensesaesneentens 36 37
TOLAI 1HADINTTIES. .. .ceveeeeeeeieiese ettt b e ettt bbbt e et ne b b et st b ettt e b ne et b e ne st et et st benan $ 102 $ 103

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended March 31,

2019 2018

Preferred stock

Balance at beginning and end Of PEITOU..........ceiirricerre e

Common stock

Balance at beginning and end Of PEMIOM. ..o et nene s

Additional paid-in capital

Balance at beginning Of PEITOA ..ottt e b e e e b e b e sbeneeneas
REUrN Of CAPITAl 10 PAMENT ... ettt e e ettt ae st et et e e s e e e sesbe e esesbeneeae s esesseneeseneeneas
EMPIOyee DENEFIT PIANS .......eeicee et

BalanCe 8 €N OF PEITOU.......cueuiiririeieireee ettt bbbt b bttt b et e b bt ne bbbt

Retained earnings

Balance at beginning Of PEMIOM ..ottt sttt

Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for |eases to recognize the
previously deferred gain on the sale and leaseback of property, Net Of taX........coveerrreirrneenree s

Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss of cumulative effect adjustment to initially
apply new accounting guidance for equity investments which were previously classified as available-for-
LSS LS 1= 0 ) T

Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for equity investments which were
previously measured at COSE, NEL OF 18X ....c.viveeiiieieeee ettt st st

Reclassification from accumulated other comprehensive loss of cumulative effect adjustment to initially
apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from the Tax Cuts and JobsAct ("Tax
LEOISIBIION™) ...ttt e bRt e R e r s

Balance at beginning of Period, ajUSLEU .............cciviiiiiiiceec e ne
INELINCOME (I0SS) ...ttt ettt sttt ettt e e b et e saeae st e seebe e ese st eseebessese e b e e esesbeseebe s esesbeneeae s eseaaanseseaserens

2 F e gTecY = g o o) 7= o FEU ST SRUTOTRRUSN

Accumulated other comprehensive loss

Balance at beginning Of PEMTOM .......c.cvriieiieieeer et

Reclassification to retained earnings of cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting
guidance for equity investments which were previously classified as available-for-sale, net of tax................

Reclassification to retained earnings of cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting
guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax Legislation .........cccccovueeiereeiieeseseeseesese e

Balance at beginning Of Period, adjUSLE ..ot

Other comprehensive inCome (10SS), NEE OF 18X ......c.erveeruiririeriecriee et
2 F = g TecY = g o o) 7= o ST
TOtAl COMMON BUUILY ...ttt ettt ettt et e et eae et e s ebesseseebensebeseessebeseebesbensebaseesesreneabeseenan
et LN =T 11 TSRO SPRR

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.

(in millions)

1265 $ 1,265
18,136 18,130
(2,400) —

— (3)
15,736 18,127
1,471 1,130
27 —

— (4

— 10

— 91
1,498 1,227
109 (238)
1,607 989
(366) (431)
— 4

— (91)
(366) (518)
79 (180)
(287) (698)
17,056 18,418
18321 $ 19,683
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS (UNAUDITED)
Three Months Ended March 31,

2019

2018

Cash flows from operating activities
= T oo g X (o) ISP
Adjustments to reconcile net income (10ss) to net cash used in operating activities:
Depreciation and @MOITIZALION. .........c.couriereerreeeire et e e ne bt ne s r bt rene s
ProViSiON fOr CrEOIt IOSSES.......cciieeiiieieti ettt ettt se st et e be e e se et e e ese st eneste e eneneenees
Net realized gains on securities availabl@-fOr-SalE ... e
Net change in other assets and lHahiliTiES...........ceiveiieieiicec e
Net changein loans held for sale:
Originations and purchases of 10ans held for SAle..........cooi s
Sales and collections of 10aNS hEld fOr SAlE...........ciiee e
Net changein trading assets and [HBDIlTHIES.........c.eorieiiree s
Lower of amortized cost or fair value adjustments on loans held for Sale.........ccccivveciviecieiccicece e
Loss (gain) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives...........cocccvvieeievciiceseee e
Net cash used iN OPErating ACHIVITIES.......c.ciiiiirieeeeeeee ettt b e et et b et et b e e b e
Cash flows from investing activities
Net changein federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreementsto resell.........coovveerevneennesesienennes
Securities available-for-sale;
Purchases of securities available-for-Sale..........cociiiiiii e
Proceeds from sales of securities available-for-sale..........cocciiiiiiiii e
Proceeds from maturities of securities available-for-Sal@..........ccoiiiirin e
Securities held-to-maturity:
Purchases of SECUritieS NElO-TO-MELUIILY ........covrveririreireier et
Proceeds from maturities of securities NEld-t0-MELUFILY ..........coeiirreiiree s
Changeinloans:
Originations, NEL Of COBCHIONS.........cuiuiiieiiieieies ettt st e b e seebe st e e e b e e ese st eseebe s esesaeseanan

Net cash provided by iNVESIING ACHIVITIES .......ciiieiiieci ettt st sa et e ne e ne e
Cash flows from financing activities
NEL CNANGE TN GEPOSITS ...ttt bt b b e b e b e e s b e e e bt s e e e e b e e e h e sE et eb e seeaese e e ebe st enesbe e ene st enees
Debt:
Net change in SNOM-LEMM DOMTOWINGS ......cveveerirrereireeretsere ettt b e n s
1SSUBNCE OF [ONG-LEIM AEDL.......eeieeee ettt b ettt
Repayment of 10NG-tEIM BB ..ot s e et st e e b e st ne st e e ene st neene
RELUIN Of CAPITAl 1O PAMEML.......e ittt ettt b bbb et b ettt b bt e sttt st b et ne et
Other decreases in CapItal SUMNPIUS.......co.oeiiieiieree ettt et b e bt b e e bbb e e bt e e be e e e b eneenan
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities
Net change in cash and due from banks and interest bearing deposits With banks™................ccooveoorreerereeeeeereeeeeennne.
Cash and due from banks and interest bearing deposits with banks at beginning of period™® ..........ccoooeervverrvenrrenne.
Cash and due from banks and interest bearing deposits with banks at end of period™ ...............cccoooeomrvvcirrrecennnens

(in millions)

109 $  (239)
11 (18)

58 (71)

(7 ()
1,326 (122)
(593) (923)
621 1,175
(3,858)  (18,061)
— (3

9 (30)
(2,324) ~ (18,296)
3,244 22,804
(4,408) (2,161)
2,145 987
2,123 948
(229) (900)
509 591
(2,413) 5,012
381 207
(8) —

2 (232)

(1) (11)
1,341 27,245
2,479 (375)
5,387 487
1,829 1,517
(2,091) (3,899)
(2,400) —
— (3)
5,204 (2,273)
4,221 6,676
17,214 12,272

$ 21435 $ 18948

@ Asaresult of adopting new accounting guidance in 2018, we changed our presentation of cash and cash equivalents to include cash and due from banks as
well asinterest bearing deposits with banks, which includes restricted cash. See Note 2, " Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting
Pronouncements," in our 2018 Form 10-K for further discussion. Thisresulted in an increasein cash provided by investing activities of $6,968 million during

the three months ended March 31, 2018.

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the consolidated financial statements.
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NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (UNAUDITED)

Note Page Note Page
1 Organization and Presentation............ccccceeeueee. 9 12 Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits...... 39
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7 GOOAWITL ... 27 18 Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and 48
Repurchase Agreements........coceceveevveveeenene.
8 LEASES ..o 28 19 Fair Value Measurements.........ccocvveveereereeeennn 53
9 Derivative Financial Instruments.............cccc..... 29 20 Litigation and Regulatory Matters.................... 67
10 Fair Value Option.........coccceveereereneniennenineenns 35 21 New Accounting Pronouncements.................... 69
11 Accumulated Other ComprehensiveLoss........ 38

1. Organization and Presentation

HSBC USA Inc. ("HSBC USA"), incorporated under the laws of Maryland, isaNew York State based bank holding company and
awholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North AmericaHoldings Inc. ("HSBC North America"), which is an indirect wholly-owned
subsidiary of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group"). The accompanying unaudited
interim consolidated financial statementsof HSBC USA anditssubsidiaries(collectively "HUSI") havebeen preparedinaccordance
with accounting principles generally accepted in the United States of America ("U.S. GAAP") for interim financial information
and with the instructions to Form 10-Q and Article 10 of Regulation S-X, as well as in accordance with predominant practices
within the banking industry. Accordingly, they do not include all of the information and footnotes required by generally accepted
accounting principles for complete financial statements. In the opinion of management, all normal and recurring adjustments
considered necessary for afair presentation of financial position, results of operations and cash flows for the interim periods have
been made. HUSI may also be referred to in these notes to the consolidated financia statements as "we," "us" or "our." These
unaudited interim consolidated financial statements should be read in conjunction with our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
year ended December 31, 2018 (the "2018 Form 10-K"). Certain reclassifications have been made to prior period amounts to
conform to the current period presentation.

The preparation of financial statementsin conformity with U.S. GAAP requires the use of estimates and assumptions that affect
reported amounts and disclosures. Actual results could differ from those estimates. Interim results should not be considered
indicative of resultsin future periods.
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2. Trading Assets and Liabilities

Trading assets and liabilities consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Trading assets:
ULS. TTEASUIY ...ttt sttt sttt ettt et s e et s h e e e e s he e b e s he e b e e h e e b e e ae e e b e e et ebeeeesreeneesaeesbesnnenbennnenes $ 5524 $ 5,368
U.S. Government agency iSsued OF QUAraNtEEM............cvevrerrereirerrnreereresreree s sees 112 111
U.S. Government SPONSOred ENLEIPIISES.......coccicieiieirietestestestesteseeseeseseeeeseesessesbestessesresbessessensessens 61 41
ASSEt-DACKEA SECUITIES. .....cveeeeeeeceictis st ere e sre st st s ee st e tese e e e e nae e eneenennes 201 208
Corporate and fOreign DONAS ..........oceiiiie e bbb e 11,192 10,562
EQUILY SECUNTIES. ..o s 888 751
PrECIOUS IMELAIS......cc ittt ettt s s et e e s et e e s sabe e s s sbeeesasbesssabeessbaeesasbesssasaessabenssasbesens 5,127 1,889
DENVALIVES, NEL ..ottt et e eae e et s e e be s be et e sbe et e eaeeebeeasesbeensesaeestesaeesbesasebennsenes 2,996 3,048
TOtAl trA0iNG GSSELS. ....veveee ittt ettt ettt sae b e s be bt s b e b se e e et e b e e e neenis $ 26,101 $ 21,978
Trading liabilities: -
Securities sold, NOt YEt PUICNESED..........ceiriereeeereeere e $ 687 $ 738
Payalles for PreCioUS MELAIS .........ciiiireee e bbb 38 215
DENTVBLIVES, NEL.....eiivecciie ittt ettt ettt st e et e s be e s teesaaeesbeeeabe e beesabeeaseesateesseesabeesbessnseebessabeenseesnreens 3,183 2,690
L0 = IR (=0 [1 ol =" o1 =S $ 3908 $ 3,643

At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the fair value of derivatives included in trading assets is net of $2,257 million and
$2,013 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the obligation to return cash collateral received under master
netting agreements with derivative counterparties.

At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the fair value of derivativesincluded in trading liabilitiesis net of $2,546 million and
$3,458 million, respectively, relating to amounts recognized for the right to reclaim cash collateral paid under master netting
agreements with derivative counterparties.

See Note 9, "Derivative Financial Instruments,” for further information on our trading derivatives and related collateral.
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3. Securities

Our securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity portfolios consisted of the following:

Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
March 31, 2019 Cost Gains Losses Value
(in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. TIEBSUMY ..ttt ettt sttt st e st e ettt st et e $ 13,867 $ 103 $ (312) $ 13,658
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:
Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES ..o, 5,310 35 (75) 5,270
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccereienenerieneere e 684 1 (21) 664
Direct agency Obligations.........cccuvveireieiesiesiesesese e seeseeee e eesesesnens 3,016 31 )} 3,045
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES .........ccvveiiiiiiicicic e, 5,309 3 (113) 5,199
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cccereienenerieneere e 1,001 8 (22) 987
Direct agency Obligations.........cccvveeverieresiesieseseeseseeseeseesee e ee e sessesnens 266 6 — 272
Asset-backed securities collateralized by:
HOME EOUILY ... s 42 — 4) 38
L@ 11 1= SRS 104 5 — 109
FOreign debt SECUMTIES™ ... 2,794 4 — 2,798
Total available-for-sale SECUNTIES.........cccvieeiiiee et $32,393 $ 196 $ (549) $ 32,040
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:
Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES .........c.cueiiiieceeeeeceeeee e $ 1906 $ 5 $ (15) $ 1,896
Collateralized mortgage obligations ..........cceererinenevieneese e 1,810 38 (16) 1,832
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES ........coeiiriieiisere et 2,114 2 (31) 2,085
Collateralized mortgage obligations..........cccevvevenenieseseresereeesese e 8,540 43 (112) 8,472
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdiviSions............cccceeereerenicnienncns 11 1 — 12
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages 2 — — 2
Total held-to-MatUrity SECUMTIES.......cciviuiececiereece et eaeeas $14383 $ 89 $  (173) $ 14,299
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Amortized  Unrealized  Unrealized Fair
December 31, 2018 Cost Gains Losses Value

(in millions)

Securities available-for-sale;

U.S. TIEASUNY ..ottt ettt $13549 $ 106 $ (365 $ 13,290
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:
Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES........oceirricet s 5,541 6 (154) 5,393
Collateralized mortgage obligations............ccccvvveieinnceenneeee 686 1 (35) 652
Direct agency ObligationS........ccvvririnineninree e 2,831 37 2 2,866
U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES........ccivviieie et eneas 4,442 1 (A71) 4,272
Collateralized mortgage obligations............ccccvvveieinnceenneeee 1,140 9 (29) 1,120
Direct agency ObligationS.........ccvvvirrinnieee e 295 9 — 304
Asset-backed securities collateralized by:
[ (00T =0 U] TN 44 — 2 42
(@131 SRS 102 5 — 107
FOreign debt SECUIMTIES™...........eeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e eseee e 3,330 3 — 3,333
Total available-for-sale SECUNTIES........cceeeeee et $ 31960 $ 177 $ (758) $ 31,379

Securities held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises:

Mortgage-backed SECUNLIES.........o.cueirrerei s $ 1812 $ 1% (34 $ 1,779
Collateralized mortgage obligations............ccccovereiennenenreeere 1,878 34 (26) 1,886

U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed:
Mortgage-backed SECUNTIES...........ccivreiei s 2,104 2 (63) 2,043
Collateralized mortgage obligations............ccccovvrrieininnieeinnee e 8,863 35 (176) 8,722
Obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions.............ccccovvvrciienennns 11 — — 11
Asset-backed securities collateralized by residential mortgages................... 2 — — 2
Total held-to-maturity SECUFTIES .......cceveiirine e $ 14670 $ 72 % (299) $ 14,443

@ Foreign debt securities represent public sector entity, bank or corporate debt.

Net unrealized losses were lower within the available-for-sale portfolio as compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily to
decreasingyieldson U.S. Government sponsored mortgage-backed, U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed, and U.S. Treasury
Securities.
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Thefollowing table summarizesgrossunrealized lossesand related fair valuesat March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 classified
asto the length of time the losses have existed:

One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
March 31, 2019 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

(dollars are in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. TIASUIY veeoeeeeeeeeeeeee e 9 ¢ (15 $ 1,773 42 $ (297) $ 8436
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 1 — 75 166 (98) 3,816
U.S. Government agency issued or

QUArANEEED ..o, 4 — 188 73 (135) 4,753
Asset-backed securities..........cooeveveveenenenne — — — 5 4) 38
Foreign debt securities........cocvveveereceeennen. 10 — 823 1 — 39
Securities available-for-sale...........ccooveceiennene 24 $ 5) $ 2,859 287 $ (534) $ 17,082
Securities held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 15 $ — 3 3 578 $ B $ 2,162
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed ..o, 68 (1) 366 512 (141) 7,622
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUbdiVISIONS........ccooveieiiieecrececeee e, 1 — — 1 — —
Securities held-to-maturity ..........cccovvverererenen. 84 $ (1) $ 369 1001 $ (172) $ 9,784
One Year or Less Greater Than One Year
Number Gross Aggregate Number Gross Aggregate
of Unrealized Fair Value of Unrealized Fair Value
December 31, 2018 Securities Losses of Investment Securities Losses of Investment

(dollars are in millions)
Securities available-for-sale:

U.S. TreaSUNY ....cvvveeieieieieieieieere s 8 $ (12) $ 1,013 41 $ (353) $ 8,828
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 55 (6) 538 159 (185) 3,698
U.S. Government agency issued or
QUAraNtEEd ..........covviiiiii, 8 2 106 72 (198) 4,825
Asset-backed SeCUrities.........ovvvvrereneenenen. 1 — — 4 2 42
Foreign debt seCurities........coovverereeerennene 16 — 1,724 — — _
Securities available-for-sale.........c.cocvvvirirenne. 88 $ (20) $ 3,381 276 $ (738) $ 17,393
Securities held-to-maturity: -
U.S. Government sponsored enterprises...... 103 $ 8 $ 684 511 $ (52 $ 1,739
U.S. Government agency issued or
(o [UE T 191 <o [ 111 (14) 769 491 (225) 7,372
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS......coiriieiriinieie e 1 — — 1 — —
Securities held-to-maturity ...........c.ccveerriecnnee. 215 $ (22) $ 1,453 1003 $ (277) $ 9111

Although the fair value of a particular security may be below its amortized cost, it does not necessarily result in a credit loss and
hence an other-than-temporary impairment. The declinein fair value may be caused by, among other things, theilliquidity of the
market. We have reviewed the securities for which thereis an unrealized loss for other-than-temporary impairment in accordance
with our accounting policies, discussed further below. At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we do not consider any of our
debt securitiesto be other-than-temporarily impaired as we expect to recover their amortized cost basis and we neither intend nor
expect to be required to sell these securities prior to recovery, even if that equates to holding securities until their individual
maturities. However, other-than-temporary impairments may occur in future periods if the credit quality of the securities
deteriorates.
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Other-Than-Temporary Impairment On a quarterly basis, we perform an assessment to determine whether there have been any
events or economic circumstances to indicate that a debt security with an unrealized loss has suffered other-than-temporary
impairment. A debt security is considered impaired if its fair value is less than its amortized cost basis at the reporting date. If
impaired, we assess whether the impairment is other-than-temporary.

If we intend to sell the debt security or if it is more-likely-than-not that we will be required to sell the debt security before the
recovery of its amortized cost basis, the impairment is considered other-than-temporary and the unrealized loss is recorded in
earnings. Animpairment is also considered other-than-temporary if acredit lossexists(i.e., the present value of the expected future
cash flowsisless than the amortized cost basis of the debt security). In the event a credit |oss exists, the credit 1oss component of
an other-than-temporary impairment is recorded in earnings while the remaining portion of the impairment loss attributable to
factors other than credit lossis recognized, net of tax, in other comprehensive income (l10ss).

For al securitiesheld in the avail able-for-sal e or held-to-maturity portfolios for which unrealized losses attributed to factors other
than credit existed, we do not have the intention to sell and believe we will not be required to sell the securities for contractual,
regulatory or liquidity reasons as of the reporting date. For a complete description of the factors considered when analyzing debt
securities for impairments, see Note 4, "Securities," in our 2018 Form 10-K. There have been no material changesin our process
for assessing impairment during 2019.

During thethree monthsended March 31, 2019 and 2018, none of our debt securitieswere determined to have other-than-temporary
impairment, as such, there were no other-than-temporary impairment losses recognized related to credit loss.

Other securities gains, net The following table summarizes realized gains and losses on investment securities transactions
attributable to available-for-sale securities:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)
GrOSS FEAITIZEA QAINS ......eveeteeteite ettt ettt ete st e et s tesaesee st e beseese e se e e e eneeneeneeneeseesesnesaesbesaeseenseneeseens $ 16 $ 9
GroSSreAliZEU [OSSES.........ovuiiiiii s 9) 4
T A= 4= o 0T TP $ 7 % 5
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Contractual Maturities and Yields Thefollowing table summarizesthe amortized cost and fair values of securities available-for-
saleand securitieshel d-to-maturity at March 31, 2019 by contractual maturity. Expected maturitiesdiffer from contractual maturities
because borrowers have theright to prepay obligationswithout prepayment penaltiesin certain cases. Thetable below also reflects
the distribution of maturities of debt securities held at March 31, 2019, together with the approximate yield of the portfolio. The
yields shown are calculated by dividing annualized interest income, including the accretion of discounts and the amortization of
premiums, by the amortized cost of securities outstanding at March 31, 2019.

After One After Five
Within But Within But Within After Ten
One Year Five Years Ten Years Years

Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield Amount Yield
(dollars are in millions)

Available-for-sale:

U.S. TrEaSUMNY ...cevvereeereererieieesesieieeenens $ 208 258% $ 5761 202% $ 4985 214% $ 2,823 2.96%
U.S. Government sponsored
ENLENPrISES ..ovveveeeeerieerieesiees e 1,187 3.15 1567 2.75 2,424 2.80 3,832 3.09
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed..........ccveeereeerrieneseneenes — — 74 216 7 417 6,495 2.73
Asset-backed securities .........cooveenenens — — — — 57 531 89 4.02
Foreign debt securities...........coovvrennne. 1,398 16 1,39 262 — — — —
Total amortized COSt.......oovveerireeiriiieiene $ 2883 164% $ 8,798 225% $ 7,473 238% $ 13239 2.89%
Total fair ValUue.......o...oeevevveeeeereeeeeeeriee. $ 2,887 $ 8771 $ 7301 $ 13,081

Held-to-maturity:
U.S. Government sponsored

ENEEIPIISES ...cvvevveeereetere e $ 50 222% $ 378 271% $ 160 263% $ 3,128 3.00%
U.S. Government agency issued or
guaranteed..........couveeerrririninineeeeenes — — 14 394 25 356 10,615 2.66
Obligations of U.S. states and political
SUDAIVISIONS .....occeveeiiiereeeiee e 1 471 5 344 5 419 — —
Asset-backed securities.........ccoovvvreenee. — — — — — — 2 8.38
Total amortized COSt.......cvveveevveeiriecreenen, $ 51 227% $ 397 276% $ 190 2.79% $ 13,745 2.74%
Total fair ValU.......cccoveeeeeeeeeceeee e $ 51 $ 398 $ 189 $ 13,661

Equity Securities Equity securities that are not classified as trading and are included in other assets consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,

2019 2018

(in millions)
Equity securities carried at fair VAIUE..........ccooeiiririii et e $ 286 $ 278
Equity securities without readily determinable fair ValUES........ccovveveireececice e 7 7

Onaquarterly basis, we perform an assessment to determine whether any equity securitieswithout readily determinablefair values
areimpaired. Inthe event an equity security isdeemed impaired, the security iswritten down to fair value with impairment recorded
in earnings. At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, none of our equity securities without readily determinable fair values
were determined to be impaired.

Also included in other assets were investmentsin Federal Home Loan Bank ("FHLB") stock and Federal Reserve Bank stock of
$151 million and $631 million, respectively, at March 31, 2019 and $156 million and $631 million, respectively, at December 31,
2018.
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4, Loans

L oans consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, inCluding CONSITUCTION. ........oouoiiiriii ettt s sbe e e $ 11290 $ 11,344
Business and Corporate DanKiNg ...........oevirreeenreeere s 13,650 13,066
GIODE DANKING™ ...ttt ettt s et es e ee e eeeee s seaeeseeees 21,417 20,167
Oher COMMECIAI ...ttt e e ee e eeene e s e s es e enese e ena 5,050 4,765
Total COMMENCIAL........cuiiii b 51,407 49,342
Consumer loans:
RESIAENtial MOMGAGES ... ceeveeerireeieriei sttt 17,368 17,383
HOME EUILY MOIMQBOES .. veveveiereereeieeeseeeeesessesee e see e s e seesee e sseseeeesaeseeseesessessessessessnssnssessesenns 941 982
(1= o [ 0= o =TSRSS TSRO 1,040 1,019
ONEE CONSUMES ...ttt ettt ettt st s et e s be et e eaeesbeeaeesbeeasesbeensesaeensesaeesbesaeesbesseesbesseetenes 278 252
1= IS0 010 =: R 19,627 19,636
Qo= I [0= TR $ 71034 $ 68,978

@ Representslarge multinational firmsincluding globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions, U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking clients
managed by HSBC on aglobal basis and complex large business clients supported by Global Banking and Markets relationship managers.

@ Includes loans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $2,688 million and $2,274 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. See Note 14,
"Related Party Transactions," for additional information regarding loansto HSBC affiliates.

Net deferred origination costs totaled $76 million and $77 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. At
March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we had anet unamorti zed premium on our loansof $2 millionand $11 million, respectively.
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Aging Analysis of Past Due Loans Thefollowing table summarizesthe past due status of our loans, excluding loans held for sale,
at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. The aging of past due amounts is determined based on the contractual delinquency
status of payments under theloan. An account is generally considered to be contractually delinquent when payments have not been
made in accordance with the loan terms. Delinquency status is affected by customer account management policies and practices
such as re-age, which results in the re-setting of the contractual delinquency status to current.

Past Due
Total Past Due
At March 31, 2019 30-89 Days 90+ Days 30 Days or More Current®  Total Loans

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, including construction............cccceeeeeevivevenene. $ 3 3 2 $ 5 $ 11,285 $ 11,290
Business and corporate banking ..........ccccceeeeeerienenienenennn 17 34 51 13,599 13,650
Global banKing.........ccoevievierieiercereeee e — — — 21,417 21,417
Other COMMEICIAl ....ccveevivieieeeeecee et — — — 5,050 5,050
Total COMMENCIAl ......ceevviiieieceectececeee e 20 36 56 51,351 51,407
Consumer loans:
Residential MOrtgagesS......covvverevererereereeesesreseseseeseenees 391 259 650 16,718 17,368
Home equity MOrgages........cccuvereereeriereeieeerere s 15 25 40 901 941
(1= o ] A7z (0 = 16 15 31 1,009 1,040
Other CONSUMES ........cueciiieiieieceece e sreens 5 5 10 268 278
TOtAl CONSUMEY .....ccveiteecieiteeiteeteete et et resreesne s sre e 427 304 731 18,896 19,627
TOtAl [0BNS ...ttt $ 447 $ 340 $ 787 $ 70,247 $ 71,034
Past Due

Total Past Due
At December 31, 2018 30-89 Days 90+ Days 30 Days or More Current?  Total Loans

(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, including construction...........cccceeeeveeevevenene. $ 7% 3 3 % 79 $ 11265 $ 11,344
Business and corporate banking .........cccccoeeeeeeeeeenierenenen. 79 38 117 12,949 13,066
Global banking..........cccceveviiieveseeseeee e — — — 20,167 20,167
Other COMMEICIAl ....cveeeveiereeeee e 15 — 15 4,750 4,765
Total COMMENCIAl ......ceevveirieireciecteeeere et 170 41 211 49,131 49,342
Consumer loans:
Residential MOrtgages......ccovveeveveereriereeieeesee e se e 469 254 723 16,660 17,383
Home equity MOIgages..........ccoveeerriceenenncee s 14 27 41 941 982
Credit CardS......oovvevecriciecteece ettt 13 14 27 992 1,019
Other CONSUMES .......ccueciiieeieceeee e erens 5 5 10 242 252
TOtal CONSUMIET .......ceviivie ittt ettt 501 300 801 18,835 19,636
QLo I [0= O $ 671 $ 341 $ 1,012 $ 67,966 $ 68,978

@ Loanslessthan 30 days past due are presented as current.
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Nonaccrual Loans Nonaccrual loans, including nonaccrual loans held for sale, and accruing loans 90 days or more delinquent
consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Real estate, iNCluding CONSIIUCTION..........ccciuiiiiiieiiec e e $ 5 % 7
Business and COrporate DaNKING ..........coeoeereriererere sttt sre b sae e sbe e seens 78 70
GlODA BANKING ...t bbb 48 65
OtNEr COMIMEICIAL ..ottt ettt b et bttt sttt es — 1
Total commercial 131 143
Consumer:
Residential MOrGagEST @) .. ...t ee e ee e 344 341
Home equity MOMGAgESP@ ...t sn e en s 50 55
Consumer nonaccrual [0anNS held fOr Sale..........oviiiiiiiie s 1 1
TOBl CONSUMIET ...ttt ettt st ettt b e e s et b etk e e b et b e se e ke se et e seebeneebeneenens 395 397
Total NONACCIUING J0BNS........ccuiieicicceeeeee et st e e e e e eseese e e ebeetesbesaesbesbeseeseenean 526 540
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and corporate Danking ..........cceceeeeeieeeeiesiese s e sieseese e see e e e e e s e s sresresaesresteseesnens 1 1
TOtAl COMIMENCIE.......ei et s st st e e s be et e s reeteereesseeaeesreeneesreeneesaens 1 1
Consumer:
(@< o [ =0 OSSO 15 14
(@197 o 1S 1 1= PSSR 5 6
TOLAl CONSUMIET ......eeeteetee ettt ettt e bt et e e teesteeae e s beeaeesbesaaesbeeatesbeesbesbeenbesbeenseeaeesesaeesbeeneesaeensesanan 20 20
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days OF MOFe.........cccceveeeeieriesesese e 21 21

Total nonperforming loans 547 $ 561

@ At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include $262 million and $289 million, respectively,
of loansthat are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include all loans which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged
under Chapter 7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually
delinquent.

®  Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association.
Repayment of these loans is predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk characteristics from
the rest of our consumer loan portfolio.

The following table provides additional information on our nonaccrual loans:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)

Interest income that would have been recorded if the nonaccrual loans had been current in

accordance with contractual terms during the Period...........cooerriinn e $ 9 % 14
Interest income that was recorded on nonaccrual loans and included in interest income during the
8= oo [T PO P TSP POP PPN 3 9
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Impaired Loans A loan is considered to be impaired when it is deemed probable that not all principal and interest amounts due
according to the contractual terms of the loan agreement will be collected. Probable losses from impaired loans are quantified and
recorded as a component of the overall allowance for credit losses. Commercial and consumer loans for which we have modified
the loan terms as part of a troubled debt restructuring are considered to be impaired loans. Additionally, commercial loans in
nonaccrual status, or that have been partially charged-off or assigned a specific allowance for credit losses are also considered
impaired loans.

Troubled debt restructurings TDR Loans represent loans for which the original contractual terms have been modified to provide
for termsthat are less than what we would be willing to accept for new loans with comparable risk because of deterioration in the
borrower's financial condition.

Modifications for consumer or commercial |oans may include changes to one or more terms of the loan, including, but not limited
to, achangeininterest rate, extension of the amortization period, reduction in payment amount and partial forgiveness or deferment
of principal, accrued interest or other loan covenants. A substantial amount of our modifications involve interest rate reductions
on consumer loans, which lower the amount of interest income we are contractually entitled to receivein future periods. Through
lowering theinterest rateand other |oan term changes, we believewe are abletoincrease theamount of cash flow that will ultimately
be collected from the loan, given the borrower's financial condition. TDR Loans are reserved for primarily based on the present
value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan's original effective interest rate, which generally results in a higher
reserve requirement for these loans, or as a practical expedient, the fair value of the collatera if the loan is collateral dependent
or, for commercial loans, the observable market price if the loan is traded in the market. Once a consumer loan is classified as a
TDR Loan, it continues to be reported as such until it is paid off or charged-off. For commercia loans, if subsequent performance
isin accordance with the new terms and such terms reflect current market rates at the time of restructure, they will no longer be
reported as a TDR Loan beginning in the year after restructuring. During the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 there
were no commercial loans that met this criteria and were removed from TDR Loan classification.

The following table presents information about |oans which were modified during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and
2018 and as aresult of this action became classified as TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018

(in millions)

Consumer loans;

RESIAENLI Al MOTTGAGES ..o ettt sttt sttt ettt a s bbb e s besbesb e be e e se e e e e e e e e enenaas 1 5
HOME EQUILY MOMJBOES ...ttt sttt sttt sttt st b e s b e s b e sa e st bbb — 2
CrEAIT CAMTS ...ttt b bt e b bt e b bt e bbbt ne e n s 1 1
TOLBI CONSUMEY ...ttt ettt sttt et e b e e e et e st e ae e b e e aeeaeebesbesaesb e beseeseebenbe e e e eneeneenearens 2 8

During the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no commercial TDR Loans which were modified and as a
result of this action became classified as TDR Loans.

The weighted-average contractual rate reduction for consumer loans which became classified as TDR Loans during the three
months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 was 1.24 percent and 3.86 percent, respectively.
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The following table presents information about our TDR Loans and the related allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans:

March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Unpaid Unpaid
Carrying  Principal Carrying  Principal
Value Balance Value Balance

(in millions)
TDR Loans: Y@
Commercia loans:

Business and corporate banking ..........ccccceeeeeeeeenenesesie e $ 71 % 89 $ 68 $ 86
Global DANKING......cveviieiireicee et 80 87 113 119
Total COMMENCIAD ...t 151 176 181 205
Consumer loans:
Residential MOrtgages™.........ooouevvecveerveeeeeeseeeeseee e 622 709 640 730
HOME €qUItY MOMGAES™ ..........oveeeeieeeeeeeeseeeeeeeesess e sess s 34 65 35 65
Credit CardS.... .ottt ettt et et ere e ae e e sreeneas 4 4 3 4
TOLEl CONSUIMES......c.eeieieieiieeie sttt et e e re e e re s e et e s saesbeeaeanteeneenreenes 660 778 678 799
TOtal TDR LOBNS®........ovoeeeveeceie e sssess s $ 811 $ 954 $ 859 $ 1,004

Allowance for credit losses for TDR Loans;®
Commercial loans:

Business and corporate Danking ............ccceeeererenenenene e $ 13 $ 12
Global DANKING. .....ceeieeiie e — —
TOtal COMMENCIE ......ceeeieeeee et re s 13 T 12
Consumer loans: - -
Residential MOMQaQES.......coovieeierieseees et se e te e e neesnaens 2 3
HOME EQUILY MOMQBOES. .. .. eeveertereeie sttt sttt ettt st — 1
L= [ o= o S 1 1
Tota consumer 3 5

Tota alowance for credit losses for TDR Loans

@ TDR Loans are considered to be impaired loans. For commercial loans, impaired loans include other loans in addition to TDR Loans which totaled $59
million and $54 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

@ The carrying value of TDR Loans includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as partial charge-offs.

@ Additional commitmentsto lend to commercial borrowerswhoseloans have been modified in TDR Loanstotaled $149 million and $151 million at March 31,
2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

@ At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the carrying value of consumer mortgage TDR Loans held for investment includes $602 million and $615
million, respectively, of loans that are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

® At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, the carrying value of TDR Loans includes $256 million and $286 million, respectively, of loans which are
classified as nonaccrual.

®  Included in the allowance for credit losses.
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The following table presents information about average TDR Loans and interest income recognized on TDR Loans:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)

Average balance of TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:

Business and COrporate DaNKING ...........cererererurriererrnieieieeeesesieee s ssessesessssesssesssesesesesssnees $ 70 3% 175
(€10l o7= I o= 21 T [ SRR 96 136
TOtAl COMIMENCIE ......coieieeeiece et e e st e e at e st e et e sre et e eaeessesanesresnneseennnens 166 311
Consumer loans:
ST L= - I 0 0T o == 628 676
HOME EQUILY MOMTJBOES. ... veueeeuerteeeteeetere et st se ettt et r e b b e bt s bt se bt ss st st se e b e s e nnenes 34 34
L@ ] oo TSP 4 4
TOLBI CONSUIMIES ...ttt ettt e st e st e st e s te s e e s reeaaesteeatesteentesbeensenseenseeneessesnnesreeneesnennsnns 666 714
Total average balance 0f TDR LOGNS.........cccoiiiveieiiiiieteee ettt sae bbb st sens s senas $ 832 $ 1,025

Interest income recognized on TDR Loans:
Commercial loans:

Business and COrporate DaNKING ...........cccueererururiruriririeieeeieieeeie et eeeseses et teeesesesesseeeees $ 1 % 4

L€ o]0z I o= 21 o [P 1 1

TOtA COMIMENTIAL ...ttt a et s b e b bbb b e b et e e e et et eae s enas 2 5
Consumer loans:

e L= 10 0= o == 7 7

TOLBI CONSUMEY ...ttt ettt sttt ettt sttt h e a e bt bt e bt bt sh e et e s b se e s et e ne e e e e e ne e e eneeneenis 7 7

Total interest income recognized 0N TDR LOANS........ccoieirieirienineesesesie st $ 9 $ 12

The following table presents consumer loans which were classified as TDR Loans during the previous 12 months which
subsequently became 60 days or greater contractually delinquent during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018

(in millions)

Consumer loans;

RESIENtI Al MOMGAGES .......vevcveeeeeeieteteee ettt ettt ettt sttt ese et teseasesssetese s seetesennanane $ 2 $ 2
HOME EQUITY MOMGBOES ... e veueetereeteseete sttt sttt sttt sttt b et b e st b e e b e e bbbt et s b et bbb — 1
TOEAl CONSUIMIET ...ttt sttt st se e s e e se e e aesesese st tesesesentesanesesaeseseseneesesesesensenanenensnsas $ 2 $ 3

During the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, there were no commercial TDR Loans which were classified as TDR
L oans during the previous 12 months which subsequently became 90 days or greater contractually delinquent.
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Impaired commercial loans Thefollowing table presentsinformation about impaired commercial loansand therelated impairment
reserve:

Amount Amount
with without Total Impaired Unpaid
Impairment  Impairment Commercial Impairment Principal
Reserves® Reserves® Loans®® Reserve Balance
(in millions)
At March 31, 2019
Real estate, including construction..........c.cceevevveeennne $ 2 $ 2 $ 4 $ 1 $ 4
Business and corporate banking ...........c.ccoeeeererenennene 66 42 108 19 122
Global banking ........ccceveieierererece s — 98 98 — 106
Other COMMEXCial ........ccoeveeveiieeie e — — — — —
Total COMMENCIAl ......ocevevereee e $ 68 $ 142 $ 210 $ 20 $ 232
At December 31, 2018 -
Real estate, including construction..........c.ccocvevvereeene $ 3 % 3 % 6 $ 1 % 6
Business and corporate banking .........ccccecveveveeceennenne. 58 37 95 18 109
Globa banking ........ccccevereieeeereee e — 133 133 — 140
Other commErCial .........covvveceeveeie e — 1 1 — 1
Total COMMENCIA .......oooeeeeeece e $ 61 $ 174 $ 235 $ 19 $ 256

@ Reflectsthe carrying value of impaired commercial loans and includes basis adjustments on the loans, such as partial charge-offs.
@ Includesimpaired commercial loans that are also considered TDR Loanswhich totaled $151 million and $181 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018, respectively.
The following table presents information about average impaired commercia loans and interest income recognized on impaired
commercia loans:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)

Average balance of impaired commercial loans:

Real estate, inCluding CONSITUCLION.........ccoiiiiiiiise ettt s eneenas $ 5 % 12
Business and Corporate DankiNg ...........ceveeerierrreriesesiseseseeseeseeseeeesese e sreseesee e saeseeneeneeneeseesenses 102 268
(€1 T0] 7= =0 (T o 116 380
OthEr COMIMEITIAL ... .ottt sttt b e b b s besb e se et et st et et e e e e eneenenneens 1 —
Total average balance of impaired commercial [0anS..........cccvieieeeeeiieeeiee s $ 224 $ 660
Interest income recognized on impaired commercial loans: -
Business and Corporate DaNKIiNgG ..........ccoeereirene e e 1 5
(€10l o 7= I o= 2C 1 o 1 1
Total interest income recognized on impaired commercial 10anS.........ccocevevirerenenesereeeeeeeeeine $ 2 $ 6
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Commercial Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are monitored for our commercial loan
portfolio:

Criticized loans Ciriticized loan classifications presented in the table bel ow are determined by the assignment of various criticized
facility grades based on the risk rating standards of our regulator. The following table summarizes criticized commercial loans:

Special Mention  Substandard Doubtful Total
(in millions)

At March 31, 2019

Real estate, including CONSLIUCION .........coevveiiereeiecieieceereeeeine $ 576 $ 88 $ 3 % 667
Business and corporate banking..........cccoeverererereereneesesenieniennens 335 340 19 694
Global BaNKING ..o 240 270 — 510
Total COMMEICIAL.........ceeieeeeeeeeceeeteeee e $ 1,151 $ 698 $ 22 $ 1,871
At December 31, 2018 -
Real estate, including CONSLrUCION ........coveererereeereeeeeeeeeeens $ 452 % 93 $ 4 $ 549
Business and corporate banking............cooeeeereineineineneenens 193 314 15 522
Global DaNKING.......ccorrereicer e 262 277 — 539
Other COMMEICIAL.......cooiiiiirere s — 1 — 1
Total COMMENCIA.......ccueiireececee e $ 907 $ 685 $ 19 $ 1,611

Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our commercial loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans
Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total

(in millions)

At March 31, 2019

Real estate, including construction..........ccccceeeeeeeevcercneene. $ 11,285 $ 5 $ — $ 11,290
Business and corporate banking ..........cccceeveeieeieeenienenenn, 13,571 78 1 13,650
Global banKing..........ccoovierenieieeeeee e 21,369 48 — 21,417
Other COMMEICIA .....c.eeeiviiiiiecee e 5,050 — — 5,050
Total COMMENCIal ........ccoveiieeiicieceeeceeeee e $ 51,275 $ 131 % 1 % 51,407
At December 31, 2018
Real estate, including construction...........ccccecveeeeevereniene. $ 11,337 $ 7 % — $ 11,344
Business and corporate banking ..........cccceeeeeererieeiereresenens 12,995 70 1 13,066
Global BanKing........cccveeiviniiinnieee e 20,102 65 — 20,167
Other COMMEICIA .....cveeeviiiteeeee e e 4,764 1 — 4,765
Total COMMETCIAl .....cooieeeeeie e $ 49198 $ 143 $ 1 % 49,342
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Credit risk profile The following table shows the credit risk profile of our commercia loan portfolio:

Non-
|nvestm%nt Investment
Grade( ) Grade Total

(in millions)

At March 31, 2019

Real estate, including CONSITUCION......ccvciveieieeceeeee e enens $ 6,742 $ 4548 $ 11,290
Business and corporate Danking ..........c.ccoeoeeeeeeeeeererere e enens 5,642 8,008 13,650
Global BANKING........eiiieiicic e 15,929 5,488 21,417
Other COMMENCIAL .......cviivieie et b e s e s re e sreeaesreenne s 4,323 727 5,050
TOtal COMIMEICIAL ....evcreeee e $ 32636 $ 18,771 $ 51,407
At December 31, 2018 -
Real estate, including CONSITUCION.........oiveieieeeeeeeee e $ 6769 $ 4575 $ 11,344
Business and corporate Danking .........cocoeoeeeereeiereneresese s e 5,674 7,392 13,066
(€10l o= I o= 2q 1 o O 14,764 5,403 20,167
(@]101S w0001 001S (o= R 3,990 775 4,765
TOtal COMMENTIE .......eeeeeiee e $ 31,197 $ 18145 $ 49,342

@ Investment grade includes commercial loans with credit ratings of at least BBB- or above or the equivalent based on our internal credit rating system.

Consumer Loan Credit Quality Indicators The following credit quality indicators are utilized for our consumer loan portfolio:

Delinquency The following table summarizes dollars of two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and as a percent of total
loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio") for our consumer loan portfolio:

March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Delinquent  Delinquency  Delinquent  Delinquency
Loans Ratio Loans Ratio
(dollars are in millions)

Residential Mortgages™®@ ... $ 356 2.05% $ 347 1.99%
Home equity Mortgages™@ ..., 29 3.08 30 3.05
Credit CArUS.....c.eerereier e 22 2.12 20 1.96
OLNEr CONSUMEN ...ttt sttt en e e b e ene e 7 2.52 8 2.62
TOtAl CONSUMEN ...ttt sttt se s se e ne s e e senes $ 414 211% $ 405 2.05%
@ At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, consumer mortgage loan delinquency includes $223 million and $254 million, respectively, of loans that are

carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell, including $1 million and $1 million, respectively, relating to loans held
o for sale.

At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, consumer mortgage loans and loans held for saleinclude $135 million and $125 million, respectively, of loans
that were in the process of foreclosure.
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Nonperforming The following table summarizes the status of our consumer loan portfolio, excluding loans held for sale:

Accruing Loans

Performing Nonaccrual Contractually Past
Loans Loans Due 90 days or More Total
(in millions)
At March 31, 2019
Residential MOrtgages ......covveeerereeeereneseeesesesesessssseseseseens $ 17,024 $ 344 % — $ 17,368
Home equity MOMgages........ccoeeereerererereeesiese e 891 50 — 941
(1= o [ A 0r= (0 =T 1,025 — 15 1,040
Other CONSUMES .......cccviiiieiiceere et s ere s 273 — 5 278
TOtal CONSUMES ...ttt $ 19,213 $ 394 $ 20 $ 19,627
At December 31, 2018 -
Residential MOrtgagesS .....coocevvereerereeeeeeeee e $ 17042 $ 41 $ — $ 17,383
Home equity MOIMgages..........coueeereeererereeeeese e 927 55 — 982
(1= o [ A7z (0 T 1,005 — 14 1,019
Other CONSUMES ........ccveieieiicieerie e 246 — 6 252
TOtal CONSUMIEY ...ttt et reeeneeeaee s $ 19220 $ 396 $ 20 $ 19,636

Troubled debt restructurings See discussion of impaired loans above for further details on this credit quality indicator.

Concentration of Credit Risk At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, our loan portfolios included interest-only residential
mortgage and home equity mortgage loans totaling $3,290 million and $3,208 million, respectively. An interest-only residentia
mortgage loan allows a customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period of time which resultsin
lower payments during the initial loan period. However, subsegquent events affecting a customer's financial position could affect
the ability of customersto repay the loan in the future when the principal payments are required which increases the credit risk of

thisloan type.

5. Allowance for Credit Losses

The following table summarizes the changesin the allowance for credit losses by product and the related |oan balance by product

during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018:

Commercial Consumer
Business
Real Estate, and Home
including Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Construction Banking Banking Comm’l Mortgages  Mortgages Cards Consumer Total
(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Allowance for credit losses — beginning

Of PENTO. ..., $ 16 $ 219 $ 108 $ 15 $ 13 $ 7 $ 58 $ 5 $ 541
Provision charged (credited) to income..... 3 22 14 — 1) 1 16 3 58

Charge-offS.....ccoeeenrneiireeesees — ) — — 4) 1) (13) 1) (21)

RECOVENES ...t — — — — 2 1 2 — 5
Net (charge-offs) recoveries.........c.oouuu.n.. — ) — — ¥3) — (11) 1) (16)
Allowance for credit losses—end of

PEITOO .o, $ 119 $ 239 $ 122 $ 15 $ 10 $ 8 $ 63 $ 7 $ 583
Ending balance: collectively evaluated

for impairment ... $ 18 $ 220 $ 122 $ 15 $ 8 3 8 $ 62 $ 7 $ 560
Ending balance: individually evaluated

forimpairment ..........ccoceveeeeieeeeerenenn, 1 19 — — 2 — 1 — 23
Total allowance for credit losses............... $ 119 $ 239 % 122 $ 15 $ 10 $ 8 $ 63 $ 7 $ 583
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Commercial Consumer
Business
Real Estate, and Home
including Corporate Global Other Residential Equity Credit Other
Construction Banking Banking Comm’l Mortgages  Mortgages  Cards Consumer Total
(in millions)
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment®... $ 11,286 $ 13,542 $ 21319 $ 5050 $ 16495 $ 882 $1036 $ 278 $69,888
Individually evaluated for impairment® ... 4 108 98 — 50 4 4 — 268
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost
or fair value less cost to sell — — — — 823 55 — — 878
Total 10aNS ... $ 11290 $ 13650 $ 21,417 $ 5050 $ 17,368 $ 941 $1,040 $ 278 $71,034
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018
Allowance for credit losses — beginning
Of PENTO ..., $ 82 $ 244 $ 264 $ 18 $ 25 3 1 $ 32 $ 5 $ 681
Provision charged (credited) to income..... 10 (34) (49) 1 (20) 1) 12 — (71)
Charge-offs.......ccccovvvicnnniciic, — (25) (5) — — 2 (8) 1) (41)
Recoveries — 22 1 — 3 2 2 — 30
Net (charge-offs) recoveries..........ccccuene.. — ?3) 4) — 3 — (6) 1) (11)
Allowance for credit losses—end of
PEITOO oo, $ 2 $ 207 $ 211 $ 19 $ 18 $ 0 $ 38 $ 4 $ 599
Ending balance: collectively evaluated
fOr impairment .........cocvvevnevennesennenens $ 91 $ 168 $ 149 % 19 $ 13 $ 9 $ 37 3% 4 $ 490
Ending balance: individually evaluated
for impairment ...........cccoeevvenirnennnns 1 39 62 — 5 1 1 — 109
Total allowance for credit losses............... $ RN % 207 % 211 % 19 $ 18 $ 10 $ 38 % 4 $ 599
Loans:
Collectively evaluated for impairment®... $ 11,042 $ 12532 $ 18967 $ 4578 $ 16375 $ 1071 $ 766 $ 365 $65696
Individually evaluated for impairment® ... 12 286 322 — 55 3 4 — 682
Loans carried at lower of amortized cost
or fair valuelesscostto sdl................... — — — — 895 65 — — 960
Total 108NS .....cveeeieee e $ 4578 $ 17325 $ 1139 $ 770 $ 365 $67,338

3105

$ 12,818

$ 19,289

@ Other commercial includes|oansto HSBC affiliates totaling $2,688 million and $1,920 million at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively, for which we do
not carry an associated allowance for credit losses.

@ For consumer loans and certain small business loans, these amounts represent TDR Loans for which we evaluate reserves using a discounted cash flow
methodology. Eachloanisindividually identified asaTDR L oan and then grouped together with other TDR L oanswith similar characteristics. Thediscounted
cash flow analysisis then applied to these groups of TDR Loans. Loans individually evaluated for impairment exclude TDR Loans that are carried at the

lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell which totaled $602 million and $644 million at March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively.
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6. Loans Held for Sale

Loans held for sale consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,

2019 2018
(in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, inCluding CONSITUCTION. ..ottt s sb e s seen $ 33 % 27

(€10l o= I o= 21 T S 383 367

I = o a0 0 0= oS 416 394
Consumer loans:

RESIAENLI Al MOTTGAGES ... ettt ettt e e e et eae b e st ebeebesaesaesbesbeseens 32 65

(@107 0TS g S — 53

TOLAl CONSUMIET ...ttt ettt et e e e e s ae e e e sreeseesteeatesbeestesteestesseenseeaeeaseennesreeneesaeeneesanns 32 118
o)t I T0T= 0o 15 [ 0 G $ 448 $ 512

Commercial Loans Included in commercial loans held for sale are certain loans that we no longer intend to hold for investment
andtransferredto held for salewhich totaled $318 million and $285 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
During the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, we reversed nil and $3 million, respectively, of the lower of amortized
cost or fair value adjustment previously recorded on commercial loans held for sale as a component of other income (loss) in the
consolidated statement of income (loss) as aresult of an increase in fair value due to improved pricing.

Commercial loans held for sale also includes certain loans that we have elected to designate under the fair value option which
consists of loans that we originate in connection with our participation in a number of syndicated credit facilities with the intent
of selling them to unaffiliated third parties aswell asloansthat we purchase from the secondary market and hold as hedges against
our exposure to certain total return swaps. The fair value of these loans totaled $98 million and $109 million at March 31, 2019
and December 31, 2018, respectively. See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information.

Consumer Loans Included in residential mortgage loans held for sale are agency-eligible residential mortgage loans which are
originated and held for saleto third parties, currently on aservicing retained basis. Gainsand | ossesfrom the sal e of theseresidential
mortgage |oans are reflected as a component of other income (10ss) in the accompanying consolidated statement of income (10ss).

During the first quarter of 2019, we transferred $53 million of student loans that were previously classified as other consumer
loans held for sale back to held for investment as we now intend to hold these loans for the foreseeable future.

Loans held for sale are subject to market risk, liquidity risk and interest rate risk, in that their value will fluctuate as a result of
changes in market conditions, as well as the credit environment. Interest rate risk for agency-€ligible residential mortgage loans
held for sale is partially mitigated through an economic hedging program to offset changes in the fair value of these mortgage
loans held for sale, from the time of commitment to sale, attributable to changesin market interest rates. Revenue associated with
this economic hedging program, which is reflected as a component of other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of income
(loss), was less than $1 million during both the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.

Valuation Allowances Excluding the commercial |oans designated under the fair value option discussed above, loansheld for sale
are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance
through other revenues. The valuation allowance on consumer |loans held for sale was $2 million and $4 million at March 31, 2019
and December 31, 2018, respectively. The valuation allowance on commercial loans held for sale was nil and $3 million at March
31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

7. Goodwill

Goodwill was $1,607 million at both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. Goodwill for these periods reflects accumul ated
impairment losses of $670 million, which were recognized in prior periods. During thefirst quarter of 2019, there were no events
or changes in circumstances to indicate that it is more likely than not the fair values of any of our reporting units have reduced
below their respective carrying amounts.
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8. Leases

We have entered into operating leases for premises and equipment. As discussed more fully in Note 21, "New Accounting
Pronouncements,” beginning January 1, 2019, lease right-of-use ("ROU") assets and lease liabilities for operating leases are
recognized at commencement date based on the present value of lease payments over the lease term, discounted using our
incremental borrowing rate. Operating lease ROU assets are recorded in other assets while operating lease liabilities are recorded
in interest, taxes and other liabilities. We have not entered into any finance |eases.

Certain leases contain options to renew or terminate the lease which are recognized as part of our ROU assets and liabilities when
it isreasonably certain the options will be exercised. Certain leases al so contain escal ation clauses. We have |ease agreements that
contain both |ease and non-lease components, such as maintenance costs, which are accounted for separately. We do not recognize
ROU assets or lease liabilities for short-term leases with aterm of 12 months or less. In addition, variable |ease payments for real
estate taxes, insurance, maintenance and utilities, which are generally based on our pro rata share of the total property, are not
included in the measurement of the ROU assets or lease liabilities and are expensed as incurred.

We have entered into agreementsto sublease certain office space, including agreementsto receive rental incomefrom our affiliates
for rent. As owner or lessee of the properties, we have entered into agreements with affiliates to charge them rent based on the
office space utilized by their employees during the period. See Note 14, "Related Party Transactions," for further disclosure.

Thefollowing table summarizesthe components of total operating lease costs, net and providessupplemental cash flow information
related to leases:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019

(in millions)
OPEIALTING |EASE COSL. ...tttk h bbb bbb bt £ bt b e st b et b e e b et b et e bt e e bt b ae bbb $ 32
SNOME-EITN IEBSE COSL...... vttt e e b bRt e R bt e R bt st e b bt e bt nnnn s 4
VATADIE IEASE COSL....... ettt ettt et e b e te et s eesteseese e e e ee e eneeneeaeeseeaeeeesaeseeebeseeseensanseneenseneeneeneaneas 14
SUBIEBSE INCOME ...ttt bbb bbb bbb bbb (14)
Total OPErating [E8SE COSES, NMEL.......ciuiiitireeiereete ettt b ettt b e s b e s e bbbt s b st b et et e e e b e seebeseebeseebeneebenea $—36
Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:
Cash paid for amounts included in the measurement of operating lease liabilities............coco i $ 31
ROU assets recognized for new operating 1ease lHabilities.........ooeiveiiiiii s 10

The following table presents information about our operating lease ROU assets and liabilities:

March 31, 2019
(dollars are in millions)

Operating lease ROU assets®”

....................................................................................................................... $ 767
Operating 1€aSe [HADINTITIES .......c.oiiieieeeee bbb b e st b e e b e ene e 817
Weighted-average remaiNing |€8SE tEIMN.........ccuv it 7.5 years
Weighted-average diSCOUNE FaE............cooiiiiiiiiiiii s 3.2%

@ Reported net of level lease adjustments and exit cost obligations.
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The following table presents a maturity analysis of our operating lease liabilities at March 31, 2019:

Year Ending December 31,

(in millions)

220 L OSSOSO $ 87
220 722 0 OSSPSR 135
0 2 OSSR 136
L0 7SSOSR 133
L0 722 TSRS 131
B S 1= = USRS 316
Total OpPErating €3S PAYIMENES........cviiiirisererte e reese et et ettt e s ee st e et e e eseese e e eseesessesaestesteseensenteneeeenseneeneens 938
ST o 10 0= 0 g1 = TSRS (121)
Total operating 1€aSe [HADIITIES .......c.coie bbbttt eb $ 817

At March 31, 2019, we had $4 million of additional operating leases for premises that have not yet commenced.

For comparative periods prior to the adoption of the new accounting guidance on January 1, 2019, we have retained the following
disclosures as previously reported. Net rental expense under operating leases, which did not include certain variable |ease costs,
was $23 million during the three months ended March 31, 2018.

Future net minimum lease commitments under noncancellable operating lease arrangements at December 31, 2018, which did not
include renewals, were as follows:

Minimum Minimum
Lease Sublease
Year Ending December 31, Payments Income Net
(in millions)
71 £ OO $ 136 $ (58) $ 78
7207 SOOI 125 ) 123
202 .ottt e ettt e e e s s e e eer e en e 115 (1) 114
2022 ...ttt bt e b et e b e e be b e e bt eae e bt et e eReeeesheetesaeenesaeen 103 — 103
2023 .. E R R R R R R R e e e b e e et en e Rt Rt R e re R nre 91 — 91
TREIEAFLEN .o eeeee s s ee s ee s s eeseees s se e eeseees e seseeeseeeseees e seseseseseees 182 (1) 181
Net minimum 1€aS8 COMMITMENES.......cciiireeeeere ettt $ 752 % (62) $ 690

9. Derivative Financial Instruments

In the normal course of business, the derivative instruments we enter into are for trading, market making and risk management
purposes. For financial reporting purposes, derivative instruments are designated in one of the following categories: (a) hedging
instruments designated as qualifying hedges under derivative and hedge accounting principles, (b) financial instruments held for
trading or (c) non-qualifying economic hedges. The derivative instruments held are predominantly swaps, futures, options and
forward contracts. All derivatives are stated at fair value. Where we enter into enforceable master netting agreements with
counterparties, the master netting agreements permit us to net those derivative asset and liability positions and to offset cash
collateral held and posted with the same counterparty.

Thefollowing table presentsthefair value of derivative contracts by major product type on agrossbasis. Grossfair values exclude
the effects of both counterparty netting aswell as collateral, and therefore are not representative of our exposure. The table below
also presents the amounts of counterparty netting and cash collateral that have been offset in the consolidated balance sheet, as
well as cash and securities collateral posted and received under enforceable master netting agreementsthat do not meet the criteria
for netting. Derivative assets and liabilities which are not subject to an enforceable master netting agreement, or are subject to a
netting agreement where an appropriate legal opinion to determine such agreements are enforceabl e has not been either sought or
obtained, have not been netted in the table below. Where we have received or posted collateral under netting agreements where
an appropriate legal opinion to determine such agreements are enforceable has not been either sought or obtained, the related
collateral also has not been netted in the table below.
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March 31, 2019

December 31, 2018

Derivative Derivative Derivative Derivative
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
(in millions)
Derivatives accounted for as fair value hedges®
OTC-CIEAEID ... — — 6 $ —
BIAIEA OTCP ...ooovoereeeeeimeseesee e ssssssss s s — 133 — 117
INTErEST Fate CONTIACES .......cucvieieieecieicietet ettt — 133 6 117
Derivatives accounted for as cash flow hedges®
Foreign exchange contracts - bilateral OTC® ...........o.ooivoeeeeceeeeeeseeeceseeeeeseeeesseseesseseeseees 28 1 11 32
Interest rate contracts - bilateral OTC® — 20 — 13
Total derivatives accounted fOr as NeAGES ..........ccoveveueuieieeeeeee et 28 154 17 162
Trading derivatives not accounted for as hedges®
EXCRANGE-IAOEID .........ooovvvvvveeesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnnes 6 17 2 45
OTC-CEAEAD ... 71 16 50 14
Bilateral OTCP ...........ovovvvvveeesssssseesee e sssss s sssss s 10,006 10,920 9,866 10,780
INEErESt FAte CONTIACTS .......ccecueciiieeiceete et st eaesneaere e 10,083 10,953 9,918 10,839
Exchange-traded® ... 3 17 — 15
OTC-CEAEA P ... s — 5 — —
BIIGLEral OTCP .....oooooooevvesssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssssnsssssssssssnsssssnnes 13,563 13,105 15,897 15,684
Foreign eXChange CONTIACTS ...........ccceuiiuiuiuiceceeecee ettt ae e aebenes 13,566 13,127 15,897 15,699
Equity contracts - Dilateral OTC® ...........oooovoveeeeeeeeeeeseeeeseseeessseseeseesssseesseeeseeseessesesnees 2,603 2,590 2,034 2,061
EXChBNGELIA0EUP ..ot ses s se s s st ees e see s sees et eeseesresee s 271 99 16 274
Bilateral OTCP ..........covovvveveeeeeeseseeeee e ssssessssssssses s sssss s 472 607 829 626
Precious Metals CONEIACES...........ccvueurerereereerie sttt enes 743 706 845 900
OTC-cleared® ................ 226 193 125 107
Bilateral OTC®? 944 933 825 831
CrEAIt CONTIACTS ...ttt bbbttt bbbttt 1,170 1,126 950 938
Other non-qualifying derivatives not accounted for as hedges®
Interest rate contracts - bilateral OTC® ............cooooovoooeeeceseeeeeceeeeeeeeeeeeeeesseeese e 159 134 133 216
Foreign exchange contracts - Dilateral OTC® ... eeees e seeeeenees 15 1 13 2
Equity contracts - bilateral OTCP ..........cccoooiiirrrevessveeessssssseesessssssssssssss s sessssssssnnns 877 279 512 805
Credit contracts - bilateral OTC®... 1 11 6 9
Other contracts - bilateral OTC®® 5 42 5 40
TOLAl AEFIVALIVES. ...ttt bbb 29,250 29,123 30,330 31,671
Less: Gross amounts of receivable / payable subject to enforceable master netting
AGTEEMENTS) e 23,267 23,267 25,172 25,172
Less: Gross amounts of cash collateral received / posted subject to enforceable master
Netting agreements® ) ... .. et 2,832 2,553 2,020 3,675
Net amounts of derivative assets / liabilities presented in the balance sheet ..................... 3,151 3,303 3,138 2,824
Less: Gross amounts of financial instrument collateral received / posted subject to
enforceable master netting agreements but not offset in the consolidated balance
SNIEET ..ttt 668 1,462 832 568
Net amounts of derivative assets / HaDIlItIES ..........ccocvveerrierrieersre e 2,483 1841 $ 2306 $ 2,256

@ Derivative assets/ liabilities related to cash flow hedges, fair value hedges and derivative instruments held for purposes other than for trading are recorded

in other assets / interest, taxes and other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.

@ Over-the-counter ("OTC") derivatives include derivatives executed and settled bilaterally with counterparties without the use of an organized exchange or
central clearing house. The credit risk associated with bilateral OTC derivatives is managed through obtaining collateral and enforceable master netting
agreements. OTC-cleared derivatives are executed hilaterally in the OTC market but then novated to a central clearing counterparty, whereby the central
clearing counterparty becomes the counterparty to each of the original counterparties. Exchange traded derivatives are executed directly on an organized
exchange. Credit risk isminimized for OTC-cleared derivatives and exchange traded derivatives through daily margining requirements. In addition, OTC-

cleared interest-rate derivatives with certain central clearing counterparties are settled daily.

®  Trading related derivative assets/ liabilities are recorded in trading assets / trading liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet.
@  Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of VisaInc. ("Visa') Class B common shares (“Class B Shares").
®  Represents the netting of derivative receivable and payable balances for the same counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.

©®  Represents the netting of cash collateral posted and received by counterparty under enforceable netting agreements.
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™ Nettingisperformed at acounterparty level in caseswhere enforceable master netting agreementsarein place, regardless of thetype of derivativeinstrument.

Therefore, we have not allocated netting to the different types of derivative instruments shown in the table above.

See Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged A ssets and Repurchase Agreements," for further information on offsetting rel ated
to resale and repurchase agreements and securities borrowing and lending arrangements.

Derivatives Held for Risk Management Purposes Our risk management policy requires usto identify, analyze and manage risks
arising from the activities conducted during the normal course of business. We use derivative instruments as an asset and liability
management tool to manage our exposures in interest rate, foreign currency and credit risks in existing assets and liabilities,
commitments and forecasted transactions. The accounting for changes in fair value of a derivative instrument will depend on
whether the derivative has been designated and qualifies for hedge accounting.

We designate derivative instruments to offset the fair value risk and cash flow risk arising from fixed-rate and floating-rate assets
and liabilities aswell asforecasted transactions. We assess the hedging relationships, both at the inception of the hedge and on an
ongoing basis, using aregression approach to determine whether the designated hedging instrument ishighly effectivein offsetting
changesin the fair value or the cash flows attributabl e to the hedged risk. Accounting principles for qualifying hedges require us
to prepare detailed documentation describing the rel ationship between the hedging instrument and the hedged item, including, but
not limited to, the risk management objective, the hedging strategy and the methods to assess and measure the ineffectiveness of
the hedging relationship. We discontinue hedge accounting when we determine that the hedge is no longer highly effective, the
hedging instrument is terminated, sold or expired, the designated forecasted transaction is not probable of occurring, or when the
designation is removed by us.

Fair Value Hedges In the normal course of business, we hold fixed-rate loans and securities and issue fixed-rate senior and
subordinated debt obligations. The fair value of fixed-rate assets and liabilities fluctuates in response to changes in interest rates.
We utilize interest rate swaps, forward and futures contracts to minimize our exposure to changes in fair value caused by interest
rate volatility. The changes in the fair value of the hedged item designated in a qualifying hedge are captured as an adjustment to
the carrying amount of the hedged item (basisadjustment). If the hedging rel ationshi p i sdi scontinued and the hedged item continues
to exist, the basis adjustment is amortized over the remaining life of the hedged item.

The following table presents the carrying amount of hedged items in fair value hedges recognized in the consolidated balance
sheet at March 31, 2019, along with the cumulative amount of fair value hedging adjustments included in the carrying amount of
those hedged items:

Cumulative Amount of Fair Value Hedging
Adjustments Increasing (Decreasing) the

Carrying Amount of Carrying Amount of Hedged Items

Hedged Items® Active Discontinued Total
(in millions)
At March 31, 2019
Securities available-for-sale ("AFS") .....cooveeeeveeeceeeeeeree, $ 12,851 $ 3714 $ 209 $ 583
LoNg-term debt........coovevrieere s 12,533 123 (61) 62

@ The carrying amount of securities AFS represents the amortized cost basis.
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The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instruments in fair value hedges and the hedged items in fair value hedges and their locations on the consolidated statement of
income (loss):

Net Ineffective

ca R ) o Gain (I'_ossgl)
ain (Loss) on Derivatives Gain (Loss) on Hedged Items Recognized

Net Interest Other Income Net Interest Other Income Other Income

Income (Loss) Income (Loss) (Loss)
(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Interest rate contracts / SecuritiesAFS.............. $ (257) $ — 3 350 $ — 3 —
Interest rate contracts/ Long-term debt ............. 84 — (199) — _
TOUEl oo $ (173) $ — $ 151 $ — 3 —
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018
Interest rate contracts/ SecuritiesAFS.............. $ (23) $ 362 $ 87 $ (357) $ 5
Interest rate contracts/ Long-term debt ............. (6) (60) (57) 61 1
e = S $ 29) $ 302 $ 30 % (296) $ 6

@ Asaresult of adopting new accounting guidance discussed in Note 21, “New Accounting Pronouncements,” beginning January 1, 2019, we report gains
and losses on the derivatives and the hedged itemsin fair value hedgesin net interest income. Prior to January 1, 2019, fair value hedge ineffectiveness was
separately measured and reported in other income (10ss).

Cash Flow Hedges We own or issue floating rate financial instruments and enter into forecasted transactions that give rise to
variability in future cash flows. Asapart of our risk management strategy, we use interest rate swaps, currency swaps and futures
contracts to mitigate risk associated with variability in the cash flows. Changesin fair value of aderivative instrument associated
with a qualifying cash flow hedge are recognized in other comprehensive income (loss). When the cash flows being hedged
materialize and are recorded in income or expense, the associated gain or loss from the hedging derivative previously recorded in
accumulated other comprehensiveloss("AOCI") isreclassified into earningsin the same accounting period in which the designated
forecasted transaction or hedged item affects earnings. If a cash flow hedge of a forecasted transaction is discontinued because it
is no longer highly effective, or if the hedge relationship is terminated, the cumulative gain or loss on the hedging derivative to
that date will continue to be reported in AOCI unless it is probable that the hedged forecasted transaction will not occur by the
end of the originally specified time period as documented at the inception of the hedge, at which time the cumulative gain or loss
isreleased into earnings.

At March 31, 2019, active cash flow hedge relationships extend or mature through July 2036. During the three months ended
March 31, 2019, $10 million of lossesrelated to discontinued cash flow hedge rel ationshipswere amortized to earnings from AOCI
compared with losses of $4 million during the three months ended March 31, 2018. During the next twelve months, we expect to
amortize $32 million of remaining losses to earnings resulting from these discontinued cash flow hedges. The interest accrua
related to the hedging instruments is recognized in net interest income.

The following table presents information on gains and losses on derivative instruments designated and qualifying as hedging
instrumentsin cash flow hedges (including amounts recognized in AOCI from discontinued cash flow hedges) and their locations
on the consolidated statement of income (10ss):

Gain (Loss) Recognized in Gain (Loss) Reclassified From

AOCI on Derivatives® Location of Gain AOCI into Income®®
(Loss) Reclassified from
2019 2018 AOCI into Income® 2019 2018
(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31,
Foreign exchange contracts..................... $ 1 $ (5) Net interestincome  $ — 3 —
Interest rate CoNtracts.........covvvveevreeerneen 7 3 Net interest income (10) 4
TOtA .o $ 8 % 2 $ (10) $ 4

@ Asaresult of adopting new accounting guidance discussed in Note 21, "New Accounting Pronouncements,”" beginning January 1, 2019, gains and |osses
onthederivativesin cash flow hedgesareinitialy reported in AOCI and then reclassified into earningsin the same accounting period in which the designated
forecasted transaction or hedged item affects earnings. Prior to January 1, 2019, cash flow hedge ineffectiveness was separately measured and reported
immediately in other income (loss). Cash flow hedge ineffectiveness was immaterial during the three months ended March 31, 2018.
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Trading Derivatives and Non-Qualifying Hedging Activities In addition to risk management, we also enter into derivative
contracts, including buy- and sell-protection credit derivatives, for the purposes of trading and market making, or repackaging
risksto form structured trades to meet clients' risk taking objectives. Additionally, we buy or sell securities and use derivativesto
mitigatethe market risksarising from our trading activitieswith our clientsthat exceed our risk appetite. We al so use buy-protection
credit derivatives to manage our counterparty credit risk exposure. Where we enter into derivatives for trading purposes, realized
and unrealized gains and losses are recognized in trading revenue. Counterparty credit risk associated with OTC derivatives,
including risk-mitigating buy-protection credit derivatives, are recognized as an adjustment to the fair value of the derivatives and
arerecorded in trading revenue.

Our non-qualifying hedging and other activities include:
» Derivative contracts related to the fixed-rate long-term debt issuances and hybrid instruments, including all structured

notes and deposits, for which we have elected fair value option accounting. These derivative contracts are non-qualifying
hedges but are considered economic hedges.

e Credit default swaps which are designated as economic hedges against the credit risks within our loan portfalio. In the
event of animpairment loss occurring in aloan that iseconomically hedged, theimpairment lossis recognized as provision
for credit losses while the gain on the credit default swap is recorded as other income (10ss).

*  Swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Sharesto athird party to retain the litigation
risk associated with the Class B Shares sold until the related litigation is settled and the Class B Shares can be converted
into Class A common shares ("Class A Shares'). See Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase
Agreements,” for additional information.

e Forward purchases or sales of to-be-announced ("TBA") securities used to economically hedge changes in the fair value
of agency-€ligible residential mortgage loans held for sale attributable to changes in market interest rates. Changesin the
fair value of TBA positions, which are considered derivatives, are recorded in other income (loss). See Note 6, "Loans
Held for Sale," for additional information.

Derivative instruments designated as economic hedges that do not qualify for hedge accounting are recorded at fair value through
profit andloss. Realized and unrealized gainsand | osses on economi ¢ hedgesarerecogni zedin gain (10ss) oninstrumentsdesignated
at fair value and related derivatives or other income (loss) while the derivative asset or liability positions are reflected as other
assets or other liabilities.

Thefollowing table presentsinformation on gainsand losses on derivativeinstruments held for trading purposes and their locations
on the consolidated statement of income (10ss):

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on

Derivatives

Location of Gain (Loss) Three Months Ended March 31,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2019 2018

(in millions)
Interest rate CoNtracts...........ccceveeeiciicicnicnns Trading revenue $ 56 $ 203
Foreign exchange contracts..............c.ccccueuneee. Trading revenue 137 (100)
EqUity CONLIractS ........coeveereeereenieeseenieens Trading revenue (89) ©)]
Precious metals contracts...........cccccoeeueuennene Trading revenue (134) 130
Credit CONractS........oovvverereereneneeereeseeeneenes Trading revenue (122) ©)]
TOE oo $ (152) $ 227
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Thefollowing table presents information on gains and |osses on derivative instruments held for non-qualifying hedging and other
activities and their locations on the consolidated statement of income (10ss):

Amount of Gain (Loss)
Recognized in Income on

Derivatives
Location of Gain (Loss) Three Months Ended March 31,
Recognized in Income on Derivatives 2019 2018
(in millions)
Interest rate contracts................... Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
derivatives $ 156 $ (162)
Interest rate contracts.................. Other income (|0ss) (1) —
Foreign exchange contracts......... Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
derivatives @) 2
Equity contracts...........cccccucuennee. Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related
derivatives 914 (339)
Credit contracts.........ccocveeeveeene. Other income (l0ss) (10) 2
Other contracts® ..........cocevveeeenn. Other income (loss) (6) )
L= $ 1,052 $ (507)

@ Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares.

Credit-Risk Related Contingent Features The majority of our derivative contracts contain provisions that require us to maintain
a specific credit rating from each of the major credit rating agencies. Sometimes the derivative instrument transactions are a part
of broader structured product transactions. If our credit ratings were to fall below the current ratings, the counterparties to our
derivative instruments could demand usto post additional collateral. The amount of additional collateral required to be posted will
depend on whether we are downgraded by one or more notches. The aggregate fair value of all derivative instruments with credit-
risk related contingent features that werein anet liability position at March 31, 2019 was $802 million, for which we had posted
collateral of $645 million. The aggregate fair value of al derivative instruments with credit-risk-related contingent features that
were in a net liability position at December 31, 2018 was $979 million, for which we had posted collateral of $422 million.
Substantially all of thecollateral postedisintheformof cash or securitiesavailable-for-sale. SeeNote 18, " Guarantee Arrangements,
Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements,” for further details.

The following table presents the amount of additional collateral that we would be required to post (from the current collateral
level) related to derivative instruments with credit-risk related contingent features if our long-term ratings were downgraded by
one or two notches. A downgrade by a single rating agency that does not result in arating lower than a preexisting corresponding
rating provided by another rating agency will generally not result in additional collateral.

One-notch Two-notch
downgrade downgrade
(in millions)
Amount of additional collateral to be posted upon downgrade...........ccocevevvevenerereneeieeceeieenens $ 33 3 41
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Notional Value of Derivative Contracts The following table summarizes the notional values of derivative contracts:

March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018

(in millions)
Interest rate:
FULUIES aNd FOMWAITS. ......cucuiiiiiieecece ettt en e $ 750,139 $ 787,049
SWBIIS ...eveveeeetese ettt et se et st se et e s e et st b et e re b et et e et e e bene R e eaebesa et e eaeReeaeReeteneeteneete e erenas 2,993,980 3,203,048
(O 0)110) 053NN 1 1 (= o 1 104,512 106,009
OPLiONS PUICNASEA ...ttt et ae b sae b b e 110,755 107,561
3,959,386 4,203,667
Foreign exchange:
Swaps, FULUreS and FOMWEAITS ..........oorirererere e 1,177,668 1,052,088
(O] 0]1T0) 1S3 Y71 1= o 43,821 30,567
(O 0)110) 1Y 0 0 7= < = o [ 45,005 31,069
S o0 TSRS 42,675 31,084
1,309,169 1,144,808
Commodities, equities and precious metals:
Swaps, FULUreS and FOMWEAITS ..........oorirererere e 43,310 41,328
(O] 0]1T0) 0153 Y] 1 1= o 35,600 28,595
(O 0)110) 1Y 0 0 7= < = o [ 47,339 40,236
126,249 110,159
(O1(= o (1 00 (= F AV = 1A= 117,225 97,298
OHEr CONMTACES™ ... ess e ees s e s s sess s es s ensesnssnees 872 736
7 PSS $ 5512901 $ 5,556,668

@ Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares.

10. Fair Value Option

We report our results to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis"),
which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board
("1ASB") and endorsed by the European Union ("EU"). We typically have elected to apply fair value option ("FVO") accounting
toselected financial instrumentsto alignthe measurement attributes of thoseinstrumentsunder U.S. GAAPandthe Group Reporting
Basis and to simplify the accounting model applied to those financia instruments. We elected to apply FV O accounting to certain
commercial loans held for sale, certain securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements, certain fixed-rate
long-term debt issuances and al of our hybrid instruments, including structured notes and deposits. Excluding the fair value
movement on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread, which isrecorded in other comprehensive income
(loss), changes in the fair value of fair value option assets and liabilities as well as the mark-to-market adjustment on the related
derivatives and the net realized gains or losses on these derivatives are reported in gain (1oss) on instruments designated at fair
value and related derivatives in the consolidated statement of income (l0ss).

Loans We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain commercia syndicated loans which are originated with the intent to sell
and certain commercial loans that we purchased from the secondary market and hold as hedges against our exposure to certain
total return swapsand include theseloans asloans held for salein the consolidated balance sheet. The el ection allows usto account
for theseloans at fair value which is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed. Where available, fair value
is based on observable market pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant broker quotes or observed market prices of
instruments with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are not available, fair value is determined based on
contractual cash flows adjusted for estimates of prepayment rates, expected default rates and loss severity discounted at
management's estimate of the expected rate of return required by market participants. We al so consider |oan-specific risk mitigating
factors such as collateral arrangements in determining the fair value estimate. Interest from these loans is recorded as interest
incomein the consolidated statement of income (loss). Because a substantial majority of the loans el ected for the fair value option
are floating rate assets, changes in their fair value are primarily attributable to changes in loan-specific credit risk factors. The
components of gain (loss) related to loans designated at fair value are summarized in the table below. At March 31, 2019 and
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December 31, 2018, no loans for which the fair value option has been elected were 90 days or more past due or in nonaccrual
status.

Resale and Repurchase Agreements We elected to apply FVO accounting to certain securities purchased and sold under resale
and repurchase agreementswhich aretrading in nature. Theel ection allows usto account for theseresal eand repurchase agreements
at fair value which is consistent with the manner in which the instruments are managed. Thefair value of the resale and repurchase
agreements is determined using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar underlying collateral and
maturities. I nterest on theseresal eand repurchase agreementsisrecorded asinterest income or expensein the consolidated statement
of income (loss). The components of gain (loss) related to these resale and repurchase agreements designated at fair value are
summarized in the table below.

Long-Term Debt (Own Debt Issuances) We elected to apply FV O accounting for certain fixed-rate long-term debt for which we
had applied or otherwise would elect to apply fair value hedge accounting. The election allows us to achieve a similar accounting
effect without having to meet the hedge accounting requirements. The own debt i ssuances el ected under FV O aretraded in secondary
markets and, as such, thefair valueis determined based on observed pricesfor the specific instruments. The observed market price
of these instruments reflects the effect of changes to our own credit spreads and interest rates. Interest on the fixed-rate debt
accounted for under FVO is recorded as interest expense in the consolidated statement of income (loss). The components of gain
(loss) in the consolidated statement of income (loss) related to long-term debt designated at fair value are summarized in the table
below.

Hybrid Instruments We elected to apply FVO accounting to all of our hybrid instruments issued, including structured notes and
deposits. Theval uation of thehybridinstrumentsispredominantly driven by thederivativefeaturesembedded withintheinstruments
and our own credit risk. Cash flows of the hybrid instrumentsin their entirety, including the embedded derivatives, are discounted
at an appropriate rate for the applicable duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied
to structured notes are determined with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in the primary and secondary markets,
internal funding rates, and structured note rates in recent executions while the credit spreads applied to structured deposits are
determined using market rates currently offered on comparable deposits with similar characteristics and maturities. Interest on this
debt isrecorded asinterest expensein the consolidated statement of income (l0ss). Thecomponentsof gain (Ioss) inthe consolidated
statement of income (loss) related to hybrid instruments designated at fair value are summarized in the table below.

The following table summarizes the fair value and unpaid principal balance for items we account for under FVO:

Fair Value
Over (Under)
Unpaid Unpaid
Principal Principal
Fair Value Balance Balance
(in millions)
At March 31, 2019
Commercial [0anS held for SAlE........ccviiveicecce e $ 98 $ 106 $ 8)
Securities purchased under resale agreements...........cooocceerncirerncecesseeees 961 961 —
Securities sold under repurchase agreements ..........cocvveeverenensensesese e 191 191 —
Fixed rate 1ong-term debt...........oooer e 2,052 1,750 302
Hybrid instruments:
SUUCLUIEd DEPOSIES. ... 8,465 8,790 (325)
SEUCLUIEA NOLES.....c.vecveeiecteeere ettt ettt sttt sbe b e st e sbe et e earesbe e s e ebeenresneennas 10,029 9,393 636
At December 31, 2018
Commercial 10anSheld fOr SAle.........ovrrrrrrrr e $ 109 $ 120 $ (11)
Securities sold under repurchase agreements ... 560 560 —
Fixed rate 1ong-term debt.........ccoveiciciee e 1,935 1,750 185
Hybrid instruments:
SUCTUrE DEBPOSITS. ... 8,154 8,441 (287)
SEUCLUFEA NOLES.......ecvieiecteeie ettt sttt st are s be e e e eneeresneennas 9,314 9,546 (232
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Components of Gain (Loss) on Instruments Designated at Fair Value and Related Derivatives The following table summarizes
the components of gain (loss) oninstruments designated at fair value and rel ated derivativesreflected in the consolidated statement
of income (loss) for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018:

Securities Securities
Purchased Sold Under
Under Resale  Repurchase Long-Term Hybrid
Loans Agreements Agreements Debt Instruments Total
(in millions)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019

Interest rate and other components™®............ $ — 3 — 3 — 3 (69) $ (1,012) $ (1,081)

Credit risk component® ..........c.cccoooceeveenneene. 3 — — — — 3
Total mark-to-market on financia instruments

designated at fair value..........ccoovvcieiiininnen, 3 — — (69) (1,012) (1,078)
Mark-to-market on related derivatives............. — — — 53 1,006 1,059
Net realized gain on related long-term debt

deriVatiVeS ..o, — — — 10 — 10
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair

value and related derivatives........................ $ 3 3 — 3 — 3 6) $ (6) $ 9)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018

Interest rate and other components™........... $ — 3 — $ @ s 88 $ 42 $ 529

Credit risk component® .............cccoccvevenneenn. 4 — — — — 4
Total mark-to-market on financial instruments

designated at fair value............ccccocucvcucuiicnnes 4 — (1) 88 442 533
Mark-to-market on related derivatives............. — — — (77) (439) (516)
Net realized gain on related long-term debt

ErVALIVES ... — — — 13 — 13
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair

value and related derivatives............cccceeennee $ 4 $ — % @ $ 24 $ 3 % 30

@ Asit relates to hybrid instruments, interest rate and other components primarily includes interest rate, foreign exchange and equity contract risks.
@ Thefair value movement on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss).
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11. Accumulated Other Comprehensive Loss

Accumulated other comprehensive loss includes certain items that are reported directly within a separate component of equity.
The following table presents changes in accumulated other comprehensive |oss balances:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)

Unrealized gains (losses) on investment securities:

Balance at beginning Of PEITOU. ... it bbbt $ (519) $ (250)
Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for equity investments which were previously
classified as available-for-sale, net of tax of $2 MIIIONW ............ovvvireeereeeeeeeseses e s sessssesssssssssess s essesssssnsssesessnees — 4
Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
LEOISIATON™ ..eov.i e eeeeeessss s eeess et AR — (53)
Balance at beginning Of PEriod, BAJUSIEA ..ottt (519) (299)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $55 million and $(63) million, respectively ..........cccoerrnenee. 180 (193)
Reclassification adjustment for gains realized in net income (loss), net of tax of $(2) million and $(1) million, respectively® .. () 4
Amortization of net unrealized losses on securities transferred from ayailable-for-sale to held-to-maturity realized in net
income (loss), net of tax of $1 million and $1 million, resPECIVEIY™ ...........ccoo.oivvereieeeeeeee e seeerees 4 2
Total other comprehensive inCOME (10SS) FOr PEITOU. ........covvririiririererie sttt ettt 179 (195)
2= et aTe =R = e ) T= o OSSPSR (340) (494)
Unrealized gains (losses) on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread:
Balance at Deginning Of PEITOM...........couiiiii et 301 (19)
Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
LEOISIAITON® ..eeevtooeeeeereeeeeess e ceessssess s R R — 4
Balance at beginning Of PEriod, BAJUSIEA ...........couiiriiiiirer ettt ettt ettt ettt 301 (23)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $(35) million and $5 million, respectively ..........cccocovrecrrenenee (111) 12
Total other comprehensive income (loss) for period... (111) 12
Balance at €Nd OF PEMOU...........couiiuiiiiii bbb 190 (11)
Unrealized gains (losses) on derivatives designated as cash flow hedges:
Balance at Deginning Of PEITOU. ........cuuiiiiiert sttt et et £ttt ettt ettt (159) (164)
Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
LEOISIAHIOND ... eeeeeeseeeeeeesss e cemessss e eeeses s ee s8R — (35)
Balance at beginning of Period, B0JUSLEN ...........cc.ciiiiiiiii s (159) (199)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Net unrealized gains (losses) arising during period, net of tax of $2 million and less than $(1) million, respectively .................. 6 @)
Reclassification adjustment for losses realized in net income (loss), net of tax of $2 million and $1 million, respectively®....... 8 3
Total other comprehensive inCome (10SS) FOr PEITOU. ........coiiiirie ettt bbb 14 2
Balance at €nd Of PEIIOU. ..o bbbt (145) (197)
Pension and postretirement benefit liability:
Balance at Deginning Of PEITOU.........c.cou ittt ettt ettt ettt 11 2
Cumulative effect adjustment to initially apply new accounting guidance for stranded tax effects resulting from Tax
LEUISIBIONY ...t seeessesesssess e s sessesesssesss e sssenesseess e esesseesss s ssssessssses st eese s sse s sse e s e e st enssssenssseesse s s e s —
Balance at beginning Of PEriod, @OJUSIEA ...........co ittt bbb e et b b bt s et enenenan 11
Other comprehensive income (loss) for period:
Change in unfunded pension and postretirement liability, net of tax of $(1) million and less than $1 million, respectively 3) 1
Total other comprenensive iNCOME fOr PENIOU............cvuvuiiiiciciect e 3) 1
BalanCe @ @0 OF PEITOM. ......c.cueeiieieee ettt £ttt ettt 8 4
Total accumulated other comprehensive 10ss at end of PEriod...........ccocicirinininic e $ 287) $ (698)

@ SeeNote 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Polices and New Accounting Pronouncements,” in our 2018 Form 10-K for additional discussion.
Amount reclassified to net income (loss) isincluded in other securities gains, net in our consolidated statement of income (loss).

®  Amount amortized to net income (loss) isincluded in interest incomein our consolidated statement of income (loss). During 2014, we transferred securities
from available-for-sale to held-to-maturity. At the date of transfer, AOCI included net pretax unrealized losses related to the transferred securities which are
being amortized over the remaining contractual life of each security as an adjustment of yield in amanner consistent with the amortization of any premium
or discount.
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@ Amount reclassified to net income (loss) isincluded in net interest incomein our consolidated statement of income (l0ss).

12. Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits

Defined Benefit Pension Plan Thetable below reflectsthe portion of pension expense and its rel ated components of the combined
HSBC North America Pension Plan (either the "HSBC North America Pension Plan" or the "Plan™) which has been allocated to
usand isrecorded in our consolidated statement of income (loss). We have not been allocated any portion of the Plan's net pension
liability.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)
Interest cost on projected benefit ODIIGALION ..........coiiiiriree e $ 15 $ 15
EXpected return 0N Plan @SSELS.........cciiiiicc s (18) (21)
AmOrtization Of NEL ACIUAITAl 10SS......cceeiiiiieiecececeee ettt et ebe e b saeesreeneesreenesaean 7 5
AGMINISLIALIVE COSES.....eetiiiiiticie st ste sttt ee et e st e e st e et e s reesaeeaeesaeeaeesaeessesseessasteentesseenseeseensesnnesseeneesreensesneen 1 1
LS ST 0] = 1= 1S S $ 5 % —

Postretirement Plans Other Than Pensions Our employees also participate in plans which provide medical and life insurance
benefitsto certain retirees and eligible dependents. These plans cover substantially all employeeswho meet certain age and vested
service requirements. We have ingtituted dollar l[imits on payments under the plans to control the cost of future medical benefits.
Net periodic postretirement benefit cost was less than $1 million during both the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.

13. Fee Income from Contracts with Customers

The following table summarizes fee income from contracts with customers disaggregated by type of activity, as well as a
reconciliation to total other revenues, during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. Following thetableisadescription
of the various types of fee-based activities and how revenue associated with these activities is recognized.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)
L@ o oo 3 1= = S T S $ 12 $ 11
Trust and investment MaNagEMENTt FEES..........i et ettt sa et st se e e e b e e eneas 30 38
Other fees and commissions:
ACCOUNE SEIVICES™Y ...ttt e e s et eeeee e se et se e s eeeseee e ee e s se s seeeseee s et eeeseeeseseesene s 65 69
L@ o 1 =0 1 =SSOSR 69 78
ONEY FEESY ...ttt s e s st en s ens e 13 13
Total other feeS aNd COMMISSIONS ......ccveieeeeeeeere st sre s aesresteseene e e ae e eneenennes 147 160
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliales.........cooieiiiiiiiie e e 81 99
TNSUFBNCE® ... oo e e ee e e e e ee e e se e ee s eeeeesese e es e s ee e eeseeseseeeesesesesreeeees 2 3
Total fee income from contractS With CUSLOMEY'S ........cc.ociiii et e ne 272 311
(@1 0= g aTo 0 L= SN =Y 1= S 118 202
TOLAl OINEE TEVENUES® ...ttt ee ettt et ee et e et eeene e e et e s et e eesee e e e s eseeeeeeeneseeeseneenenees $ 390 $ 513

@ During the fourth quarter of 2018, we concluded that certain wire transfer feeswould be better presented in account services as opposed to other fees. Asa
result, we have reclassified $4 million of wire transfer fees from other fees to account services during the three months ended March 31, 2018 to conform
with the current year presentation.

@ Included within other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of income (loss).

®  SeeNote 15, "Business Segments," for areconciliation of total other revenues on aU.S. GAAP basis to other operating income for each business segment
under the Group Reporting Basis.

Credit card fees, net Credit card fees, net includes interchange fees earned from merchants who accept our cards in connection

with the purchase of their goods and/or services. These fees are recognized when we satisfy the performance obligation by

simultaneously approving a card holder's purchase at the point of sale and remitting payment to the merchant. We recognized
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interchange fees of $22 million and $21 million during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, respectively. Annual
feeson credit cards, net of direct lending costs, are billed upfront and recognized on astraight-line basis over oneyear. Other credit
card fees such as cash advance and over-limit fees are transaction based and are recognized and billed at the point in time the
transaction occurs which is when the performance obligation is met. Costs related to our credit card rewards program vary based
on multiple factors including card holder activity, card holder reward redemption rates and card holder reward selections. These
costs are recorded when the rewards are earned by the customer and are presented as a reduction to credit card fees. Credit card
rewards program costs totaled $12 million during both the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.

Trust and investment management fees Trust and investment management feesincludeinvestment management and administration
feeswhich are typically billed as a percentage of the average value of a customer's assets during an agreed payment period or for
somecontracts, theval ueof acustomer'sassetsat theend of an agreed payment period and thereforerepresent variable consideration.
The fee percentage and payment period are agreed with the customer upfront. Generally, payment periods are monthly or quarterly
and coincide with our reporting periods, thereby resolving the uncertainty of the variable consideration by the reporting date. For
payment periodsthat do not coincide with our reporting periods, judgment isrequired to estimate the fee and determine the amount
to include in an accrual. An accrual is only recorded to the extent it is highly probable that a significant reversal of revenue will
not occur. In most cases, asignificant reversal of revenue is not highly probable. Other trust and investment management fees are
transaction based and are recognized and billed at the point in time the transacti on occurswhich iswhen the performance obligation
ismet. From timeto time, we may al so receive performance fees from some funds, though these fees are typically only recognized
when the performance fee is determinable and the uncertainty of the variable consideration is resolved.

Account services We provide servicesfor commercial and consumer customer accounts that generate fees from various activities
including: accounts statements, ATM transactions, cash withdrawals, wire transfers, remittances, check cashing, debit cards and
internet and phone banking. The fees for these services are established in the customer account agreement and are either billed
individually at the time the service is performed or on a monthly basis for a package or bundle of services as the services are
performed. The performance obligation for these servicesis met when the services are performed. Customer account agreements
typically includeapackageof serviceswithmultipleperformanceobligationsor abundleof servicesmaking up asingleperformance
obligation. In the case of a package of services, the pattern of transfer to the customer is usually the same for all services, and
therefore the package of servicesis treated as a single performance obligation. In some cases, a package or bundle of servicesis
billed upfront asan annual feeand recognized onastraight-linebasisover oneyear asthe servicesare performed and the performance
obligation is met.

Creditfacilities Creditfacilitiesfeesincludefeesgenerated fromlending activitiesthat arenot includedinthedirect loan origination
fees which are recognized in interest income as an adjustment to yield. This includes fees associated with loan commitments,
revolving credit facilities, standby letters of credit, loan syndication and other transaction based fees. These fees are either billed
asafixed price or asapercentage of the approved lending limit or transaction value. Thefee percentage is agreed with the customer
upfront. Although the percentage-based fees represent variable consideration, the uncertainty of the variable consideration is
resolved by the time the revenue is recognized as the lending limit or transaction value is known on the contract or transaction
date. Loan syndication fees received for managing a syndication and other transaction based fees are recognized and billed at the
point in time the transaction occurs, which is when the performance obligation is met. Fees associated with loan commitments,
revolving credit facilities and standby letters of credit are billed upfront and recognized on a straight-line basis over the period the
serviceisperformed whichiswhenthe performanceobligationismet (e.g., thecommitment period). Inthe event aloan commitment
or standby letter of credit is exercised, the remaining unamortized fee is recognized as an adjustment to yield over the [oan term.

Other fees and commissions Other fees and commissions include fees received associated with various other activities such as
custody services, imports/exports, clearing and other miscellaneous services. These fees are typically transaction based and are
recognized and billed at the point in time the transaction occurs which is when the performance obligation is met. Fees earned
from providing customerswith custody services are typically recognized and billed on amonthly basis over the period the service
is performed which iswhen the performance obligation ismet, as a percentage of the value of the customer's assets held in custody
(calculated daily or monthly).

Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates Wereceivefeesfrom other HSBC affiliatesfor providing them with variousbanking,
wealth management and other miscellaneous services as well as support for certain administrative and global business activities.
Thesefeesarereported in servicing and other feesfrom HSBC affiliates and are typically recognized and billed on amonthly basis
over the period the service is performed or for some fees that are transaction based, at the point in time the transaction occurs,
which iswhen the performance obligation is met. See Note 14, "Related Party Transactions," for additional information regarding
the various services provided and other transactions with HSBC ffiliates.

Insurance We earn commissions from the sale of third-party insurance policies which are typically recognized on a weekly or
monthly basis, when the policy goesinto effect which iswhen the performance obligation is met.
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Deferred Fee Income

Information related to deferred feeincome on loan commitments, revolving credit facilities and standby |etters of credit isincluded
in Note 18, "Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements,”" and Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements."
Excluding these items, we had deferred fee income related to certain account service fees that are paid upfront and recognized
over theserviceperiod and annual feeson credit cardswhich coll ectively totaled $2 million at bothMarch 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018. We expect to recognize this revenue over aremaining period of one year or less.

Other than asdescribed aboveunder trust and investment management fees, wedo not usesignificant judgmentsinthedetermination
of the amount and timing of fee income from contracts with customers. Additionally, costs to obtain or fulfill contracts with
customers were immaterial.

14. Related Party Transactions

In the normal course of business, we conduct transactions with HSBC and its subsidiaries. HSBC policy requires that these
transactions occur at prevailing market rates and terms and, where applicable, these transactions are compliant with United States
banking regulations. All extensions of credit by (and certain credit exposures of) HSBC Bank USA, National Association ("HSBC
Bank USA") to other HSBC affiliates (other than Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation insured banks) are legally required to be
secured by eligible collateral. The following tables and discussions bel ow present the more significant related party balances and
the income (expense) generated by related party transactions:

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018
(in millions)
Assets:
Cash and dUE TrOM DANKS .........ceuieieecteeece ettt ettt et teae e et te e enaee $ 241 $ 245
Interest bearing deposits With DENKS...........ccoiiiiini e 978 1,000
I o TR0 = 55 = ST 27 102
0 RO 2,688 2,274
ONEI™ ... 623 169
Q= = PRSI $ 4557 $ 3,790
Liabilities:
DEPOSIES ..ttt ettt ettt bttt b ettt e et beae et b e b ettt et e et b et e ettt eRe s et et ebe e s betenenane $ 13,783 $ 12,000
Trading lHabilItIES.......c.cceieie e et et sa e e na e e e eneeneenis 239 349
ShOrt-tErM DOMTOWINGS. .....veeeetieeeeiet bbb bbb 736 638
(00T (= 0 1 (= o 7,846 7,845
OB oo 350 333
TOLAl [HADIITIES. ...ttt ettt aeebeeteeaeebeebeetessesenbensenseneeneeneeseas $ 22954 $ 21,165

@ Other assetsand other liabilities primarily consist of derivative balances associated with hedging activities and other miscellaneous account receivables and
payables.
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Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)

Income (Expense):

TS = T Too 1 $ 43 $ 22

L ILS oS S 1= 7 RO (124) (78)
NEL INTEIESE EXPEMNSE .....cucvviiciri bbb (81) (56)
TradiNg FEVENUE (EXIENSE) ....ueeueeeeueeueeteeueetestesteetesteseeseeeeeeaeeseesesaeaseetessesaeatesbeseeasensenseneeneaneeneesesbesaessessesseseens (1,514) 1,158
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates:

[ S = O 7= 01 o oSSR PR 35 41

HSBC Markets (USA) INC. ("HMUS") ..ot 30 31

Other HSBC AffIlI@HES ...ttt ettt st sttt s 16 27
Total servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliate€S.......cccvveieerececice s 81 99
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives...........ccooooieriiiicnienc s 1,008 (438)
Support services from HSBC affiliates:

HSBC Technology & Services (USA) ("HTSU") .ttt (277) (298)

HIMUS Lttt et e R Rt E Rt e R Rt e Rt n Rt ren e 27) (31)

Other HSBC AffIlI@HES .....vcueeeeceeeres ettt ettt sttt sttt s (76) (82
Total support services from HSBC affiliates..........ccovvvviiiciiiiccc s (380) (411)
Rental income from HSBC affiliates, NEt™ ............oovoieeieeeeeeeeeee oo ses s 12 12
Stock based COMPENSALION EXPENSE? ............crrverrreeesireeeessesessss st sss st (6) (5)

@ Wereceive rental income from our affiliates, and in some cases pay rental expense to our affiliates, for rent on certain office space. Net rental income from
our afiliatesis recorded as a component of occupancy expense, net in our consolidated statement of income (l0ss).

@ Employees may participate in one or more stock compensation plans sponsored by HSBC. These expenses are included in salaries and employee benefits
in our consolidated statement of income (loss). Certain employees are also eligible to participate in a defined benefit pension plan and other postretirement
plans sponsored by HSBC North America which are discussed in Note 12, "Pension and Other Postretirement Benefits."

Funding Arrangements with HSBC Affiliates:

We use HSBC affiliates to fund a portion of our borrowing and liquidity needs. At both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
long-term debt with affiliates reflected $7.8 billion of borrowings from HSBC North America. The outstanding balances include
$1.5 hillion of fixed-rate senior debt which matures in March 2021, $2.0 billion of fixed-rate senior debt which maturesin May
2021, $0.9 billion of floating-rate subordinated debt which matures in May 2025, $2.0 hillion of fixed-rate senior debt which
matures in September 2025 and $1.5 billion of fixed-rate senior debt which maturesin March 2026.

We have a$150 million uncommitted line of credit with HSBC North America. There was no outstanding balance under this credit
facility at either March 31, 2019 or December 31, 2018.

We have also incurred short-term borrowings with certain affiliates, largely securities sold under repurchase agreements with
HSBC Securities (USA) Inc. ("HSI"). In addition, certain affiliates have also placed deposits with us.

Lending and Derivative Related Arrangements Extended to HSBC Affiliates:
At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we had the following loan balances outstanding with HSBC affiliates:

March 31, December 31,

2019 2018
(in millions)
HMUS N0 SUDSIIBITES .....c.veveeeseeeeeeeeeeeee ettt sttt st te st st et et s s sresaesassbesbeseesesbeseeseenseneenes $ 2,360 $ 2,235
HSBC BaNK CanaOa........cceiueiriiieiiiiieierieieieeseetes e saesteste s e seestessesaessesassessessessesssssessessessensensessensensnnes 250 —
Other short-term affiliate |eNiNg. .......cccvrereeiree e e 78 39
B o = I oY= LTS $ 2,688 $ 2,274

HMUS and subsidiaries We have extended loans and lines, some of them uncommitted, to HMUS and its subsidiaries in the
amount of $12.8 hillion at both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 of which $2.4 billion and $2.2 billion, respectively, was
outstanding. The maturities of the outstanding balances range from overnight to three months. Each borrowing is re-evaluated
prior to its maturity date and either extended or allowed to mature.
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HSBC Bank Canada We have extended an uncommitted line of credit to HSBC Bank Canada in the amount of $500 million at
both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 of which $250 million and nil was outstanding at March 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018, respectively. The outstanding balance maturesin May 2019.

We have extended lines of credit to various other HSBC affiliatestotaling $4.0 billion which did not have any outstanding balances
at either March 31, 2019 or December 31, 2018.

Other short-term affiliate lending 1n addition to loans and lines extended to affiliates discussed above, from time to time we may
extend loans to affiliates which are generally short term in nature. At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, there were $78
million and $39 million, respectively, of these loans outstanding.

Derivative Contracts Aspart of aglobal HSBC strategy to offset interest rate or other market risksassociated with certain securities,
debt issues and derivative contracts with unaffiliated third parties, we routinely enter into derivative transactionswith HSBC Bank
plc and other HSBC affiliates. The notional value of derivative contracts related to these transactions was approximately $897.0
billion and $809.5 hillion at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. The net credit exposure (defined asthe net fair
value of derivative assets and liabilities, including any collateral received) related to the contracts was approximately $79 million
and $108 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Our Global Banking and Markets business accounts
for these transactions on a mark to market basis, with the change in value of contracts with HSBC affiliates substantially offset
by the change in value of related contracts entered into with unaffiliated third parties.

Services Provided Between HSBC Affiliates:

Under multipleservicelevel agreements, we provide servicesto and receive servicesfrom variousHSBC affiliates. These activities
aresummarized in Note 22, "Related Party Transactions," in our 2018 Form 10-K. There have been no significant changesin these
activities since December 31, 2018.

Other Transactions with HSBC Affiliates:

At both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, we had $1,265 million of non-cumulative preferred stock issued and outstanding
to HSBC North America. See Note 17, "Preferred Stock," in our 2018 Form 10-K for additional details.

During the first quarter of 2019, we paid a distribution on our common stock of $2.4 billion from surplus capital to HSBC North
America. See Note 16, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,” for additional details.

15. Business Segments

We have five distinct business segments that we utilize for management reporting and analysis purposes, which are aligned with
HSBC's global business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercia Banking ("CMB"), Global
Banking and Markets ("GB&M"), Private Banking ("PB") and a Corporate Center ("CC"). There have been no changes in the
basis of our segmentation as compared with the presentation in our 2018 Form 10-K.

Net interest income of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest incurred on
liabilities of the segment, adjusted for afunding charge or credit that includes both interest rate and li quidity components. Segments
are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer loans) and receive a funding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer deposits)
based on equivalent market ratesthat incorporate both repricing (interest raterisk) and tenor (liquidity) characteristics. Theobjective
of these charges/credits is to transfer interest rate risk from the segments to one centralized unit in Balance Sheet Management,
recognize term funding costs/benefits and more appropriately reflect the profitability of the segments.

Certain other revenue and operating expense amounts are al so apportioned among the business segments based upon the benefits
derived from this activity or the relationship of this activity to other segment activity. These inter-segment transactions have not
been eliminated, and we generally account for them as if they were with third parties.

Our segment resultsare presented in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which apply IFRSsasissued
by the IASB and endorsed by the EU, and, as aresult, our segment results are prepared and presented using financia information
prepared on the Group Reporting Basis as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are evaluated and decisions about
allocating resources, such as employees, are primarily made on this basis. We continue, however, to monitor capital adequacy and
report to regulatory agencieson aU.S. GAAP basis.

There have been no changes in the measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2018 Form 10-K.

A summary of significant differencesbetween U.S. GA APand the Group Reporting Basisasthey impact our resultsare summarized
in Note 23, "Business Segments,” in our 2018 Form 10-K. Other than the change discussed below, there have been no other
significant changes since December 31, 2018 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis impacting
our results.
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Property - The sale and leaseback of our 452 Fifth Avenue property, including the 1 W. 39th Street building, in 2010 resulted in
the recognition of a gain under the Group Reporting Basis, while under U.S. GAAP, such gain was historically deferred and was
being recognized over the lease term. In January 2019, we adopted new accounting guidance under U.S. GAAPwhich resulted in
a cumulative effect adjustment to recognize the previously deferred gain in retained earnings as of January 1, 2019.

The following table summarizes the results for each segment on a Group Reporting Basis, as well as provides a reconciliation of
total results under the Group Reporting Basisto U.S. GAAP consolidated totals:

Group Reporting Basis Consolidated Amounts

Group
Group Repor_ting
Reporting Basis U.S. GAAP
Basis Reclassi- Consolidated
RBWM CMB GB&M PB cc Total Adjustments® fications® Totals
(in millions)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
Net interest inCOme.........ccovveeereenennes $ 2212 $ 200 $ 151 $ 37 $ 14 $ 624 $ 6 $ (68) $ 562
Other operating income.............c...... 65 58 175 16 24 338 a7 69 390
Total operating income.................... 286 259 326 53 38 962 (11) 1 952
Expected credit losses/
provision for credit losses................. 21 6 ()] 1) 1 10 41 7 58
265 253 343 54 37 952 (52) (6) 894
Operating eXPeNSES.........coccvereevreenns 311 138 206 53 40 748 8 (6) 750
Profit (loss) before income tax
L T= 1O $ 46) $ 115 $ 137 $ 1 $ 3 $ 204 $ (60) $ — 8 144
Balances at end of period: -
JLLCE I = = R $18,733 $25612 $ 78,899 $6,686 $ 79,715 $ 209645 $ (28,724) $ — $ 180,921
Total 10ans, NEt........coveverererrirerirene 16,885 24,447 20,068 5,584 2,230 69,214 (1,797) 3,034 70,451
GOOAWIll ..o 581 358 — 321 — 1,260 347 —_ 1,607
Total deposits.......coeveerereeecrererieeen 33,459 22,323 28,274 7,540 6,629 98,225 (2,827) 18,241 113,639
Three Months Ended March 31, 2018
Net interest inComMe.........ovuvreereennes $ 216 $ 186 $ 149 $ 47 $ 15 % 613 $ 8 $ 69 $ 552
Other operating incCOMe.........cccveuee. 93 55 197 20 83 448 (11) 76 513
Total operating inCOMe............cceune. 309 241 346 67 98 1,061 3 7 1,065
Expected credit losses/
provision for credit losses................. 3 (20) (14) ?3) 3 (21) (51) 1 (71)
306 251 360 70 95 1,082 48 6 1,136
Operating eXpenses...........c.ccceueueee. 325 151 216 61 532 1,285 9) 6 1,282
Profit (loss) before income tax
EXPENSE. ..vvcvereereseseseiseeeeseeseseens $ (199 $ 100 $ 14 $ 9 $ (437) $ (203) $ 57 % — $ (246)
Balances at end of period: -
JLECEE I == = o $18533 $24421 ¢ 85481 $7356 $ 77,074 $ 212865 $  (30830) $ — $ 182,035
Total loans, net. 16,665 23,402 18,100 6,132 1,791 66,090 (683) 1,332 66,739
GOOAWIll ...t 581 358 — 321 — 1,260 347 — 1,607
Total depoSitS.......coceveerereeieriririereens 34,822 23,573 33,778 7,970 3,635 103,778 (2,803) 16,978 117,953

@ Represents adjustments associated with differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis.
@ Represents differencesin financial statement presentation between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis.

16. Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements

Bank dividends are one of the sources of funds used for payment of shareholder dividends and other HSBC USA cash needs.
Approval from the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC") isrequired if the total of all dividends HSBC Bank USA
declaresin any year exceeds the cumulative net income for that year, combined with the net income for the two preceding years
reduced by dividends attributable to those years. OCC approval also is required for a reduction of permanent capital of HSBC
Bank USA. Under a separate restriction, payment of dividends is prohibited in amounts greater than undivided profits then on
hand, after deducting actual |ossesand bad debts. Bad debts are debts due and unpaid for aperiod of six monthsunlesswell secured,
as defined, and in the process of collection.
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In early 2019, HSBC Bank USA's Board of Directors approved a common stock return of capital of $2.4 billion to HSBC USA
and HSBC USA's Board of Directors approved a distribution on its common stock of $2.4 billion from surplus capital to HSBC
North America, which were paid in February 2019.

HSBC Bank USA is also required to maintain reserve balances either in the form of vault cash or on deposit with the Federal
Reserve Bank, based on a percentage of deposits. At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, HSBC Bank USA was required to
maintain $2,237 million and $2,205 million, respectively, of reserve balances with the Federal Reserve Bank which are reported
within interest bearing deposits with banks on the consolidated balance sheet.

We are subject to regulatory capital rulesissued by U.S. banking regulatorsincluding Basel [11 (the"Basel 111 rul€"). Thefollowing
table summarizes the capital amounts and ratios of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA, calculated in accordance with the Basel
Il rule at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Capital Well-Capitalized Actual Capital Well-Capitalized Actual
Amount Ratio® Ratio Amount Ratio® Ratio

(dollars are in millions)
Common equity Tier 1 ratio:

HSBC USA ..o $ 15374 45% @  11.9% $ 17,459 45% @  13.6%

HSBC Bank USA.......ccccoeevvveerenen. 17,376 6.5 13.9 19,456 6.5 15.7
Tier 1 capital ratio:

HSBCUSA ... 16,639 6.0 12.9 18,724 6.0 14.6

HSBC Bank USA.......ccccccevvveeiee. 19,876 8.0 15.9 21,956 8.0 17.7
Total capital ratio:

HSBCUSA ..., 20,059 10.0 15.6 21,972 10.0 17.2

HSBC Bank USA.......ccccoeeevvvieerenen. 23,248 10.0 18.6 25,293 10.0 204
Tier 1 leverageratio:

HSBC USA .ooooeveeeeeereeeeeeeseesseses 16,639 40 @ 96 18,724 40 @ 110

HSBC Bank USA.......ccccocevvieeieen. 19,876 5.0 11.7 21,956 5.0 131
Supplementary leverage ratio ("SLR"):

HSBC USA ..o 16,639 30 @ 67 18,724 30 @ 76

HSBC Bank USA........evverereeernerrn. 19,876 30 @ 82 21,956 30 @ a1
Risk-weighted assets:

HSBCUSA.....co e 128,729 127,917

HSBC Bank USA.......ccccocevvveeieen. 125,217 124,112
Adjusted quarterly average assets:®

HSBC USA ..o eeeeeesseesssenens 173,253 170,565

HSBC Bank USA.......ccccoeevvveeirenen. 170,139 168,154
Total leverage exposure:©.....................

HSBC USA ooooveoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeseennenns 247,547 245,796

HSBC Bank USA.......ccccocevvieeieee. 242,946 242,264

@ HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA are categorized as "well-capitalized,” as defined by their principal regulators. To be categorized aswell-capitalized under
regulatory guidelines, abanking institution must have theratiosreflected in the above tabl e, and must not be subject to adirective, order, or written agreement
to meet and maintain specific capital levels.

@ There are no common equity Tier 1 or Tier 1 leverage ratio components in the definition of awell-capitalized bank holding company. The ratios shown are
the regulatory minimum ratios.

®  Thereisno SLR component in the definition of awell-capitalized banking institution. The ratios shown are the regulatory minimum ratios.

@ Calculated using the generally-applicable Standardized Approach.

®  Representsthe Tier 1 leverage ratio denominator which reflects quarterly average assets adjusted for amounts permitted to be deducted from Tier 1 capital.
©®  Represents the SLR denominator which includes adjusted quarterly average assets plus certain off-balance sheet exposures.
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17. Variable Interest Entities

In the ordinary course of business, we have organized special purpose entities ("SPES") primarily to structure financial products
to meet our clients investment needs, to facilitate clients to access and raise financing from capital markets and to securitize
financial assets held to meet our own funding needs. For disclosure purposes, we aggregate SPEs based on the purpose, risk
characteristics and business activities of the SPEs. An SPE isa VIE if it lacks sufficient equity investment at risk to finance its
activities without additional subordinated financial support or, as a group, the holders of the equity investment at risk lack either
a) the power through voting or similar rightsto direct the activities of theentity that most significantly impactsthe entity'seconomic
performance; or b) the obligation to absorb the entity's expected losses, the right to receive the expected residual returns, or both.

Variable Interest Entities We consolidate VIEs in which we hold a controlling financial interest as evidenced by the power to
direct the activities of aVIE that most significantly impact its economic performance and the obligation to absorb losses of, or the
right to receive benefits from, the VIE that could potentially be significant to the VIE and therefore are deemed to be the primary
beneficiary. We take into account our entire involvement in a VIE (explicit or implicit) in identifying variable interests that
individually or inthe aggregate coul d be significant enough to warrant our designation asthe primary beneficiary and hencerequire
us to consolidate the VIE or otherwise require us to make appropriate disclosures. We consider our involvement to be potentially
significant where we, among other things, (i) enter into derivative contracts to absorb the risks and benefits from the VIE or from
the assets held by the VIE; (ii) provide afinancial guarantee that covers assets held or liabilitiesissued by aVIE; (iii) sponsor the
VIE in that we design, organize and structure the transaction; and (iv) retain afinancial or servicing interest in the VIE.

We are required to evaluate whether to consolidate a VIE when we first become involved and on an ongoing basis. In almost all
cases, aqualitative analysis of our involvement in the entity provides sufficient evidence to determine whether we are the primary
beneficiary. In rare cases, a more detailed analysis to quantify the extent of variability to be absorbed by each variable interest
holder isrequired to determine the primary beneficiary.

Consolidated VIEs Thefollowing table summarizes assets and liabilities related to our consolidated VIEs at March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018 which areconsolidated on our balance sheet. Assetsand liabilitiesexcludeintercompany balancesthat eliminate
in consolidation.

March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated Consolidated
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities
(in millions)
Low income housing limited liability partnership:
(@)1 1= =5 =: £ $ 106 $ — % 112 $ —
LoNG-term debt..........cvreeiiee e — 66 — 66
Interest, taxes and other liabilities........cccoovvveeveececicciceece e, — 36 — 37
0= TR $ 106 $ 102 % 112  $ 103

Low income housing limited liability partnership In 2009, al low income housing investments held by us at the time were
transferred to a Limited Liability Partnership ("LLP") in exchange for debt and equity while a third party invested cash for an
equity interest that is mandatorily redeemable at afuture date. The LL P was created in order to ensure the utilization of future tax
benefits from these low income housing tax projects. The LLP was deemed to be a VIE as it does not have sufficient equity
investment at risk to finance its activities. Upon entering into this transaction, we concluded that we are the primary beneficiary
of the LLP due to the nature of our continuing involvement and, as aresult, we consolidate the LLP and report the equity interest
issued to thethird party investor in other liabilities and the assets of the LLPin other assets on our consolidated balance sheet. The
investments held by the LLP represent equity investmentsin the underlying low income housing partnerships. The LL P does not
consolidate the underlying partnerships because it does not have the power to direct the activities of the partnerships that most
significantly impact the economic performance of the partnerships.

Asapractica expedient, we amortize our low income housing investments in proportion to the allocated tax benefits under the
proportional amortization method and present the associated tax benefits net of investment amortization in income tax expense.
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Unconsolidated VIEs We also have variable interests in other VIES that are not consolidated because we are not the primary
beneficiary. The following table provides additional information on these unconsolidated VIEs, including the variable interests
held by us and our maximum exposure to loss arising from our involvementsin these VIEs, at March 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018:

Total Assets Carrying Value of Variable Interests

Held by Held Reported as Maximum
UncoC/sloEllsdated Assets Liabilities Etépﬁgl;sre
(in millions)
At March 31, 2019
Structured Note VENICIES.........cceecveiiieecee e $ 1527 $ 510 $ 12 $ 1,515
Limited partnership investments...........coceoveeveeenenenencnienenns 2,010 473 234 543
TOLEL ...ttt $ 3537 $ 983 $ 246 $ 2,058
At December 31, 2018
Structured NOtE VENICIES.........ccvveeirieeeeee e $ 3033 $ 1,803 $ 20 $ 3,003
Limited partnership investments...........cccoeevveerreneseseseneens 1,578 454 209 454
Lo L¢P $ 4611 $ 2257 $ 229 $ 3,457

Information on the types of VIEs with which we are involved, the nature of our involvement and the variable interests held in
those entities is presented below.

Structured note vehicles We provide derivatives, such as interest rate and currency swaps, to structured note vehicles and, in
certain instances, invest in the vehicles debt instruments. We hold variable interests in these structured note vehicles in the form
of total return swaps under which we take on the risks and benefits of the structured notes they issue. The same risks and benefits
are passed on to third party entities through back-end total return swaps. We earn a spread for facilitating the transaction. Since
we do not have the power to direct the activities of the VIE and are not the primary beneficiary, we do not consolidate them. Our
maximum exposure to loss is the notional amount of the derivatives wrapping the structured notes. The maximum exposure to
loss of $1,515 million at March 31, 2019 will occur in the unlikely scenario where the value of the structured notes is reduced to
zero and, at the same time, the counterparty of the back-end swap defaults with zero recovery. In certain instances, we hold credit
default swaps with the structured note vehicles under which we receive credit protection on specified reference assetsin exchange
for the payment of a premium. Through these derivatives, the vehicles assume the credit risk associated with the reference assets
which are then passed on to the holders of the debt instruments they issue. Because they create rather than absorb variability, the
credit default swaps we hold are not considered variable interests. We record all investments in, and derivative contracts with,
unconsolidated structured note vehicles at fair value on our consolidated balance sheet.

During thefirst quarter of 2019, one of the structured note vehicles was unwound and our investment in the structured note vehicle
along with the related derivatives were terminated. As a result, we recognized a loss of approximately $39 million, reflecting a
payment made to the derivative counterparty asaresult of the termination. At the time of unwind, our investment in the structured
note vehicle had atota carrying value of $1,293 million, which was recorded in trading assets on the consolidated balance sheet.

Limited partnership investments Weinvest asalimited partner in partnershipsthat operate qualified affordable housing, renewable
energy and community development projects. The returns of these investments are generated primarily from the tax benefits,
including Federal tax creditsand tax deductionsfrom operating | ossesin the project companies. |naddition, someof theinvestments
also help us comply with the Community Reinvestment Act. Certain limited partnership structures are considered to be VIEs
because either (a) they do not have sufficient equity investment at risk or (b) the limited partners with equity at risk do not have
substantive kick-out rights through voting rights or substantive participating rights over the genera partner. As alimited partner,
we are not the primary beneficiary of the VIEs and do not consolidate them. Our investments in these partnerships are recorded
in other assets on the consolidated bal ance sheet. The maximum exposure to loss shown in the tabl e above represents our recorded
investments.

Third-party sponsored securitization entities We invest in asset-backed securities issued by third party sponsored securitization
entitieswhich may be considered VIEs. Theinvestments are transacted at arm's-length and decisionsto invest are based on acredit
analysis of the underlying collateral assets or the issuer. We are a passive investor in these issuers and do not have the power to
direct the activities of theseissuers. As such, we do not consolidate these securitization entities. Additionally, we do not have other
involvementsin servicing or managing thecollateral assetsor providefinancial or liquidity support totheseissuerswhich potentially
giverisetorisk of lossexposure. Theseinvestmentsare anintegral part of thedisclosurein Note 2, " Trading Assetsand Liabilities,”
Note 3, "Securities," and Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements," and, therefore, are not disclosed in this note to avoid redundancy.
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18. Guarantee Arrangements, Pledged Assets and Repurchase Agreements

Guarantee Arrangements Aspart of our normal operations, weenter into credit derivativesand various off-bal ance sheet guarantee
arrangements with affiliates and third parties. These arrangements arise principaly in connection with our lending and client
intermediation activities and include standby letters of credit and certain credit derivative transactions. The contractual amounts
of these arrangements represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that we are required to fulfill the maximum
obligation under the contractual terms of the guarantee.

The following table presents total carrying value and contractual amounts of our sell protection credit derivatives and major off-
balance sheet guarantee arrangementsat March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. Following thetableisadescription of thevarious
arrangements.

March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Notional / Notional /
Maximum Maximum
Carrying Exposure to Carrying Exposure to
Value Loss Value Loss
(in millions)
Credit deriVativVES™@ ... $ (266) $ 55005 $  (562) $ 45,384
Financial standby letters of credit, net of participations®®............cco......... — 5,479 — 5,302
Performance standby |letters of credit, net of participations®® .................. — 3,472 — 3,670
o = SR $ (266) $ 63,956 $ (562) $ 54,356

@ Includes $32,510 million and $25,734 million of notional issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

@ For credit derivatives, the maximum loss is represented by the notional amounts without consideration of mitigating effects from collateral or recourse
arrangements.

®  Includes $1,414 million and $1,321 million of both financial and performance standby letters of credit issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at March
31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

@ For standby letters of credit, maximum loss represents losses to be recognized assuming the letters of credit have been fully drawn and the obligors have
defaulted with zero recovery.

Credit-Risk Related Guarantees

Credit derivatives Credit derivativesarefinancia instrumentsthat transfer the credit risk of areference obligation from the credit
protection buyer to the credit protection seller who is exposed to the credit risk without buying the reference obligation. We sell
credit protection on underlying reference obligations (such as loans or securities) by entering into credit derivatives, primarily in
theform of credit default swaps, with various institutions. We account for all credit derivatives at fair value. Where we sell credit
protectionto acounterparty that holdsthe reference obligation, the arrangement iseffectively afinancial guarantee on thereference
obligation. Under acredit derivative contract, the credit protection seller will reimbursethe credit protection buyer upon occurrence
of acredit event (such as bankruptcy, insolvency, restructuring or failure to meet payment obligations when due) as defined in the
derivative contract, in return for a periodic premium. Upon occurrence of a credit event, we will pay the counterparty the stated
notional amount of the derivative contract and receive the underlying reference obligation. The recovery value of the reference
obligation received could be significantly lower than its notional principal amount when a credit event occurs.

Certain derivative contracts are subject to master netting arrangements and related collateral agreements. A party to a derivative
contract may demand that the counterparty post additional collateral in the event its net exposure exceeds certain predetermined
limits and when the credit rating falls below a certain grade. We set the collateral requirements by counterparty such that the
collateral covers various transactions and products, and is not allocated to specific individual contracts.
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We manage our exposure to credit derivatives using a variety of risk mitigation strategies where we enter into offsetting hedge
positions or transfer the economic risks, in part or in entirety, to investors through the issuance of structured credit products. We
actively manage the credit and market risk exposure in the credit derivative portfolios on a net basis and, as such, retain no or a
limited net position at any time. The following table summarizes our net credit derivative positions at March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018:

March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Carrying / Fair Carrying / Fair
Value Notional Value Notional
(in millions)
Sell-protection credit derivative poSitions............coovvininniin, $ (266) $ 55,005 $ (562) $ 45,384
Buy-protection credit derivative poSitions..........cccceveveeeevenienenieniennnns 324 62,220 601 51,914
NEL POSIIOND ...t e e enene $ 58 $ 7,215 $ 39 $ 6,530

@ positionsare presented net in thetabl e aboveto provide acomplete analysisof our risk exposure and depict theway we manage our credit derivative portfolio.
The offset of the sell-protection credit derivatives against the buy-protection credit derivatives may not be legally binding in the absence of master netting
agreements with the same counterparty. Furthermore, the credit loss triggering events for individual sell protection credit derivatives may not be the same
or occur in the same period as those of the buy protection credit derivatives thereby not providing an exact offset.

Standby letters of credit A standby letter of credit isissued to athird party for the benefit of a client and is a guarantee that the
client will perform or satisfy certain obligations under a contract. It irrevocably obligates usto pay a specified amount to the third
party beneficiary if theclient fail sto perform the contractual obligation. Weissuetwo typesof standby lettersof credit: performance
andfinancial. A performance standby | etter of credit isissued wheretheclient isrequired to perform somenon-financial contractual
obligation, such as the performance of a specific act, whereas a financial standby letter of credit is issued where the client's
contractual obligation is of afinancial nature, such as the repayment of aloan or debt instrument.

Theissuance of a standby letter of credit is subject to our credit approval process and collateral requirements. We charge fees for
issuing lettersof credit commensuratewith the client'scredit eval uation and the nature of any collateral. Included in other liabilities
are deferred fees on standby letters of credit amounting to $44 million and $43 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively. Also included in other liabilitiesis an allowance for credit losses on unfunded standby letters of credit of $17 million
and $16 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

The following table summarizes the credit ratings related to guarantees including the ratings of counterparties against which we
sold credit protection and financia standby letters of credit at March 31, 2019 as an indicative proxy of payment risk:

Credit Ratings of the Obligors

Average
Life Investment Non-Investment
Notional/Contractual Amounts (in years) Grade Grade Total
(dollars are in millions)

Sell-protection Credit Derivatives

Single name credit default swaps ("CDS")..ccccoveevvvvvvvvenennnn, 34 $ 29,000 $ 12582 $ 41,672

Index credit deriVatiVeS ... ..o 43 5,367 6,627 11,994

Total FEUMN SWAPS.....ccuv e et 25 1,075 264 1,339
ST 1o = DO 35,532 19,473 55,005
Standby Letters of Credit® ............oooooveoeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeeesee e 1.2 7,391 1,560 8,951
e = S $ 42923 $ 21,033 $ 63,956

@ The credit ratings in the table represent external credit ratings for classification asinvestment grade and non-investment grade.

@ External ratings for most of the obligors are not available. Presented above are the internal credit ratings which are developed using similar methodologies
and rating scale equivalent to external credit ratings for purposes of classification as investment grade and non-investment grade.

Our interna credit ratings are determined based on HSBC's risk rating systems and processes which assign a credit grade based
on ascale which ranks the risk of default of aclient. The credit grades are assigned and used for managing risk and determining
level of credit exposure appetite based on the client's operating performance, liquidity, capital structure and debt service ability.
In addition, we also incorporate subjective judgments into the risk rating process concerning such things as industry trends,
comparison of performancetoindustry peersand perceived quality of management. We compare our internal risk ratingsto outside
externa rating agency benchmarks, where possible, at the time of formal review and regularly monitor whether our risk ratings
are comparable to the external ratings benchmark data.
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A non-investment grade rating of areferenced obligor has a negative impact to the fair value of the credit derivative and increases
the likelihood that we will be required to perform under the credit derivative contract. We employ market-based parameters and,
where possible, use the observable credit spreads of the referenced obligors as measurement inputs in determining the fair value
of the credit derivatives. We believe that such market parameters are more indicative of the current status of payment/performance
risk than external ratings by the rating agencies which may not be forward-looking in nature and, as a result, lag behind those
market-based indicators.

Non Credit-Risk Related Guarantees and Other Arrangements

Visa covered litigation In 2008, we received Class B Shares as part of Visasinitia public offering ("1PO"). Pursuant to the IPO,
we, along with al the other Class B shareholders, agreed to indemnify Visa for the claims and obligations arising from certain
specific covered litigation. The Class B Shares are not eligible to be converted into publicly traded Class A Shares until settlement
of the covered litigation described in Note 28, "L itigation and Regulatory Matters,” in our 2018 Form 10-K. Accordingly, the Class
B Shares are considered restricted and are only transferable under limited circumstances, which include transfers to other Class
B shareholders.

Beginning in 2016 and into 2017, we sold substantially all of our remaining Visa Class B Shares to athird party. Under the terms
of the sale agreements, we entered into swap agreements with the purchaser to retain the litigation risk associated with the Class
B Shares sold until the related litigation is settled and the Class B Shares can be converted into Class A Shares. These swaps had
acarrying vaue of $42 million and $40 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. The swap agreements
we entered into with the purchaser requires usto (a) make periodic payments, calculated by reference to the market price of Class
A Shares and (b) make or receive payments based on subsequent changes in the conversion rate of Class B Sharesinto Class A
Shares. In 2017, we entered into atotal return swap position to economically hedge the periodic payments made under these swap
agreements. The payments under the derivative will continue until the Class B Shares are able to be converted into ClassA Shares.
The fair value of the swap agreements is estimated using a discounted cash flow methodology and is dependent upon the final
resolution of the related litigation. Changes in fair value between periods are recognized in other income (loss). See Note 9,
"Derivative Financial Instruments," for further information.

Clearing houses and exchanges We are a member of various exchanges and clearing houses that trade and clear securities and/
or derivatives contracts. Under the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010, members of aclearing
house may be required to contribute to a guaranty fund to backstop members' obligations to the clearing house. As a member, we
may be required to pay a proportionate share of the financial obligations of another member who defaults on its obligations to the
exchange or the clearing house. Our guarantee obligations would arise only if the exchange or clearing house had exhausted its
resources. Any potential contingent liability under these membership agreements cannot be estimated.

Lease Obligations We are obligated under a number of noncancellable operating leases for premises and equipment. See Note 8,
"Leases," for afull discussion of our leases, including a maturity analysis of our operating lease liabilities.

Mortgage Loan Repurchase Obligations We have provided various representations and warranties related to the origination and
sale of mortgage loans including, among other things, the ownership of the loans, the validity of the liens, the loan selection and
origination process, and the compliance to the origination criteria established by the government agencies. In the event of abreach
of our representations and warranties, we may be obligated to repurchase the loans with identified defects or to indemnify the
buyers. Our contractual obligation arises only when the breach of representations and warranties are discovered and repurchase
is demanded. From 2013 to 2017, we sold agency-€ligible mortgage loan originations directly to PHH Mortgage Corporation and
they areresponsiblefor origination representationsand warrantiesfor al suchloans. With theinsourcing of our mortgageful fillment
operations, beginning with 2018 applications, we are now responsiblefor origination representations and warrantiesfor all agency-
eligible mortgage |oan originations sold to third parties.

In estimating our repurchase liability arising from breaches of representations and warranties, we consider historical losses on
residual risks not covered by settlement agreements adjusted for any risk factors not captured in the historical losses aswell asthe
level of outstanding repurchase demands received. Outstanding repurchase demands received totaled $3 million and $2 million at
March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

There were no changes in our estimated repurchase liability during both the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 for
obligations arising from the breach of representations and warranties associated with mortgage loans sold.

Our repurchase liability of $8 million at March 31, 2019 represents our best estimate of the loss that has been incurred, including
interest, arising from breaches of representati ons and warranti es associ ated with mortgage loans sold. Becausethelevel of mortgage
loan repurchase losses is dependent upon economic factors, investor demand strategies and other external risk factors such as
housing market trendsthat may change, thelevel of theliability for mortgage |oan repurchase losses requires significant judgment.
We continue to evaluate our methods of determining the best estimate of loss based on recent trends. As these estimates are
influenced by factors outside our control, there is uncertainty inherent in these estimates making it reasonably possible that they
could change. The range of reasonably possible losses in excess of our recorded repurchase liability is between zero and $25
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millionat March 31, 2019. Thisestimated range of reasonably possi bl el osseswas determined based upon modifying theassumptions
utilized in our best estimate of probable losses to reflect what we believe to be reasonably possible adverse assumptions.

Securitization Activity Inaddition to the repurchase risk described above, we have also been involved as a sponsor/seller of loans
used to facilitate whole loan securitizations underwritten by our affiliate, HSI. In this regard, we began acquiring residential
mortgage loans in 2005 which were warehoused on our balance sheet with the intent of selling them to HSl to facilitate HSI's
wholeloan securitization program which was discontinued in 2007. During 2005-2007, we purchased and sold $24 billion of such
loansto HSI which were subsequently securitized and sold by HSI to third parties. See "Mortgage Securitization Matters' in Note
28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K for additional discussion of related exposure. The outstanding
principal balance on these loans was approximately $3.7 billion and $3.8 billion at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively.

Pledged Assets

Pledged assets included in the consolidated balance sheet consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018
(in millions)

Interest bearing depoSItS With DANKS .........c.coiiiiiiiiiie e $ 2,176 $ 3,225
TEAOING BSSELSY ...ttt ee e s ee e es e ee e es e eeees e seeenee 2,845 2,465
Securities availabl@-fOr-SAED ..........ccoovvueceveceveecse e 7,631 7,440
SECUItIES NEIG-O-MBEUMEY @ ... en e 2,341 1,747
LOBNS™ ..ot 18,546 18,189
OhEr BSSEIS™ ........ooooecveece s 1,835 2,289
o R $ 35374 $ 35355

@ Trading assets are primarily pledged against liabilities associated with repurchase agreements.
@ Securitiesare primarily pledged against derivatives, public fund deposits, trust depositsand various short-term and long term borrowings, aswell asproviding
capacity for potential secured borrowings from the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York.

®  Loans are primarily residential mortgage loans pledged against current and potential borrowings from the FHLB and the Federal Reserve Bank of New
York.
@ Other assets represent cash on deposit with non-banks related to derivative collateral support agreements.

Debt securities pledged as collateral under repurchase agreements that can be sold or repledged by the secured party continue to
be reported on the consolidated balance sheet. The fair value of securities available-for-sale that could be sold or repledged was
$1,201 million and $822 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. The fair value of trading assets that
could be sold or repledged was $2,707 million and $2,464 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Thefair value of collateral we accepted under security resale agreements but was not reported on the consolidated balance sheet
was $11,208 million and $13,004 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Of this collateral, $10,158
million and $11,904 million could be sold or repledged at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, of which $3,633
million and $243 million, respectively, had been sold or repledged as collateral under repurchase agreements or to cover short
sales.

Repurchase Agreements

We enter into purchases of securities under agreements to resell (resale agreements) and sales of securities under agreements to
repurchase (repurchase agreements) identical or substantially the same securities. Resal e and repurchase agreements are accounted
for as secured lending and secured borrowing transactions, respectively.

Repurchase agreements may require us to deposit cash or other collateral with the lender. In connection with resale agreements,
itisour policy to obtain possession of collateral, which may include the securities purchased, with market value in excess of the
principal amount loaned. The market value of the collateral subject to the resale and repurchase agreementsisregularly monitored,
and additional collateral is obtained or provided when appropriate, to ensure appropriate collateral coverage of these secured
financing transactions.
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Thefollowing table provides information about resale and repurchase agreements that are subject to offset at March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018:

Gross Amounts Not Offset in the
Balance Sheet

Gross Gross Amounts Net Amounts Cash Collateral
Amounts Offset in the Presented in the Financial Received /
Recognized Balance Sheet™® Balance Sheet Instruments® Pledged Net Amount®
(in millions)
At March 31, 2019
Assets:
Securities purchased under
resale agreements............. $ 10,498 $ 3574 % 6,924 $ 6,918 $ — 3 6
Liabilities:
Securities sold under
repurchase agreements..... $ 7,288 $ 3574 % 3,714 $ 3,712 $ — 3 2
At December 31, 2018
Assets:
Securities purchased under
resale agreements............. $ 1203 $ 1,867 $ 10,168 $ 10,165 $ — $ 3
Liabilities:
Securities sold under
repurchase agreements..... $ 3333 % 1,867 $ 1466 $ 1458 $ — $ 8

@ Represents recognized amount of resale and repurchase agreements with counterparties subject to legally enforceable netting agreements that meet the
applicable netting criteria as permitted by generally accepted accounting principles.
Represents securities received or pledged to cover financing transaction exposures.

Represents the amount of our exposure that is not collateralized / covered by pledged collateral.

@)
(©)]

Thefollowingtableprovidestheclassof collateral pledged and remaining contractual maturity of repurchase agreementsaccounted
for as secured borrowings at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

Overnight Greater
and Up to 30 31to 90 91 Days to Than One
Continuous Days Days One Year Year Total
(in millions)
At March 31, 2019
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government sponsored and
U.S. Government agency Securities............c.o..... $ 5810 $ 253 $ 93 $ 500 $ 500 $ 7,156
Foreign debt SeCUrities.........ccevvevveveevecieieeeece 16 116 — — — 132
Total repurchase agreements accounted for as
secured borrowWingsS.........cccoeeeveeecieeeeieeeeee e $ 5826 $ 369 $ 93 $ 500 $ 500 $ 7,288
At December 31, 2018
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government sponsored and
U.S. Government agency Securities...........cco...... $ 1,773 $ 369 $ — $ 191 $ 1000 $ 3,333
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19. Fair Value Measurements

Accounting principles related to fair value measurements provide a framework for measuring fair value that focuses on the exit
price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer aliability in the principal market (or in the absence of the principal
market, the most advantageous market) accessible in an orderly transaction between willing market participants (the "Fair Value
Framework™). Where required by the applicable accounting standards, assets and liabilities are measured at fair value using the
"highest and best use" valuation premise. Fair value measurement guidance clarifies that financia instruments do not have
alternative use and, assuch, thefair value of financial instruments should be determined using an "in-exchange" valuation premise.
However, the fair value measurement literature provides a valuation exception and permits an entity to measure the fair value of
agroup of financial assets and financial liabilities with offsetting credit risks and/or market risks based on the exit price it would
receive or pay to transfer the net risk exposure of agroup of assets or liabilitiesif certain conditions are met. We elected to apply
the measurement exception to agroup of derivativeinstrumentswith offsetting credit risks and market risks, which primarily relate
to interest rate, foreign currency, debt and equity price risk, and commodity pricerisk as of the reporting date.

Fair Value Adjustments The best evidence of fair value is quoted market price in an actively traded market, where available. In
the event listed price or market quotes are not availabl e, val uation techniques that incorporate rel evant transaction data and market
parametersreflecting the attributes of theasset or liability under consideration are applied. Where applicable, fair value adjustments
are made to ensure the financial instruments are appropriately recorded at fair value. The fair value adjustments reflect the risks
associated with the products, contractual terms of the transactions, and the liquidity of the marketsin which the transactions occur.
The fair value adjustments are broadly categorized by the following major types:

Credit valuation adjustment - Thecredit val uation adjustment isan adjustment to agroup of financial assetsand financial liabilities,
predominantly derivative assets and derivative liabilities, to reflect the credit quality of the partiesto the transaction in arriving at
fair value. A credit valuation adjustment to a financial asset is required to reflect the default risk of the counterparty. A debit
valuation adjustment to afinancial liability isrecorded to reflect the default risk of HUSI. See"Valuation Techniques - Derivatives"
below for additional details.

Liquidity risk adjustment - Theliquidity risk adjustment (primarily in the form of bid-offer adjustment) reflects the cost that would
be incurred to close out the market risks by hedging, disposing or unwinding the position. Valuation models generally produce
mid-market values. The bid-offer adjustment is made in such away that results in a measure that reflects the exit price that most
represents the fair value of the financial asset or financial liability under consideration or, where applicable, the fair value of the
net market risk exposure of agroup of financial assets or financial liabilities. These adjustmentsrelate primarily to Level 2 assets.

Model valuation adjustment - Wherefair value measurementsare determined using an internal val uation model based on observable
and unobservable inputs, certain valuation inputs may be less readily determinable. There may be a range of possible valuation
inputs that market participants may assume in determining the fair value measurement. The resultant fair value measurement has
inherent measurement risk if one or more parameters are unobservable and must be estimated. An input valuation adjustment is
necessary to reflect the likelihood that market participants may use different input parameters, and to mitigate the possibility of
measurement error. In addition, the values derived from valuation techniques are affected by the choice of valuation model and
model limitation. When different val uation techniques are avail abl e, the choice of valuation model can be subjective. Furthermore,
the valuation model applied may have measurement limitations. In those cases, an additional valuation adjustment is also applied
to mitigate the measurement risk. Model valuation adjustments are not material and relate primarily to Level 2 instruments.

We apply stress scenariosin determining appropriate liquidity risk and model risk adjustmentsfor Level 3fair valuesby reviewing
thehistorical datafor unobservableinputs(e.g., correlation, vol atility). Somestressscenariosinvolveat | east a95 percent confidence
interval (i.e., two standard deviations). We a so utilize unobservable parameter adjustments when instruments are valued using
internally devel oped models which reflects the uncertainty in the value estimates provided by the model.

Funding Fair Value Adjustment ("FFVA™) - The FFVA reflects the estimated present value of the future market funding cost or
benefit associated with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure at rates other than the Overnight Indexed Swap ("OIS") rate.
See "Valuation Techniques - Derivatives' below for additional details.

Fair Value Hierarchy The Fair Value Framework establishes athree-tiered fair value hierarchy asfollows:
Level 1 quoted market price - Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 valuation technique using observable inputs - Level 2 inputsinclude quoted pricesfor similar assets or liabilitiesin active
markets, quoted pricesfor identical or similar assetsor liabilitiesin marketsthat areinactive, and measurements determined using
valuation model swhereall significant inputsare observable, such asinterest ratesand yield curvesthat are observable at commonly
quoted intervals.

Level 3valuation technique with significant unobservable inputs - Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or liability
and include situations where fair values are measured using valuation techniques based on one or more significant unobservable
inputs.
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Classification within the fair value hierarchy is based on whether the lowest hierarchical level input that is significant to the fair
value measurement is observable. As such, the classification within the fair value hierarchy is dynamic and can be transferred to
other hierarchy levelsin each reporting period.

Where fair value measurements are determined based on information obtained from independent pricing services or brokers,
Finance applies appropriate validation procedures to substantiate fair value. For price validation purposes, quotationsfrom at least
two independent pricing sources are obtained for each financial instrument, where possible.

The following factors are considered in determining fair values:
» similarities between the asset or the liability under consideration and the asset or liability for which quotation is received;
»  collaboration of pricing by referencingto other independent market datasuch asmarket transactionsand rel evant benchmark
indices,
e consistency among different pricing sources,
» thevaluation approach and the methodol ogies used by the independent pricing sources in determining fair value;
» the elapsed time between the date to which the market data relates and the measurement date;
» the source of the fair value information; and
*  whether the security istraded in an active or inactive market.

Greater weight is given to quotations of instruments with recent market transactions, pricing quotes from deal ers who stand ready
to transact, quotations provided by market-makers who structured such instrument and market consensus pricing based on inputs
from a large number of survey participants. Any significant discrepancies among the externa quotations are reviewed and
adjustmentsto fair values are recorded where appropriate. Where the transaction volume of a specific instrument has been reduced
and thefair value measurement becomes|esstransparent, Finance will apply moredetailed proceduresto understand and challenge
the appropriateness of the unobservable inputs and the vauation techniques used by the independent pricing service. Where
applicable, Finance will develop afair value estimate using its own pricing model inputs to test reasonableness. Where fair value
measurementsaredetermined usinginternal val uationmodels, Financewill validatethefair valuemeasurement by either devel oping
unobservable inputs based on the industry consensus pricing surveys in which we participate or back testing by observing the
actual settlements occurring soon after the measurement date.
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Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Recurring Basis The following table presents information about our assets
and liabilities measured at fair value on arecurring basis at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, and indicates the fair value
hierarchy of the valuation techniques utilized to determine such fair value. Unless otherwise noted below, assets and liabilitiesin
the following table are recorded at fair value through net income (loss).

Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
March 31, 2019 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting™ Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Securities purchased under agreementsto resell® ..........oococovevoreevoreern. $ — 3 9%1 $ — 3 9%1 $ — 3 961
Trading assets, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 5,524 173 — 5697 $ — 5,697
Asset-backed securities:
Collateralized debt obligations............cccoveeiinneennrecrre e — — 90 90 — 90
Residential MOMQageS ........ccrvreeuereririeeresieeeres et — — 16 16 — 16
SHUENE IOANS ..ot — — 95 95 — 95
Corporate and other domestic debt SECUMtIES........cccoviveererereierriecieiene — — 510 510 — 510
Debt securities issued by foreign entities..........cccovevennncicnncccncsneene 10,519 163 — 10,682 — 10,682
EQUILY SECUMTIES ...ttt s 888 — — 888 — 888
Precious MetalStrading ........cococoeeerreirineeree e — 5,127 — 5,127 — 5,127
Derivatives®
INEErest rat COMIACES..........cvvvreeiririirires e 6 10,229 7 10,242 — 10,242
Foreign exchange CONLractS.........ccoreirrieiireeeere e 3 13,604 2 13,609 — 13,609
EQUILY CONETACLS.....c.cieeieiirieieireeie ettt — 3,285 195 3,480 — 3,480
Precious Metals CONIaCES ........ccciveieiicireereereere e 272 471 — 743 — 743
Credit CONLIACS........cevireiereeeierie s — 1,092 79 1,171 — 1171
Other CONLIACESD ..o eeee e seessss s seseees s — — 5 5 — 5
DENVAIVES NELING ...c.cvvevecieieicieeceee s — — — — (26,099) (26,099)
TOtAl JENIVALIVES......ceveeniieireee bbb 281 28,681 288 29,250 (26,099) 3,151
Securities available-for-sale:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 16,621 12,474 — 29,095 — 29,095
Asset-backed securities:
HOME EOUILY ...ttt — 38 — 38 — 38
OLNEY ...ttt — — 109 109 — 109
Debt securities issued by foreign entities..........cocovevennrcicnncccnsceene 2,185 613 — 2,798 — 2,798
L0BNSY ettt eeesssss e — 98 — 98 — 98
OLNEN @SSELS: ...
EQUILY SECUMEIES ...cueveiieeie et — 190 — 190 — 190
Equity Securities measured at net asset value® ..........ooo.coovveenreecenneiinnes — — — 96 — 96
OEND ..ot — — 4 4 — 4
TOLAl BSSELS.....ueveeenrieteereeie et $ 36018 $ 48518 $ 1112 $ 85744 $ (26,099) $ 59,645
Liabilities: -
DOMESHC AEPOSIEEY......oooeeeeereeeesee s sseenen $ — $ 7516 $ 949 $ 8465 $ — $ 8465
Trading liabilities, excluding derivatives............cocoeenreennineienreienenieens 687 38 — 725 — 725
Derivatives®
INEErest rate COMIACES..........cvvvreiririire s 17 11,223 — 11,240 — 11,240
Foreign exchange CONLractS.........cooreirrieeiirne s 18 13,108 3 13,129 — 13,129
EQUILY CONETACES.....c.cieieiirieieiseeieersie ettt s — 2,698 171 2,869 — 2,869
Precious Metals CONIaCES ........ccciiiieireereereereere e 99 607 — 706 — 706
Credit CONLIACS........cveveiierieieiie s — 1,111 26 1,137 — 1,137
Other CONLIACESD ..o seessssessesseseees s — — 42 42 — 42
DENVAIVES NELING ...c.cvviveecicieicieeeee s — — — — (25,820) (25,820)
TOtEl EMTVALIVES ...t 134 28,747 242 29,123 (25,820) 3,303
ShOrt-terM BOFFOWINGS™Y ....eooeeeeeeeereee s ssesseeeen — 191 — 191 — 191
LONG-LErM AEBED ..o — 11,628 453 12,081 — 12,081
Total [1EDIITIES. ..o $ 821 $ 48,120 $ 1644 $ 50585 $ (25820) $ 24,765
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Fair Value Measurements on a Recurring Basis

Gross Net
December 31, 2018 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Balance Netting® Balance
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding derivatives:
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... $ 5368 $ 152 3 — $ 5520 $ — $ 5520
Asset-backed securities:
Collateralized debt obligations.. — — 100 100 — 100
Residential MOrtgages ..........coueriiuireiircenciesieeeeeee e — — 16 16 — 16
SEUAENE 10BNS ...t — — 92 92 — 92
Corporate and other domestic debt securities. — — 1,803 1,803 — 1,803
Debt securities issued by foreign entities..........ccooveeinncienvcenesrene 8,552 207 — 8,759 — 8,759
EQUITY SECUMTIES ...ttt 751 — — 751 — 751
Precious metals trading — 1,889 — 1,889 — 1,889
Derivatives.?
INtErest rate CONLIACES.......cveieiieciiciiee e e 2 10,053 2 10,057 — 10,057
Foreign exchange contracts.. — 15,919 2 15,921 — 15,921
EQUILY CONETACES.....c.eveieeiiieiecreee et — 2,449 97 2,546 — 2,546
Precious MetalS CONIraCtS ........occueerirerueriririee st 16 829 — 845 — 845
Credit contracts... — 883 73 956 — 956
Other contracts® — — 5 5 — 5
DEriVatiVES NEHING ....c.cveuiveiiiiiciiiiicieirieerie bbb — — — — (27,192) (27,192)
Total derivatives 18 30,133 179 30,330 (27,192) 3,138

Securities available-for-sale:®
U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agencies and sponsored enterprises..... 16,198 11,699 — 27,897 — 27,897
Asset-backed securities:

— 42 — 42 — 42
— — 107 107 — 107
2,362 971 — 3,333 — 3,333
— 109 — 109 — 109
EqUity SECUMTIES ..o — 190 — 190 — 190
Equity Securities measured at net asset Value®™ ...........cooo..coovevveenereeennne. — — — 88 — 88
Oher @SSELST........oooeeesvveeeeee st — — 4 4 — 4
Total assets. $ 33249 $ 45392 $ 2301 $ 81,030 $ (27,192) $ 53,838
Liabilities: -
DOMESHC ABPOSIES™........ooeeeeeeeeeeeeeveeeeeeeseee e eeeeees e sesseeeseseeeeesssneees $ — $ 7229 $ 925 $ 8154 $ — $ 8154
Trading liahilities, excluding derivatives 738 215 — 953 — 953
Derivatives:?
INtErest rate CONLIACES.......cueieiieciieiicie e e s 45 11,140 — 11,185 — 11,185
Foreign exchange contracts.. 15 15,715 3 15,733 — 15,733
EQUILY CONETACES.....c.eeeieiiiieiecrieie ettt — 2,717 149 2,866 — 2,866
Precious MetalS CONLIaCtS ........occueerireeeririririe st 274 626 — 900 — 900
Credit contracts... — 926 21 947 — 947
Other contracts™ — — 40 40 — 40
DErVatiVES NEHING .....c.cveuiveiiiiiciiiiieieiriceeie bbb — — — — (28,847) (28,847)
Total derivatives............ 334 31,124 213 31,671 (28,847) 2,824
SHOrt-term BOMFOWINGS™ ........vveeeeeeeeeeeeeseee e ee e seneseean — 560 — 560 — 560
LONGEIM AEBD ...t eeeeees e — 10,837 412 11,249 — 11,249

Total liabilities $ 1072 $ 4995 $ 1550 $ 52587 $ (28,847) $ 23,740

@ SeeNote 10, "Fair Value Option," for additional information. Excluding the fair value movement on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit
spread, which is recorded in other comprehensive income (loss), fair value option assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value through net income (loss).

@ Includes trading derivative assets of $2,996 million and $3,048 million and trading derivative liabilities of $3,183 million and $2,690 million at March 31,
2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, aswell as derivatives held for hedging and commitments accounted for as derivatives. See Note 9, "Derivative
Financial Instruments,” for additional information. Excluding changesin fair value of a derivative instrument associated with aqualifying cash flow hedge,
which are recognized initially in other comprehensive income (10ss), derivative assets and liabilities are recorded at fair value through net income (l0ss).

@ Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares.
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@ Securities available-for-sale are recorded at fair value through other comprehensive income (loss).
®

©®  Represents contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of a portion of our PB business.

w]

Investments that are measured at fair value using the net asset value per share practical expedient have not been classified in the fair value hierarchy.

Represents counterparty and cash collateral netting which alow the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contractsif certain conditions are met.

Information on Level 3 assets and liabilities The following table summarizes additional information about changes in the fair
value of Level 3 assets and liabilities during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018. As a risk management practice,
wemay risk managetheLevel 3assetsand liabilities, inwholeor in part, using securitiesand derivative positionsthat are classified
as Level 1 or Level 2 measurements within the fair value hierarchy. Since those Level 1 and Level 2 risk management positions
are not included in the table below, the information provided does not reflect the effect of such risk management activities related

to the Level 3 assets and liabilities.

Total Realized /
Unrealized Gains
(Losses) Included in

Other Current
Compre- Period
hensive Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Income Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Mar. 31, Gains
2019 Earnings (Loss) ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2019 (Losses)
(in millions)
Assets:
Trading assets, excluding
derivatives:”
Collateralized debt
0obligations..........cc.oevvevenes $ 100 $ 1% — % — % — % @11 3 — 3 — 3 9 $ (6)
Residential mortgage asset-
backed securities................ 16 — — — — — — — 16 —
Student |oan asset-backed
SECUNTIES. .. 92 5 — — — (2) — — 95 3
Corporate and other domestic
debt Securities.........c.ouuuene 1,803 — — — — (1,293) — — 510 —
Derivatives, net:@
Interest rate contracts............ 2 5 — — — — — — 7 5
Foreign exchange contracts.... (1) — — — — — _ _ (1) _
Equity contracts.............e...... (52) 71 — — — 4 — 1 24 75
Credit CONracts.........ocovvnenes 52 (37) — — — 38 — — 53 —
Other contracts®...........cooo..e... (35) (6) — — — 4 — — 37) _
Other asset-backed securm%
available-for-sale® . 107 — 2 — — — — — 109 2
Other assets® .........covvvveervvennenns 4 — — — — — — — 4 —
Total 8SSEtS.....cvvveeeerreieerrereerenne $ 208 $ 39 % 2 $ — $ — $(1,260) $ — $ 1 $ 870 $ 79
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits® $ (925) $ (9) $ G $ — $ () $ 45 $ — 61 $ (949) $ (105)
Long-term debt® .................oeees (412) (28) ®3) — (31) 13 — 8 (453) (52)
Total liahilities .....cccovverrennnne $(1,337) $ (57) $ 8 $ — $ (127) $ 58 % — $ 69 $ (1,402) $ (157)
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Total Realized /
Unrealized Gains
(Losses) Included in

Other Current
Compre- Period
hensive Transfers  Transfers Unrealized
Jan. 1, Income Purch- Issu- Settle- Into Out of Mar. 31, Gains
2018 Earnings (Loss) ases ances ments Level 3 Level 3 2018 (Losses)
(in millions)

Assets:
Trading assets, excluding

derivatives:®

Collateralized debt

0bligations........ccoveureeeniene $ 129 $ 7% — $ — 3 — 3 B % — 3 — $ 131 3 7
Corporate and other domestic
debt securities.........ccueuen. 1,803 — — — — — —_ —_ 1,803 —_

Derivatives, net:?

Interest rate contracts............. — — — — — — — — — —

Foreign exchange contracts.... — — — — — — — — — —

Equity contracts.............ce...... 81 (40) — — — (14) — — 27 (42)

Credit CONtracts..........cooveueee. 114 1 — — — 2 — — 113 1)

Other contracts® (46) 2 — — — 4 — — (44) —
Other asset-backed securities

availablefor-sale ............... 111 ) — — — — — — 107 (4)
Other assets® .........coovvveervvvnneens 15 — — — — — — — 15 —
Total ASSELS.....ovrvrereerrrerirerin $ 2207 $ (38) $ — $ — $ — $ (10 $ — $ — $ 2152 $ (40)
Liabilities:
Domestic deposits® ... $ (897) $ 21 $ @%$ — $ (O $ 22 3 @ $ 3 $ (916) $ 19
Long-term debt® ..........cc.......... (641) 1 4 — (115) 67 — 44 (630) 18
Total [1ahilities ....vevreerirrienaes $(1,538) $ 32 $ 2 $ — $ (2060 $ 89 $ 3) $ 78 $ (1546) $ 37

Gains (losses) on trading assets, excluding derivatives are included in trading revenue in the consolidated statement of income (10ss).

Level 3 net derivativesincluded derivative assets of $288 million and derivative liabilities of $242 million at March 31, 2019 and derivative assets of $281
million and derivative liabilities of $185 million at March 31, 2018. Gains (losses) on derivatives, net are predominantly included in trading revenue and
gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivativesin the consolidated statement of income (10ss).

Consists of swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares. Gains (losses) on these swap agreements are included in
other income (loss) in the consolidated statement of income (10ss).

Realized gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale are included in other securities gains, net in the consolidated statement of income (10ss). Unrealized
gains (losses) on securities available-for-sale are included in other comprehensive income (10ss).

Represents contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of a portion of our PB business. Gains (losses) associated with this transaction are
included in other income (l0ss) in the consolidated statement of income (10ss).

Excluding unrealized gains (losses) on fair value option liabilities attributable to our own credit spread, which are recorded in other comprehensiveincome
(loss), gains(losses) onfair valueoptionliabilitiesareincluded in gain (loss) oninstrumentsdesignated at fair value and rel ated derivativesin the consolidated
statement of income (10ss).
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The following table presents quantitative information about the unobservable inputs used to determine the recurring fair value
measurement of assets and liabilities classified as Level 3 fair value measurements at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

March 31, 2019

Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations................ $ 90 Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 0% - 1%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 0% - 1%
L oss severity rates 90% - 95%
Residential mortgage asset-backed $ 16  Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 0% - 5%
SECUNTIES. ... pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 1% - 3%
L oss severity rates 80% - 85%
Discount margin 100bps - 250bps
Student loan asset-backed securities........ $ 95  Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 7% - 8%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 0% - 1%
Loss severity rates 25% - 40%
Discount margin 91bps -115bps
Corporate and other domestic debt $ 510 Discounted cash flows Spread volétility on collateral assets 2% - 4%
SECUNTIES. ..o
Correlation between insurance clam ~ 80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. $ 7 Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 15% - 99%
probability to fund and, where commitments
applicable, discounted cash flows
Likelihood of transaction being 75% - 100%
executed
Foreign exchange derivative contracts™ .~ $ (1) Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 12% - 17%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... $ 24 Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 38%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 43% - 79%
correlation
Equity dividend yields 0% - 5%
Credit derivative contracts........c.coeevenne. $ 53  Option pricing model and, where  Credit default swap spreads 69bps - 80bps
applicable, discounted cash flows
Other derivative contracts..........c.cveevenee. $ (37) Discounted cash flows Conversion rate 1.6 times
Expected duration 1-3years
Other asset-backed securities available- $ 109 Discounted cash flows Market assumptionsrelated toyields 1% - 3%
fOr-SAle. .o for comparable instruments
Other SSetS.....coveueerereeereseee e $ 4 Discounted cash flows Client transfer rates based on rating 50% - 95%
Domestic deposits $ (949) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 12% - 17%
(structured deposits)@...........coooveeevnenn. flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 30%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 44% - 48%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes)™® ... $ (453) Option adjusted discounted cash ~ Implied volatility of currency pairs 12% - 17%
flows

59

Equity / Equity Index volatility

Equity / Equity and Equity / Index
correlation

7% - 31%
44% - 79%



HSBC USA Inc.

December 31, 2018

Fair Value
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Significant Unobservable Inputs Range of Inputs
Collateralized debt obligations................ $ 100 Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 0% - 1%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 0% - 1%
Loss severity rates 90% - 95%
Residential mortgage asset-backed $ 16  Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 0% - 5%
SECUNTIES. ..o pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 1% - 4%
L oss severity rates 80% - 85%
Discount margin 100bps - 250bps
Student loan asset-backed securities........ $ 92  Broker quotes or consensus Prepayment rates 6% - 7%
pricing and, where applicable,
discounted cash flows
Conditional default rates 1% - 2%
L oss severity rates 25% - 40%
Discount margin 91bps -115bps
Corporate and other domestic debt $ 1,803 Discounted cash flows Spread volatility on collateral assets 2% - 4%
SECUMLIES. ..o
Correlation between insuranceclaim ~ 80%
shortfall and collateral value
Interest rate derivative contracts.............. $ 2 Market comparable adjusted for Probability to fund for rate lock 3% - 99%
probability to fund and, where commitments
applicable, discounted cash flows
Likelihood of transaction being 75% - 100%
executed
Foreign exchange derivative contracts® .~ $ (1) Option pricing model Implied volatility of currency pairs 8% - 12%
Equity derivative contracts™ ................... $ (52) Option pricing model Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 44%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 2% - 79%
correlation
Equity dividend yields 0% - 7%
Credit derivative contracts...........cccvueeee. $ 52  Option pricing model and, where  Credit default swap spreads 102bps - 118bps
applicable, discounted cash flows
Other derivative contracts..........c.coeevenne. $ (35) Discounted cash flows Conversion rate 1.6 times
Expected duration 2-3years
Other asset-backed securities available- $ 107 Discounted cash flows Market assumptionsrelated toyields 1% - 3%
fOr-sale.....ociiiciiecccec for comparable instruments
Other aSSEtS....vvvevrerieeereseee e $ 4 Discounted cash flows Client transfer rates based on rating 50% - 95%
Domestic deposits $ (925) Option adjusted discounted cash Implied volatility of currency pairs 8% - 12%
(structured deposits)@..........ccoooconen. flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 37%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 42% - 49%
correlation
Long-term debt (structured notes)¥@ ... $ (412) Option adjusted discounted cash ~ Implied volatility of currency pairs 8% - 12%
flows
Equity / Equity Index volatility 7% - 42%
Equity / Equity and Equity / Index 45% - 79%

(6]

correlation

We are the client-facing entity and we enter into identical but opposite derivatives to transfer the resultant risks to our affiliates. With the exception of

counterparty credit risks, wearemarket neutral . The correspondingintra-group derivativesarepresented asequity derivativesandforeign exchangederivatives

inthetable.
@

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Structured deposits and structured notes contain embedded derivative features whose fair value measurements contain significant Level 3 inputs.

Collateralized debt obligations ("CDOs"), residential mortgage asset-backed securities and student loan asset-backed securities

» Prepayment rate - The rate at which borrowers pay off the loans early. The prepayment rate is affected by a number of
factors including location of the collateral, interest rate type of the loan, borrowers' credit and sensitivity to interest rate
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movement. The wei ghted average prepayment rates of our CDOs, residential mortgage asset-backed securities and student
loan asset-backed securities was 0.4 percent, 5 percent and 8 percent, respectively, at March 31, 2019.

« Default rate - Annualized percentage of default rate over agroup of collateral such asresidential or commercial mortgage
loans. The default rate and loss severity rate are positively correlated. The weighted average default rates of our CDOs,
residential mortgage asset-backed securities and student loan asset-backed securities was 0.9 percent, 3 percent and 0.8
percent, respectively, at March 31, 2019.

» Lossseverity rate - Thelossseverity rateisthe percentageof total lifetimelosses(bothinterest and principal) asapercentage
of principal balance measured at default date. The weighted average |oss severity rates of our CDOs, residential mortgage
asset-backed securities and student loan asset-backed securities was 93 percent, 85 percent and 36 percent, respectively,
at March 31, 2019.

e Discount margin - An expected return earned in addition to theindex underlying (in this case the L ondon I nterbank Offered
Rate ("LIBOR")) is another input into valuation of securities. The weighted average discount margins of our residential
mortgage asset-backed securities and student loan asset-backed securities was 200 basis points and 100 basis points,
respectively, at March 31, 2019.

Derivatives

* Implied volatility - The implied volatility is a significant pricing input for freestanding or embedded options including
equity, foreign currency and interest rate options. The level of volatility isafunction of the nature of the underlying risk,
thelevel of strike price and the yearsto maturity of the option. Depending on the underlying risk and tenure, we determine
theimplied volatility based on observable input where information is available. However, substantially all of the implied
volatilitiesare derived based on historical information. Theimplied volatility for different foreign currency pairsisbetween
12 percent and 17 percent while the implied volatility for equity/equity or equity/equity index is between 7 percent and 38
percent, respectively, at March 31, 2019. Although implied foreign currency volatility and equity volatility appear to be
widely distributed at the portfoliolevel, the deviation of implied volatility on atrade-by-trade basisisnarrower. Theaverage
deviation of implied volatility for the foreign currency pair and at-the-money equity option are 9 percent and 12 percent,
respectively, a March 31, 2019.

« Correlations of a group of foreign currency or equity - Correlation measures the relative change in values among two or
more variables (i.e., equity or foreign currency pair). Variables can be positively or negatively correlated. Correlationisa
key input in determining the fair value of a derivative referenced to a basket of variables such as equities or foreign
currencies. A magjority of the correlations are not observable, but are derived based on historical data. The correlation
between equity/equity and equity/equity index was between 43 percent and 79 percent at March 31, 2019.

Uncertainty of Level 3 Inputs to Fair Value Measurements

CDOs - Probability of default, prepayment speed and loss severity rate are significant unobservable inputs. A significant increase
(decrease) in these inputs would have resulted in a lower (higher) fair value measurement of the CDOs. Generally, a change in
assumption for default probability would have been accompanied by a directionally similar change in loss severity, and a
directionally opposite change in prepayment speed.

Residential mortgage and student loan asset-backed securities - Probability of default, prepayment speed, loss severity rate and
discount margin are significant unobservable inputs. A significant increase (decrease) in these inputs would have resulted in a
lower (higher) fair value measurement of the securities. Generally, achangein assumption for default probability would have been
accompanied by adirectionally similar change in loss severity, and a directionally opposite change in prepayment speed.

Corporate and domestic debt securities - The fair value measurement of certain corporate debt securities is affected by the fair
valueof theunderlying portfoliosof investmentsused ascollateral and themake-wholeguarantee provided by third party guarantors.
The probability that the collateral fair value declines below the collateral call threshold concurrent with the guarantors' failure to
perform its make whole obligation is unobservable. Generally, an increase (decrease) in the probability the collateral value falls
below the collateral call threshold would have been accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability of the
guarantor.

Credit derivatives - Correlation of default among abasket of reference credit namesisasignificant unobservableinput if the credit
attributes of the portfolio are not within the parameters of relevant standardized CDS indices. A significant increase (decrease) in
the default correlation would have resulted in alower (higher) fair value measurement of the credit derivative. Generally, achange
in assumption for default correlation would have been accompanied by a directionally similar change in default probability and
loss rates of other credit names in the basket. For certain credit derivatives, the credit spreads of credit default swap contracts
insuring asset backed securities is a significant unobservable input. A significant increase (decrease) in the credit spreads would
have resulted in alower (higher) fair value measurement of the credit derivative.

Equity and foreign exchange derivatives - The fair value measurement of a structured equity or foreign exchange derivative is
primarily affected by the implied volatility of the underlying equity price or exchange rate of the paired foreign currencies. The
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implied volatility is not observable. A significant increase (decrease) in the implied volatility would have resulted in a higher
(lower) fair value of along position in the derivative contract.

Other derivatives - The fair value of the swap agreements we entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Sharesis
dependent upon the final resolution of the related litigation. Significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value measurement
include estimated changes in the conversion rate of Visa Class B Shares into Visa Class A Shares and the expected timing of the
final resolution. An increase (decrease) in the loss estimate or in the timing of the resolution of the related litigation would have
resulted in a higher (lower) fair value measurement of the derivative.

Other asset-backed securities available-for-sale - Thefair valuemeasurement of certain asset-backed securitiesisprimarily affected
by estimated yields which are determined based on current market yields of comparableinstruments adjusted for market liquidity.
An increase (decrease) in the yields would have resulted in a decrease (increase) in the fair value measurement of the securities.

Other assets - Thefair value of the contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of aportion of our PB businessis
dependent upon the clients' decisions to transfer their accounts to UBS Wealth Management Americas ("UBS"), the timing and
amounts of client assets transferred and the acceptance of the client assets by UBS which are significant unobservable inputs. An
increase (decrease) in the client transfer rate would have resulted in a higher (lower) fair value measurement of the receivable.

Significant Transfers Into and Out of Level 3 Measurements During the three months ended March 31, 2019, we transferred
$61 million of domestic deposits and $8 million of long-term debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3to
Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no longer being unobservabl e asthe derivative option is closer to maturity and there
is more observability in short term volatility.

During the three months ended March 31, 2018, we transferred $34 million of domestic deposits and $44 million of long-term
debt, which we have elected to carry at fair value, from Level 3to Level 2 asaresult of the embedded derivative no longer being
unobservable as the derivative option is closer in maturity and there is more observability in short term volatility. Additionally,
during the three months ended March 31, 2018, we transferred $3 million, respectively, of domestic deposits, which we have
elected to carry at fair value, from Level 2 to Level 3 as aresult of a change in the observability of underlying instruments that
resulted in the embedded derivative being unobservable.

Assets and Liabilities Recorded at Fair Value on a Non-recurring Basis Certain financial and non-financial assets are measured
at fair value on a non-recurring basis and therefore, are not included in the tables above. These assets include (@) loans classified
as held for sale reported at the lower of amortized cost or fair value and (b) impaired loans or assets that are written down to fair
value based on the valuation of underlying collateral during the period. These instruments are not measured at fair value on an
ongoing basis but are subject to fair value adjustment in certain circumstances (e.g., impairment). The following table presents
thefair value hierarchy level within which the fair value of the financial and non-financial assets has been recorded at March 31,
2019 and December 31, 2018. The gains (losses) during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 are also included.

Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)
at March 31, 2019 For the Three
Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total March 31, 2019
(in millions)
CONSUMEN 10BNSD......eeeeeeeee e ses e eeeean $ — 5 $ — $ 5 $ (2)
Impaired commercial 10anS...........coo.oovomeeeereieeeeeessesseessnes — — 45 45 (1)
Real €State OWNEA®D ... — 6 — 6 (1)
Total assets at fair value on anon-recurring basis............cce...... $ — 3% 11 $ 45 $ 56 $ 4)
Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements Total Gains (Losses)
at December 31, 2018 For the Three
Months Ended
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total March 31, 2018
(in millions)
CONSUMES 10BNSY.....oooee e er e $ —$ 153 — $ 15 3 (1)
Commercia loans held for SAE™ ..., — 36 — 36 3
Impaired commercial 10anS...........co.oovieeeeeieeeeseese e, — — 37 37 55
Real eState OWNEAD ...t — 7 — 7 1
Total assets at fair value on anon-recurring basis.........cccceeeueee. $ — % 58 $ 37 3 9% $ 58

@ Represents residential mortgage loans held for investment whose carrying amount was reduced during the periods presented based on the fair value of the
underlying collateral.
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@ Certain commercia loans have undergone troubled debt restructurings and are considered impaired. As a matter of practical expedient, we measure the
credit impairment of a collateral-dependent loan based on the fair value of the collateral asset. The collateral often involves rea estate properties that are
illiquid due to market conditions. As aresult, these loans are classified asaLevel 3 fair value measurement within the fair value hierarchy.

©®  Real estate owned is required to be reported on the balance sheet net of transactions costs. The real estate owned amounts in the table above reflect the fair
value unadjusted for transaction costs.

@ At December 31, 2018, the fair value of the loans held for sale was below cost.

Thefollowingtablespresent quantitativeinformation about non-recurring fair valuemeasurementsof assetsand liabilitiesclassified
with Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

At March 31, 2019

Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Impaired commercial [0aNS..........ccovverrrrnerrrrerrsressreas $ 45 Valuation of third party appraisal Loss severity rates  13% - 100%
on underlying collateral
At December 31, 2018
Significant
Fair Value Unobservable Range of
Financial Instrument Type (in millions) Valuation Technique(s) Inputs Inputs
Impaired commercial [0aNS..........ccovvrirrrnernrrrrrsre s $ 37 Valuation of third party appraisal Loss severity rates  13% - 100%

on underlying collateral

Significant Unobservable Inputs for Non-Recurring Fair Value Measurements

Theweighted average severity ratefor impaired commercial loanswas approximately 32 percent at March 31, 2019. These severity
rates are primarily impacted by the value of the underlying collateral securing the loans.

Valuation Techniques

Following is a description of valuation methodologies used for assets and liabilities recorded at fair value.

Securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements designated under FVO - We elected to apply FVO
accounting to certain securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements at fair value. The fair value of these
resale and repurchase agreements is determined using market rates currently offered on comparable transactions with similar
underlying collateral and maturities.

Consumer loans held for sale — Consumer loans held for sale are recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. The fair
value estimates of consumer loans held for sale are determined primarily using observed market prices of instrumentswith similar
characteristics. Adjustments are made to reflect differencesin collateral location, loan-to-value ratio, FICO scores, vintage year,
default rates, the completeness of the loan documentation and other risk characteristics. Where observable market parameters are
not available, fair valueisdetermined using the discounted cash flow method using assumptions consi stent with those which woul d
be used by market participants in valuing such loans, including estimates of prepayment rates, default rates, |oss severities and
market rates of return. We also may hold discussions on value directly with potential investors.

Commercial loans held for sale - Commercial loans held for sale (that are not designated under FVO as discussed below) are
recorded at the lower of amortized cost or fair value. The fair value estimates of commercial loans held for sale are determined
primarily using observable market pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant broker quotes or observed market prices
of instruments with similar characteristics. We also may hold discussions on value directly with potential investors.

Commercial loans held for sale designated under FVO — We elected to apply FV O accounting to certain commercial loans held
for saleat fair value. Where available, fair valueisbased on observable market pricing obtained from independent sources, relevant
broker quotes or observed market prices of instruments with similar characteristics. Where observable market parameters are not
available, fair value is determined based on contractual cash flows adjusted for estimates of prepayment rates, expected default
rates and loss severity discounted at management's estimate of the expected rate of return required by market participants. We also
consider loan-specific risk mitigating factors such as collateral arrangements in determining the fair value estimate.

Commercial impaired loans — Generally represents collateral dependent commercia loans with fair value determined based on
pricing quotes obtained from an independent third party appraisal.

Precious metals trading - Precious metals trading primarily includes physical inventory which is valued using spot prices.

Securities - Where available, debt and equity securities are valued based on quoted market prices. If aquoted market price for the
identical security is not available, the security is valued based on quotes from similar securities, where possible. For certain
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securities, internally devel oped val uation model sare used to determinefair valuesor validate quotes obtai ned from pricing services.
The following summarizes the valuation methodology used for our major security classes:

U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency issued or guaranteed and obligations of U.S. state and political subdivisions—As
these securities transact in an active market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security
or quoted prices for similar securities with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market
corroborated.

U.S. Government sponsored enterprises — For government sponsored mortgage-backed securities which transact in an
active market, fair value measurements are based on quoted prices for the identical security or quoted prices for similar
securities with adjustments as necessary made using observable inputs which are market corroborated. For government
sponsored mortgage-backed securities which do not transact in an active market, fair value is determined primarily based
on pricing information obtained from pricing services and is verified by internal review processes.

Asset-backed securities, including CDOs — Fair valueis primarily determined based on pricing information obtained from
independent pricing services adjusted for the characteristics and the performance of the underlying collateral.

Other domestic debt and foreign debt securities (corporate and government) - For non-callable corporate securities, acredit
spread scale is created for each issuer. These spreads are then added to the equivalent maturity U.S. Treasury yield to
determine current pricing. Credit spreads are obtained from the new market, secondary trading levels and dealer quotes.
For securities with early redemption features, an option adjusted spread model is incorporated to adjust the spreads
determined above. Additionally, we survey the broker/deal er community to obtain relevant trade dataincluding benchmark
guotes and updated spreads.

Equity securities —Fair value measurements are determined based on quoted pricesfor theidentical security. Certain equity
securities represent investments in private equity funds that help us comply with the Community Reinvestment Act. The
fair value of these investments are estimated using the net asset value per share as calculated by the fund managers.
Distributions will be received from the funds as the underlying assets are liquidated. While the funds do not allow us to
redeem our investments, we are permitted to sell or transfer our investments subject to the approval of the fund manager.
Unfunded commitments associated with these investments totaled $79 million and $72 million at March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively.

Thefollowing tables provide additional information relating to our asset-backed securities, including certain CDOs, at March 31,

2019:

Trading asset-backed securities:

Rating of Securities:® Collateral Type: Level 3 Total

(in millions)
AAA-A . SHUAENE 10BNS.......ceeceeriereeeee e $ 9% $ 95
BBB - B ..o Collateralized debt obligations ..........ccocveeeerereeierereeeneens 90 90
CCC - Unrated.......ccovveereereeninnens Residential mortgages - SUbPIME.........cccoeevreiesenesenesenenns 16 16

$ 201 $ 201

Available-for-sale asset-backed securities:

Rating of Securities: Collateral Type: Level 2 Level 3 Total
(in millions)
AAA - A s Home equity - AItA......coovrerrcecnnenes $ 38 $ — $ 38
OthEN o — 50 50
Total AAA -A ... $ 38 3 5 $ 88
BBB -B....oeeeeeeee e (@197 SO — 59 59
$ 38 3 109 $ 147

@ We utilize Standard and Poor's ("S&P") as the primary source of credit ratings in the tables above. If S& P ratings are not available, ratings by Moody's and
Fitch are used in that order. Ratings for CDOs represent the ratings associated with the underlying collateral .

Derivatives — Derivatives are recorded at fair value. Asset and liability positions in individual derivatives that are covered by
legally enforceable master netting agreements, including receivables (payables) for cash collateral posted (received), are offset
and presented net in accordance with accounting principles which allow the offsetting of amounts.
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Derivatives traded on an exchange are valued using quoted prices. OTC derivatives, which comprise a majority of derivative
contract positions, areval ued using val uation techniques. Thefair valuefor themajority of our derivativeinstrumentsaredetermined
based on internally developed models that utilize independently corroborated market parameters, including interest rate yield
curves, option volatilities, and currency rates. For complex or long-dated derivative products where market datais not available,
fair value may be affected by the underlying assumptions about, among other things, the timing of cash flows, expected exposure,
probability of default and recovery rates. The fair values of certain structured derivative products are sensitive to unobservable
inputs such as default correlations of the referenced credit and volatilities of embedded options. These estimates are susceptible
to significant change in future periods as market conditions change.

We use the OIS curves as the base discounting curve for measuring the fair value of all derivatives, both collateralized and
uncollateralized, and apply a FFVA to reflect the estimated present value of the future market funding cost or benefit associated
with funding uncollateralized derivative exposure at rates other than the OIS rate. The FFVA is calculated by applying future
market funding spreadsto the expected future funding exposure of any uncollateralized component of the OTC derivative portfolio.
The expected future funding exposure is calculated by a simulation methodology, where available, and is adjusted for events that
may terminate the exposure, such as the default of HUSI or the counterparty.

Significant inputs related to derivative classes are broken down as follows:

e Credit Derivatives —Usecredit default curvesand recovery rateswhich aregenerally provided by broker quotesand various
pricing services. Certain credit derivatives may also use correlation inputsin their model valuation.

* Interest Rate Derivatives — Swaps use interest rate curves based on currency that are actively quoted by brokers and other
pricing services. Options will also use volatility inputs which are also quoted in the broker market.

» Foreign Exchange ("FX") Derivatives — FX transactions, to the extent possible, use spot and forward FX rates which are
quoted in the broker market. Where applicable, we a so use implied volatility of currency pairs as inputs.

» Equity Derivatives — Use listed equity security pricing and implied volatilities from equity traded options position.
»  Precious Metal Derivatives — Use spot and forward metal rates which are quoted in the broker market.

Asdiscussed earlier, we make fair value adjustmentsto model valuationsin order to ensure that those val ues represent appropriate
estimates of fair value. These adjustments, which are applied consistently over time, are generally required to reflect factors such
as bid-ask spreads and counterparty credit risk that can affect pricesin arms-length transactions with unrelated third parties. Such
adjustments are based on management judgment and may not be observable.

Weestimate the counterparty credit risk for financial assetsand our own credit standing for financial liabilities (the " credit valuation
adjustments") in determining the fair value measurement. For derivative instruments, we cal cul ate the credit val uation adjustment
by applying the probability of default of the counterparty to the expected exposure, and multiplying the result by the expected loss
given default. We also take into consideration the risk mitigating factors including collateral agreements and master netting
agreementsin determining credit val uation adjustments. We estimate the implied probability of default based on the credit spread
of the specific counterparty observed in the credit default swap market. Where credit default spread of the counterparty is not
available, we use the credit default spread of a specific proxy (e.g., the credit default swap spread of the counterparty’s parent) or
aproxy based on credit default swaps referencing to credit names of similar credit standing.

Real estate owned - Fair value is determined based on third party appraisals obtained at the time we taketitle to the property and,
if less than the carrying amount of the loan, the carrying amount of the loan is adjusted to the fair value. The carrying amount of
the property is further reduced, if necessary, at least every 90 days to reflect observable local market data, including local area
sales data.

Structured notes and deposits designated under FVO — Structured notes and deposits are hybrid instruments containing embedded
derivatives and are elected to be measured at fair value in their entirety under FVV O accounting principles. The valuation of hybrid
instruments is predominantly driven by the derivative features embedded within the instruments and our own credit risk. The
valuation of embedded derivatives may include significant unobservable inputs such as correlation of the referenced credit names
or volatility of the embedded option. Cash flows of the funded notes and deposits in their entirety, including the embedded
derivatives, are discounted at the relevant interest rates for the duration of the instrument adjusted for our own credit spreads. The
credit spreads so applied are determined with reference to our own debt issuance rates observed in primary and secondary markets,
internal funding rates, and the structured note rates in recent executions.

Long-term debt designated under FVO —We €elected to apply FV O accounting to certain of our own debt issuances for which fair
value hedge accounting otherwise would have been applied. These own debt issuances el ected under FV O are traded in secondary
markets and, as such, thefair value is determined based on observed prices for the specific instrument. The observed market price
of these instruments reflects the effect of our own credit spreads. The credit spreads applied to these instruments were derived
from the spreads at the measurement date.
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Additional Disclosures About the Fair Value of Financial Instruments that are Not Carried at Fair Value on the Consolidated
Balance Sheet Thefair value estimates set forth bel ow are made solely to comply with disclosures required by generally accepted
accounting principlesin the United States and should be read in conjunction with the financia statements and notes included in
this report.

Thecarryingamount of certainfinancial instrumentsrecorded at cost on the consolidated bal ance sheet isconsidered to approximate
fair value because they are short-term in nature, bear interest rates that approximate market rates, and generally have negligible
credit risk. These items include cash and due from banks, interest bearing deposits with banks, customer acceptance assets and
liahilities, federal funds sold and purchased, certain securities purchased and sold under resal e and repurchase agreements, deposits
with no stated maturity (e.g., demand, savings and certain money market deposits), short-term borrowings and dividends payable.

The following table summarizes the carrying value and estimated fair value of our financial instruments, excluding financial
instruments that are carried at fair value on arecurring basis, at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 and their classification
within the fair value hierarchy:

Carrying Fair
March 31, 2019 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term financial aSSELS........ccceveveeveeeeeeeee e $ 21450 $21450 $ 1,238 $ 20,197 $ 15
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreementsto
£ <. OO 5,963 5,963 — 5,963 —
Securities held-to-Maturity ..........coovvvveriercererere e 14,383 14,299 — 14,299 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit 10Sses...........c.c...... 50,912 52,911 — — 52,911
Commercial loansheld for Sale........cvevevievieccecee e 318 318 — 318 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit 10Sses........coccecveeeene 19,539 19,139 — — 19,139
Consumer loans held for sdle;
Residential MOrtgages........ccovvverererereeereeree e 32 32 — 29 3
Financial liabilities:
Short-term financial liabilities ...........ccceveeeeeeeeecceeeee e $ 9390 $ 9401 $ — $ 9386 $ 15
Deposits:
Without fixed maturities...........ccccceooeieeieiicceceeceeeece e, 89,189 89,189 — 89,189 —
FiXed MatUMtiES......ccveeeerere e 15,976 15,886 — 15,886 —
Depositsheld for Sale........coiiiiiiiee e 9 9 — 9 —
LONG-termM debt.........ccovvieiiiccee e 19,394 19,672 — 19,672 —
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Carrying Fair
December 31, 2018 Value Value Level 1 Level 2 Level 3
(in millions)
Financial assets:
Short-term financial assatsS..........ccceceveeeveeiececece e $ 17237 $17237 $ 1514 $ 15700 $ 23
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under agreements to
=57 | 10,168 10,168 — 10,168 —
Securities el d-t0-MatUrity .......cccervrereeereeeseee e 14,670 14,443 — 14,443 —
Commercial loans, net of allowance for credit losses..................... 48,884 50,671 — — 50,671
Commercial loans held for sale.........cccooevveviccecece e, 285 285 — 285 —
Consumer loans, net of allowance for credit 10SSes.........cccvveeneneee 19,553 18,878 — — 18,878
Consumer loans held for sale:
Residential MOrtgages........coooveereereerieereesiee s 65 65 — 65 —
Other CONSUMET ......ocveeeeeeeee ettt 53 53 — — 53
Financial liabilities:
Short-term financial liabilitieS .........ccoovveeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $ 3643 $ 3649 $ — $ 3626 $ 23
Deposits:
Without fixed Maturities...........cccoceoveieevecicceceeceeeee e, 91,794 91,794 — 91,794 —
FiXed MatUNTIES. ....ccveeieei ettt st 10,996 10,933 — 10,933 —
Depositsheld for Sale.......oovviiiiiiicece e 10 10 — 10 —
LONG-term debt........cocvvieiiiece e 19,379 19,688 — 19,688 —

Lending-related commitments - Thefair value of loan commitments, revolving credit facilities and standby | etters of credit are not
included in the table. The majority of the lending-related commitments are not carried at fair value on a recurring basis nor are
they actively traded. Theseinstrumentsgeneratefees, which approximatethose currently charged to originate similar commitments,
which are recognized over the term of the commitment period. Deferred fees on loan commitments, revolving credit facilities and
standby letters of credit totaled $160 million and $165 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

20. Litigation and Regulatory Matters

The following supplements, and should be read together with, the disclosure in Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in
our 2018 Form 10-K. Only those matters with significant updates and new matters since our disclosure in our 2018 Form 10-K
arereported herein.

In addition to the matters described below and in our 2018 Form 10-K, in the ordinary course of business, we are routinely named
asdefendantsin, or aspartiesto, variouslegal actionsand proceedingsrelating to activitiesof our current and/or former operations.
These legal actions and proceedings may include claims for substantial or indeterminate compensatory or punitive damages, or
for injunctive relief. In the ordinary course of business, we also are subject to governmental and regulatory examinations,
information-gathering requests, investigations and proceedings (both formal and informal), certain of which may result in adverse
judgments, settlements, fines, penalties, injunctions or other relief. In connection with formal and informal inquiries by these
regulators, wereceive numerous requests, subpoenas and orders seeking documents, testimony and other informationin connection
with various aspects of our regulated activities.

Dueto theinherent unpredictability of legal matters, including litigation, governmental and regul atory matters, particularly where
the damages sought are substantial or indeterminate or when the proceedings or investigations are in the early stages, we cannot
determine with any degree of certainty the timing or ultimate resolution of such matters or the eventual loss, fines, penalties or
business impact, if any, that may result. We establish reserves for litigation, governmental and regulatory matters when those
matters present 0ss contingencies that are both probable and can be reasonably estimated. Once established, reserves are adjusted
fromtimeto time, asappropriate, in light of additional information. The actual costs of resolving litigation and regulatory matters,
however, may be substantially higher than the amounts reserved for those matters.

During the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, we recorded expense related to various legal matters of nil and $494
million, respectively. The expensein the 2018 period included expense rel ated to a mortgage securitization matter that was settled
in October 2018. See Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K for additional discussion.

For thelegal mattersdisclosed bel ow, including litigation and governmental and regulatory matters, aswell asfor thelegal matters
disclosed in Note 28, "L itigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K, asto which alossin excess of accrued liability

67



HSBC USA Inc.

is reasonably possible in future periods and for which there is sufficient currently available information on the basis of which
management believesit can make areliable estimate, we believe areasonabl e estimate could be as much as $400 million for HUSI.
Thelegal matters underlying this estimate of possible losswill change from timeto time and actual results may differ significantly
from this current estimate.

In addition, based on the facts currently known for each of the ongoing investigations disclosed in Note 28, "Litigation and
Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K,, it isnot practicable at thistimefor usto determine the terms on which these ongoing
investigations will be resolved or the timing of such resolution. As matters progress, it is possible that any fines and/or penalties
could be significant.

Giventhesubstantial or indeterminate amounts sought in certain of these matters, and theinherent unpredictability of such matters,
an adverse outcome in certain of these matters could have a material adverse effect on our consolidated financia statementsin
any particular quarterly or annual period.

Foreign Exchange ("FX") Matters

FX Opt Out Litigation The plaintiffs filed an amended complaint on March 1, 2019, and the defendants' joint motion to dismiss
was filed on April 1, 2019.

It is possible that additional actions will be initiated against the HSBC entities, including HSBC Bank USA, in relation to their
historical foreign exchange activities.

Investigations HSBC and certain of its affiliates, including HSBC Bank USA, along with a number of other firms, are being
investigated by regulatory agencies in relation to trading on the foreign exchange market. The investigations involving HSBC
Bank USA continue, including an investigation by the Caifornia Attorney Genera's Office. We are cooperating with the
investigation.

Madoff Litigation

In 2008, Bernard L. Madoff ("Madoff") was arrested and ultimately pleaded guilty to running a Ponzi scheme and a trustee was
appointed for the liquidation of hisfirm, Bernard L. Madoff Investment Securities LLC ("Madoff Securities"), an SEC-registered
broker-dealer and investment adviser. Various non-U.S. HSBC companies provided custodial, administration and similar services
to a number of funds incorporated outside the United States whose assets were invested with Madoff Securities. Plaintiffs have
commenced Madoff-related proceedings against numerous defendants arising out of Madoff Securities fraud.

In February 2019, the Second Circuit issued a decision reversing the November 2016 decision of the U.S. Bankruptcy Court for
the Southern District of New York that had dismissed the majority of the remaining claims against the non-U.S. HSBC defendants
in these actions on the bases of extraterritoriality and comity.

Benchmark Rate Litigation

CDOR: In March 2019, the court granted the defendants motion to dismiss. We anticipate that plaintiff will seek to amend the
complaint or appesal the ruling.

Mortgage Securitization Trust Litigation In February 2019, Park Royal LL C filed a summonswith notice in New York state court
against HSBC Bank USA, as trustee for three residential mortgage-backed securities trusts, aleging the same misconduct that
other plaintiffs have alleged against the trustee and seeking damages of $59 million. No complaint has yet been filed or served on
HSBC Bank USA.

Shareholder Derivative Action Defendants HSBC, HSBC Bank USA, HSBC North America and HSBC USA's motion for
reargument or, in the alternative, for leave to appeal to the New York Court of Appeals regarding the appellate court's reversal of
the state court's dismissal was denied in March 2019.

Timothy O'Sullivan, et al. v. Deutsche Bank AG, et al. The court granted defendants’ motion to dismissin March 2019. The second
action filed in 2018 ("O'Sullivan 11"), which is substantially similar to the first action, has been stayed based upon the parties
agreement.

Joel Tavera, et al. v. Deutsche Bank AG, et al. This action has been stayed based upon the parties’ agreement.
James Donaldson v. HSBC Holdings plc, et al. This action has been stayed based upon the parties agreement.
Kathleen Stephens v. HSBC Holdings plc, et al. This action has been stayed based upon the parties’ agreement.

Ryan Bowman et al. v. HSBC Holdings plc, et al. In April 2019, anew action in the U.S. District Court for the Eastern District of
New York was filed against HSBC Holdings plc, HSBC Bank plc, HSBC Bank Middle East Limited, and HSBC Bank USA,
among other defendants. Designating the case as related to Charlotte Freeman, et al. v. HSBC Holdings plc, et al. the claims are
based on allegations that |ranian payments were purportedly provided to terrorist organizations operating in Irag. Plaintiffsallege
violations of the Anti-Terrorism Act (18 U.S.C. §2331 et seq.). Thisactionis at avery early stage.
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21.

New Accounting Pronouncements

The following new accounting pronouncements were adopted effective January 1, 2019:

Leases In February 2016, the Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") issued an Accounting Standards Update
("ASU") which requires alessee to recognize alease liability and a ROU asset on its balance sheet for al leases, including
operating leases. Lease classification is still performed, with any lease classified as afinance lease reported as a financing
transaction. The ASU does not substantially change lessor accounting. Additionally, the ASU makes several other targeted
amendmentsincluding a) revising the definition of lease payments to include fixed payments by the lessee to cover lessor
costs related to ownership of the underlying asset such as for property taxes or insurance; b) requiring seller-lesseesin a
sale-leaseback transaction to recognize the entire gain from the sale of the underlying asset at the time of sale rather than
over the leaseback term; and ¢) expanding disclosures to provide quantitative and qualitative information about lease
transactions. The adoption of this guidance resulted in a gross-up of our balance sheet of approximately $780 million asa
result of recognizing lease liabilities and corresponding ROU assets for operating leases upon adoption as of January 1,
2019. In accordance with the new guidance, we elected the short-term lease exemption for al leases with a term of 12
months or less and, therefore, do not recognize ROU assets or lease liabilities for short-term leases. The adoption of this
guidance al so required acumul ative effect adjustment to the consolidated bal ance sheet to recognize the previously deferred
gain on the sale and leaseback of our 452 Fifth Avenue property, which resulted in an increase in retained earnings of $27
million, after tax, as of January 1, 2019. The adoption of this guidance did not result in material changes to the recognition
of operating |ease expense. See Note 8, "Leases," for the new disclosure required by this standard.

Premium Amortization on Purchased Callable Debt Securities In March 2017, the FASB issued an ASU that shortens
the premium amortization period for purchased non-contingently callable debt securities by requiring the premium to be
amortized to the earliest call date, rather than the contractual maturity date. After the earliest call date, if the call optionis
not exercised, the effective yield will be reset using the payment terms of the debt security. The new guidance does not
change the discount amortization period for purchased debt securities. The discount continues to be amortized to the
contractual maturity date. The adoption of this guidance did not have a material impact on our consolidated financia
Statements.

Derivatives and Hedging - Targeted Improvements to Accounting for Hedging Activities In August 2017, the FASB issued
an ASU amending its hedge accounting guidance to expand an entity's ability to hedge nonfinancial and financial risk
components, reduce complexity in fair value hedges of interest rate risk and ease the requirementsfor effectiveness testing
and hedge documentation. The ASU eliminates the requirement to separately measure and report hedge i neffectiveness and
generally requires the entire change in the fair value of a hedging instrument to be presented in the same income statement
line asthe hedged item. The ASU al so requires expanded disclosures. The adoption of this guidance did not have amaterial
impact on our consolidated financial statements. SeeNote 9, "Derivative Financial Instruments,” for additional information,
including the new disclosure required by this standard.

The following are accounting pronouncements which will be adopted in future periods:

Financial Instruments - Credit Impairment In June 2016, the FASB issued an ASU that significantly changes how entities
will measure credit losses for most financial assets and certain other instrumentsthat are not measured at fair value through
net income (loss). The ASU replaces the existing incurred loss impairment guidance and requires entities to estimate and
recognizean allowancefor lifetimeexpected credit lossesfor loans (including TDR Loans), hel d-to-maturity debt securities,
off-balance sheet credit exposures and certain other financial assets measured at amortized cost. The ASU also requires
entities to recognize an allowance for credit losses on AFS debt securities and revises the accounting model for purchased
credit impaired loans and debt securities. Additionally, existing disclosures will also be revised under the ASU. The ASU
is effective for al annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2020 and is required to be applied by recording a
cumulative effect adjustment to retained earnings as of the beginning of the first reporting period in which the guidance is
effective. While early adoption is permitted, we have not elected early adoption. Our implementation efforts continued
throughout 2018, assessing existing credit loss forecasting models and processes against the new guidance to determine
modifications that will be required. Our implementation plan has progressed through the initial design, build and testing
phases and, in the first quarter of 2019, we began testing the end to end operating model, including our ability to meet the
expanded disclosure requirements, which will continue throughout 2019. While we continue to eval uate the impact the new
guidancewill have on our consolidated financial statements, we currently expect the new guidance may result in anincrease
to our alowance for credit losses given the change to estimated losses over the contractua life of the loan portfolio aswell
as the adoption of an allowance for debt securities. The amount of any change to our allowance is still under review and
will depend, in part, upon the composition of our loan and held-to-maturity securities portfolios at the adoption date aswell
as economic conditions and loss forecasts at that date.

Goodwill Impairment Testing In January 2017, the FASB issued an ASU that simplifies the accounting for goodwill
impairment by removing step two of the goodwill impairment test. Under step two, an entity was required to determine the
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fair value of individual assets and liabilities of a reporting unit (including unrecognized assets and liabilities) using the
procedure for determining fair values in a business combination. Under the new guidance, goodwill impairment will now
be measured at the amount by which a reporting unit's carrying amount, including those with a zero or negative carrying
amount, exceedsitsfair value. Any resulting impairment is limited to the carrying amount of goodwill. An entity must also
disclose the amount of goodwill allocated to each reporting unit with a zero or negative carrying amount. The ASU is
effectivefor all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2020 and is required to be applied prospectively with early
adoption permitted. The adoption of this guidance is not expected to have a material impact on the results of our goodwill
impairment testing or our consolidated financial statements.

e Disclosure Framework - Changes to the Disclosure Requirements for Fair Value Measurement In August 2018, the
FASB issued an ASU that eliminates, amends and adds certain disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. The
ASU is effective for all annual and interim periods beginning January 1, 2020, with early adoption permitted. We elected
to early adopt the new guidance related to the eliminated and amended disclosure requirements in 2018. While adoption of
the remaining guidance will result in changes to our existing disclosures, it will not have any additional impact on our
consolidated financia statements.

There have been no additional accounting pronouncements issued that are expected to have or could have a material impact on
our consolidated financial statements.
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations

Forward-Looking Statements

Certain matters discussed throughout this Form 10-Q are forward-looking statements within the meaning of the Private Securities
Litigation Reform Act of 1995. In addition, we may make or approve certain statements in future filings with the United States
Securitiesand Exchange Commission ("SEC"), in pressreleases, or oral or written presentations by representatives of HSBC USA
Inc. ("HSBC USA" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HUSI") that are not statements of historical fact and may also constitute
forward-looking statements. Words such as"may,” "will," "should," "would," "could," "appears,” "believe," "intends," "expects,"
"estimates," "targeted,” "plans,” "anticipates,” "goal," and similar expressions areintended to identify forward-looking statements
but should not be considered as the only means through which these statements may be made. These matters or statements will
relate to our future financial condition, economic forecast, results of operations, plans, objectives, performance or business
developments and will involve known and unknown risks, uncertainties and other factors that may cause our actual results,
performance or achievements to be materially different from that which was expressed or implied by such forward-looking
statements.

All forward-looking statements are, by their nature, subject to risks and uncertainties, many of which are beyond our control. Our
actual future results may differ materially from those set forth in our forward-looking statements. While there is no assurance that
any list of risks and uncertainties or risk factors is complete, below are certain factors which could cause actual results to differ
materially from those in the forward-looking statements:

e uncertainty concerning the future market and economic conditions in the United States and abroad, including but not
limited to, changesin interest rates, energy prices and unemployment levels, a declinein housing prices, the availability
of credit and liquidity, changesin consumer confidence and consumer spending and behavior, consumer perception asto
the continuing availability of credit and price competition in the market segments we serve and the consequences of
unexpected geopolitical events, such as trade disputes and the decision by the United Kingdom ("U.K.") to exit the
European Union ("EU");

» changesin laws and regulatory requirements;

« thepotential impact of any legal, regulatory or policy changes affecting financial institutions and the global economy as
aresult of the current Administration in the U.S;;

« theability to deliver on our regulatory priorities;

e capital and liquidity requirements under Basel guidance, the Federal Reserve Board's ("FRB") Comprehensive Capital
Anaysisand Review ("CCAR") program, and the Dodd-Frank Wall Street Reform and Consumer Protection Act of 2010
("Dodd-Frank Act" or "Dodd-Frank™") stress testing ("DFAST"), including the U.S. FRB regquirements for U.S. global
systemically important banks ("G-SIBs") and U.S. intermediate holding companies ("IHCs") owned by non-U.S. G-SIBs
to issue total loss-absorbing capacity ("TLAC") instruments;

* regulatory requirementsintheU.S. andinnon-U.S. jurisdictionstofacilitate thefuture orderly resolution of largefinancial
institutions;

e changesin central banks' policies with respect to the provision or removal of liquidity support to financial markets;

* theability of HSBC Holdings plc ("HSBC" and, together with its subsidiaries, "HSBC Group") and HSBC Bank USA,
National Association (together withitssubsidiaries, "HSBC Bank USA™) tofulfill the requirementsimposed by applicable
consent orders or guidance from regulators generally;

« theuseof usasaconduit for illegal activities without our knowledge by third parties;

» theability to successfully manage our risks;

» thepossibility of the inadequacy of our data management and policies and processes;

» thefinancial condition of our clients and counterparties and our ability to manage counterparty risk;

«  concentrations of credit and market risk;

e increasesin our alowance for credit losses and changesin our assessment of our loan portfolios;

e theability to implement our business strategies;

» theability to successfully implement changes to our operational practices as needed and/or required from time to time;
e damageto our reputation;

« theability to attract and retain customers and to attract and retain key employees;
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» the effects of competition in the markets where we operate including increased competition from non-bank financial
services companies, including securities firms;

» theeffectsof operational risksthat are inherent in banking operations, including fraudulent and other criminal activities,
breakdowns in processes or procedures and systems failure or non-availability;

» disruptioninour operationsfrom theexternal environment arising from eventssuch asnatural disasters, global pandemics,
acts of war, terrorist attacks, or essential utility outages;

« afailurein or abreach of our operation or security systems or infrastructure, or those of third party servicers or vendors,
including as aresult of cyberattacks;

» theability of third party suppliers, outsourcing vendors, off-shored functionsand our affiliatesto provideadequate services,

» losses suffered due to the negligence, fraud or misconduct of our employees or the negligence, fraud or misconduct on
the part of third parties;

» afailureinour internal controls;

e our ability to meet our funding requirements;

» adverse changesto our credit ratings;

« financia difficulties or credit downgrades of mortgage bond insurers;
e our ability to cross-sell our products to existing customers;

e changes in Financial Accounting Standards Board ("FASB") and International Accounting Standards Board ("IASB")
accounting standards and their interpretation;

* heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial institutions, including in connection with product
governance and sales practices, account opening and closing procedures, customer and employee complaints and sales
compensation structures related to such practices;

«  continued heightened regul atory scrutiny with respect to existing and futureresidential mortgage servicing and foreclosure
practices, with particular focus on loss mitigation, foreclosure prevention and outsourcing;

» possible negative impact of regulatory investigations and legal proceedings related to alleged foreign exchange
manipulation;

e changesin the methodology for determining benchmark rates and the implementation of alternative benchmark rates;

» heightened regulatory and government enforcement scrutiny of financial markets, with a particular focus on traded asset
classes, including foreign exchange;

» the possibility of incorrect assumptions or estimates in our financial statements, including reserves related to litigation,
deferred tax assets and the fair value of certain assets and liabilities;

* modé limitations or failure;
» thepossibility of incorrect interpretations, application of or changesin tax laws to which we and our clients are subject;

e additional financia contribution requirements to the HSBC North America Holdings Inc. ("HSBC North America")
pension plan;

e unexpected and/or increased expenses relating to, among other things, litigation and regulatory matters, remediation
efforts, penalties and fines; and

» theother risk factors and uncertainties described under Item 1A, "Risk Factors," in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for
the year ended December 31, 2018 (the "2018 Form 10-K").

Forward-looking statements are based on our current views and assumptions and speak only as of the date they are made. We
undertake no obligation to update any forward-looking statement to reflect subsequent circumstances or events. You should,
however, consider any additional disclosures of aforward-looking nature that arise after the date hereof as may be discussed in
any of our subsequent Annual Reports on Form 10-K, Quarterly Reports on Form 10-Q or Current Reports on Form 8-K.
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Executive Overview

HSBC USA isawholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC North America, which isanindirect wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC. HUSI
may also be referred to in Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations ("MD&A™)
as"we," "us' or "our."

Economic Environment The U.S. economy continued to grow during the first quarter of 2019. U.S. Gross Domestic Product
("GDP") grew at an estimated annual rate of 3.2 percent in the first quarter of 2019, higher than 2018's GDP annual growth rate,
whileinflation in the first quarter of 2019 averaged near the FRB's target inflation rate. In March 2019, the FRB decided to hold
short-term interest rates steady and indicated that no increases in short-term interest rates are expected in 2019. The FRB aso
announced that it will slow the pace of reducing its holdings of U.S. Treasury bonds and mortgage-backed securities and that its
reduction program will cometo an end at the end of September. The U.S. economy added over 500 thousand jobs during the first
quarter of 2019 and the total unemployment ratefell to 3.8 percent at March 2019 as compared with 3.9 percent at December 2018.

Althoughthe U.S. economy continued to grow inthefirst quarter of 2019, uncertainty concerning the future economic environment
existsasgrowth continuesto slow. The sustainability of economic growthwill be determined by numerousother variablesincluding
consumer sentiment, energy prices, credit market volatility, employment levels and housing market conditions which will impact
corporate earnings and the capital markets. Concerns over interest rate levels, inflation, domestic and global policy issues, U.S.
trade policy and geopolitical events as well as the implications of those events on the markets in general further add to global
uncertainty. Interest rate levels, in combination with global economic conditions, fiscal and monetary policy and the level of
regulatory and government scrutiny of financial institutions will continue to impact our resultsin 2019 and beyond.

Performance, Developments and Trends Thefollowing table setsforth selected financial highlightsfor HUSI for the three months
ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 and at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(dollars are in millions)
NS AT oo T (o1 S $ 109 $ (238)
Rate of return on average: -
TOAl BSSELS ......cuvieiici s 3% (:5)%
S QY= T 10 o oSS LTSS 3 (.8)
COMMON EOUILY ...oviitit bbb bbb 2.4 (5.2)
Tangible COMMON EOUILY .....ccveiuiiiiiee ettt et et b et be b s b bt b s b e sae e nean 2.7 (5.6)
TOLAl EOUITY ..ot s 23 (4.8)
N A L= =S 0= o T ISR URURURORUI 1.42 1.37
EFfICIENCY TALIO ..ottt bbb st s b e e b et bbbt sttt 78.8 120.4
ComMMErCial NEt ChAIGE-OFf TAHTOMW ...t e s e e ee s se st se e eneeesse s .02 .06
ConsuMer NEt ChargE-OFf TAHOM ... se e ee s se s e sneeeee e 29 .08

@ Excludesloans held for sale.
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March 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(dollars are in millions)

Additional Select Ratios:

Allowance as aPercent Of 10ANSY ... eses e es e 82% 78%
Commercial allowance as apercent 0f 10ANS™Y ............ooeveeieeeeseeeeeeee s seeeeee s esee s 96 93
Consumer allowance as apercent Of 10ANSY..............ovirveeereeeeeee e sene 45 a2
Consumer two-months-and-over contractual delinQUENCY .........cccvevveveeenevesese e 2.11 2.05
LOBNS 0 AEPOSIES FAHIO®P.........coooeeeeeeeeeee e ee s es e senes 81.39 75.02
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted @SSELS ........cccccvreeeeire s 11.9 13.6
Tier 1 capital to risk-WeIGNtEd @SSELS........ceiereeeie e ere e 12.9 14.6
Total capital tO riSk-WeIghtEd @SSELS.........cceiereeeeicececr e e e s ereens 15.6 17.2
THEN L IOVEIBOE FALIO.....ccueeiei et cee ettt ettt ettt et e e e sbe e e e sbeeaeesbeeabesbeenbesbeenbesbeenbeeneesbeensesaeennas 9.6 11.0
Supplementary |EVEIragE FaliO..........ccceieeieie i seest et e e te st sttt sa et e tesae e e e e e e e eneerenneens 6.7 7.6
Total eqUIty tO TOLAl BSSELS......ciciiieesesiesee ettt sttt st st e e e e et e e e e e nenneenenrenes 10.1 119

Select Balance Sheet Data:

Cash and interest bearing deposits With DANKS..............c.ceieieieveicceeiccceece e $ 21435 $ 17,214
TrAOING BSSELS.......coeiveveieeeieteeet et ee e te et et e e te et e se st eseste e st eeste e ese s eseeseseetessebessatenestensatensasenseseseseaseneetens 26,101 21,978
Securities avallal E-fOr-SAl..........ociii i e 32,040 31,379
Loans:

COMMEICIA |OANS......cviiieieeicee et te st s ae st e s besee st e beste e e e eseeseeneerennens 51,407 49,342

CONSUMES TOBNS......c.viiiicteciieteete ettt e st e et e st e et e sbeebesaeesseeaeesaeenaesbeentesteentesteentenseanns 19,627 19,636
10 Lo 7= 1 TP 71,034 68,978
DIEPOSITS. ...vuiiieteteie ettt ettt ettt ettt b et st b et ae et bt e e bbb e R et et ebe et bbb e ae bbb eae s st et e et bebeneanns 113,639 110,955

@ Excludesloans held for sale.

@ Representsperiod end |oans, net of allowance for loan |osses, as apercentage of core deposits as cal culated in accordance with Federal Financial I nstitutions
Examination Council guidelines which generally include all domestic demand, money market and other savings accounts, as well as time deposits with
balances not exceeding $250,000.

Net income (loss) wasincome of $109 million during the three months ended March 31, 2019 compared with aloss of $238 million
during the three months ended March 31, 2018. Income (loss) before income tax was income of $144 million during the three
months ended March 31, 2019 compared with aloss of $146 million during the three months ended March 31, 2018. Theincrease
inincome (loss) before income tax during the three months ended March 31, 2019 was due primarily to lower operating expenses
driven by expense recorded in the prior year period related to a mortgage securitization legal matter that was settled in October
2018, partially offset by a higher provision for credit losses and lower other revenues. For additional discussion of the mortgage
securitization legal matter, see Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K.

Our reported results in the prior year period was impacted by an item management believes to be significant, which distorts
comparability between periods. Significant items are excluded to arrive at adjusted performance because management would
ordinarily identify and consider them separately to better understand underlying business trends. The following table summarizes
theimpact of this significant item for all periods presented:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018

(in millions)
Income (10ss) before iNCome tax, @S FEPOIMEM .........curueirieirieirere bbb $ 144 $  (146)
Expense related to certain mortgage |oan |egal MEaters..........cocoeiriiinene e — 491
AJUSEED PEITOIMENCEM ...t s e s eneen e eesses $ 144 $ 345

@ Represents anon-U.S. GAAPfinancial measure.
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Excluding the impact of the item in the table above, our adjusted performance during the three months ended March 31, 2019
decreased $201 million compared with the prior year period due primarily to a higher provision for credit losses and lower other
revenues, partially offset by lower operating expenses.

See "Results of Operations' for a more detailed discussion of our operating trends. In addition, see "Balance Sheet Review" for
further discussion on our asset and liability trends, "Liquidity and Capital Resources' for further discussion on funding and capital
and "Credit Quality" for additional discussion on our credit trends.

In early 2019, our Board of Directors approved a distribution on our common stock of $2.4 billion from surplus capital to HSBC
North America, which was paid in February 2019.

Basis of Reporting

Our consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with accounting principles generally accepted in the United
States ("U.S. GAAP").

Group Reporting Basis We report financial information to HSBC in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting
policies, which apply International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRSs") as issued by the IASB and endorsed by the EU and,
as a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using financial information prepared on the basis of HSBC Group's
accounting and reporting policies ("Group Reporting Basis"). Because operating results on the Group Reporting Basis are used in
managing our businesses and rewarding performance of employees, our management also separately monitors profit before tax
under this basis of reporting. The following table reconciles our U.S. GAAP versus Group Reporting Basis profit before tax:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)
Profit (10ss) before tax — U.S. GAAP DESIS......c.oocireiirieirierieesi ettt $ 144 % (146)
Adjustments:
EXPECEU CreUit IOSSES........ucuiiiiiici s 42 47
PreCioUS MELAl OBNS ...t 14 4
DEPOSIT INCENMLIVES.......eeietieetere ettt ettt b et b e e b e se bt seebeseehe s e e st s b et sb et e b e e ebeneebeneebeseebenna 5 —
[0z 10 o o1 7= 1o o O 3 1
Pension and other postretirement BENEFIt COSLS ..........uuiiiiiiiii 2 2
L0oaNS NElA fOr SAlE......oivciiiit @) )
PIOPDEITY ... e nn e e — 2
ONEY <ot eeeeeeesseeees st 1) (4)
Profit (loss) before tax — Group REPOIiNG BaSIS.........cociieirieiriirieisies s $ 204 % (203)

The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are summarized in Note
23,"Business Segments," inour 2018 Form 10-K. Inaddition, seeNote 15, "Business Segments," inthe accompanying consolidated
financial statements for a discussion of significant changes since December 31, 2018 in the differences between U.S. GAAP and
the Group Reporting Basisimpacting our results. Differencesin reported profit before tax in the table above that were individual ly
significant for the periods presented are explained below.

During the first quarter of 2019, credit loss estimates were higher under U.S. GAAP than under the Group Reporting Basis due
primarily to theimpact of downgradesinthe commercial loan portfolio, whichwasmore pronounced under U.S. GAAP. In addition,
expected credit losses under the Group Reporting Basis reflect arelease in credit 1oss reserves due to the upgrade of a single oil
and gas industry client which resulted in reclassification from 'stage 2' (which requires a lifetime expected credit | osses estimate)
to 'stage 1' (which requires a 12-month expected credit |osses estimate).

During the first quarter of 2018, releases in credit loss reserves were higher under U.S. GAAP than under the Group Reporting
Basis due primarily to the impact of paydowns, sales and maturities in the commercial loan portfolio where existing allowances
were higher under U.S. GAAP. The releases in credit loss reserves under U.S. GAAP were partially offset by aprovision for risk
factors associated with geopolitical risks and market volatility inherent in certain segments of the portfolio.
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Balance Sheet Review

The following table provides balance sheet totals at March 31, 2019 and increases (decreases) since December 31, 2018:

March 31, 2019

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2018

Amount

(dollars are in millions)

Period end assets:
ShOM-LEIM INVESIMENTS ...ttt st s s sba e s s eare e s sabe e s sbe e s sseeessreeeas $ 28,359 $ 977 3.6%
[0 S T S 70,451 2,014 29
LOBNS hEld fOr SAIE.......oiiiiice e 448 (64) (12.5)
TrA0ING @SSELS....ueveeirieierieirte ettt sttt ettt st et ne e 26,101 4,123 18.8
= o ] (=S SRS 46,423 374 .8
F N 00 g Tc =SS 9,139 1,049 13.0
$ 180921 $ 8,473 4.9%
Period end liabilities and equity:
01z N (< oo ] £ USSR $ 113639 $ 2,684 2.4%
Trading AN lTIES ..o e 3,908 265 7.3
ShOort-term DOITOWINGS ..o e 9,567 5,387 *
LONG-EIM AEDL......c.oeeeiee e 31,475 847 2.8
Interest, taxes and other liabilities.........ccccovveceiiiie e, 4,011 1,475 58.2
TOLAl EQUITY ... 18,321 (2,185) (10.7)
$ 180921 $ 8,473 4.9%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

Short-Term Investments Short-terminvestmentsinclude cash and duefrom banks, interest bearing depositswith banksand federal
funds sold and securities purchased under agreementsto resell. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our
liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Short-term investments increased modestly compared with
December 31, 2018 driven by our conservative liquidity management practices, where we raise funds in advance of their usage

and opportunistically deploy them to maximize returns.
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Loans, Net The following table summarizes our loan balances at March 31, 2019 and increases (decreases) since December 31,
2018:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2018

March 31, 2019 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, including CONSIIUCTION ........c.voveirieinieireeseese e $ 11,290 $ (54) (.5)%
Business and corporate banking..........ccoeeeeereereeenieneseseseseeseseseesseseeseeeesenses 13,650 584 45
GIOBE DANKING™ ... 21,417 1,250 6.2
Other COMMECIAI ...ttt se e se e 5,050 285 6.0
TOtal COMMEICIAL.......ccoiciiie ittt s s e e s s e e e s ae e s nes 51,407 2,065 4.2
Consumer loans:
Residential MOMQAgES. .......cvurueueueuirririeieieieieieie e eiebsis bbbttt bebebenes 17,368 (15) (.1
HOME €qUILY MOIMQAgES .....eevvevereeieirieeseeeeeee ettt se e aeee e eneesennes 941 (41) (4.2)
Credit CAIOS ...c.vecvvecteceecte ettt sttt s be et sre e ste st e saeeneesreennens 1,040 21 21
OthEr CONSUMES ...ttt ettt s re e besaeesresneesreenesreennens 278 26 10.3
TOtEl CONSUIMES ...ttt e er e ene e 19,627 (9) —
TOLA [OBNS ..ottt et s e ae et s b besae e besre e beeaeenns 71,034 2,056 3.0
AlloWanCE fOr CrEAIT IOSSES .......ooieeeecceie e 583 42 78
[0 7= LS . USSR $ 70,451 $ 2,014 29 %

@ Representslarge multinational firmsincluding globally focused U.S. corporate and financial institutions, U.S. dollar lending to multinational banking clients
managed by HSBC on aglobal basis and complex large business clients supported by GB& M relationship managers.

@ Includesloans to HSBC affiliates which totaled $2,688 million and $2,274 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Commercial loans increased compared with December 31, 2018 due to new business activity as we continued to focus efforts on
improving returns while applying a disciplined lending approach to grow the business and, to a lesser extent, higher loans to
affiliates. The growth in commercial non-affiliate |oans was primarily in the entertainment, energy, capital good, and diversified
financial industries, partially offset by a decrease in the banking industry.

Consumer loanswereflat compared with December 31, 2018 asacontinued declinein home equity mortgagesdueto net paydowns
were offset by higher credit card receivables reflecting growth in customer activity driven by new product promotions as well as
anincreasein other consumer loans. Theincrease in other consumer loans reflects atransfer of certain student loans from held for
sale to held for investment as discussed below, partialy offset by paydowns.

The following table presents loan-to-value ("LTV") ratios for our residential mortgage loan portfolio, excluding mortgage |oans
held for sale:

LTV Ratios™®

March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
First Lien Second Lien First Lien Second Lien
LTV < 8000 ..ttt s 98.5% 95.4% 98.4% 94.1%
80% S LTV K O0%0...ueeueeueeiirieriesieeresie st sn e 11 35 11 44
90% K LTV < LO0Y0....ccueeueeueruerieeieniesiesiesiesieseesees e seeseeeeeeseeneeneas 2 8 3 12
LTV 3 10090 ...ceieeeeseeieee et s 2 3 2 3
Average LTV for portfolio........cccorrenineienene e 48.8 475 49.1 487

@ LTVsfor first liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the reporting date. LTV's for second liens are calculated using the loan balance as of the
reporting date plus the senior lien amount at origination. Current estimated property values are derived from the property's appraised value at the time of
loan origination updated by the change in the Federal Housing Finance Agency's house pricing index ("HPI") at either a Core Based Statistical Areaor state
level. The estimated value of the homes could differ from actual fair values due to changes in condition of the underlying property, variations in housing
price changes within metropolitan statistical areas and other factors. As aresult, actual property values associated with loans that end in foreclosure may be
significantly lower than the estimates used for purposes of this disclosure.
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@ Current estimated property valuesarecal cul ated using the most current HPI savailableand applied on anindividual loan basis, which resultsin an approximate
three month delay in the production of reportable statistics. Therefore, the information in the table above reflects current estimated property values using
HPIs at December 31, 2018 and September 30, 2018, respectively.

Loans Held for Sale The following table summarizes loans held for sale at March 31, 2019 and increases (decreases) since

December 31, 2018:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2018

March 31, 2019 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial loans:

Real estate, inCluding CONSIIUCTION ........oevveirieiriecriere e $ 3 % 6 222 %

GlObEl DANKING......ecviieieieieiereree bbb 383 16 4.4

TOtal COMMENCIAL.......ireeiererrere s 416 22 5.6
Consumer loans:

Residential MOMQAgES. ........cvovrerreriirree e 32 (33) (50.8)

OLNEr CONSUMES ...ttt ettt sttt st b e snsnenas — (53) (100.0)

TOLAl CONSUIMET ...ttt 32 (86) (72.9)
Total 10aNS held fOr SAl........cciiieec e $ 448 $ (64) (12.5)%

Commercial loans held for sale increased compared with December 31, 2018. Included in commercial loans held for sale are
certain loans that we no longer intend to hold for investment and transferred to held for sale which totaled $318 million and $285
million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Commercial loans held for sale also includes certain loans that we have elected to designate under the fair value option which
consists of loans that we originate in connection with our participation in a number of syndicated credit facilities with the intent
of selling them to unaffiliated third parties aswell asloans that we purchase from the secondary market and hold as hedges against
our exposure to certain total return swaps. The fair value of these loans totaled $98 million and $109 million at March 31, 2019
and December 31, 2018, respectively. Balances will fluctuate from period to period depending on the volume and level of activity.

Consumer loans held for sale decreased compared with December 31, 2018. Included in residential mortgage loans held for sale
are agency-€ligible residential mortgage loans which are originated and held for sale to third parties, currently on a servicing
retained basis. Balances will fluctuate from period to period depending on the volume and level of activity. Gains and losses from
the sale of these residential mortgage |oans are reflected as a component of other income (loss) in the accompanying consolidated
statement of income (loss).

During the first quarter of 2019, we transferred $53 million of student loans that were previously classified as other consumer
loans held for sale back to held for investment as we now intend to hold these loans for the foreseeable future.

Excluding the commercia loans designated under fair value option discussed above, loans held for sale are recorded at the lower
of amortized cost or fair value, with adjustments to fair value being recorded as a valuation allowance through other revenues.
The vauation alowance on consumer loans held for sale was $2 million and $4 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31,
2018, respectively. The valuation allowance on commercial loans held for sale was nil and $3 million at March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively.
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Trading Assets and Liabilities The following table summarizes trading assets and liabilities at March 31, 2019 and increases
(decreases) since December 31, 2018:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2018

March 31, 2019 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Trading assets:
SEOUMEIES™ ..ooooee ettt $ 17978 $ 937 5.5 %
PreCioUS MELAIS .....c.oiveiiieiirieit e 5,127 3,238 *
DENVALIVES, NEL ...ttt bbb bbb st et e e e neeaeenas 2,996 (52 a.7)
$ 26,101 $ 4,123 18.8 %
Trading liabilities:
Securities sold, Not yet pUrchased.............cccviveiiveiiicic e, $ 687 $ (51) (6.9)%
Payables for preCious Metals............ccocvvncn s 38 a77) (82.3)
DENTVALIVES, NEL .....cvieeeieei et 3,183 493 18.3
$ 3,908 $ 265 73 %

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.
@ SeeNote 2, "Trading Assets and Liabilities," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a breakout of trading securities by category.

Trading securities balancesincreased compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily to increasesin foreign sovereign and U.S.
Treasury positions. Trading security positions are held as economic hedges of interest rate, credit and equity derivative products
issued to clients of domestic and emerging markets. This increase was partialy offset by a decrease in corporate bond positions
reflecting the unwind of one of our unconsolidated variable interest entities ("VIES"') which resulted in the termination of our
investment in the VIE along with the related derivatives during thefirst quarter of 2019. At the time of unwind, our investment in
the VIE had atotal carrying value of $1,293 million. Balances of securities sold, not yet purchased were lower compared with
December 31, 2018 driven by adecrease in short U.S. Treasury positions related to economic hedges of derivativesin the interest
rate trading portfolio.

Precious metal s trading assetsincreased compared with December 31, 2018 due to increases in our own silver and gold inventory
positions due primarily to a redeployment of liquidity in the short term which is economically hedged with derivative positions
to protect against changes in market pricing and, to a lesser extent, an increase in positions held as hedges for client activity.
Payables for precious metals were lower compared with December 31, 2018 reflecting a decline in borrowing of gold inventory
to support client activity levels. Precious metal positions may not represent our net underlying exposure aswe may use derivatives
contractsto reduce our risk associated with these positions, the fair value of which would appear in derivativesin the table above.

Derivative asset balances were relatively flat while derivative liability balances increased compared with December 31, 2018 as
lower balances from market movements and the termination of derivatives associated with the unwind of an unconsolidated VIE
asdiscussed above were offset by theimpact of lower netting of outstanding positions. Theincreasein derivativeliability positions
also reflects the impact of lower netting of cash collateral posted. Market movements resulted in lower valuations of foreign
exchange and commaodity derivatives, partialy offset by higher valuations of equity, credit and interest rate derivatives.

Securities Securities include securities available-for-sale and securities hel d-to-maturity. Securities balances were relatively flat
compared with December 31, 2018 as net purchases of U.S. Treasury and U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed securities
werelargely offset by adeclineinforeign sovereign securitiesas part of our continuing strategy to maximizereturnswhilebalancing
the securities portfolio for risk management purposes.

All Other Assets All other assetsincludes, among other items, properti esand equi pment, net and goodwill. All other assetsincreased
compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily to higher lease assets and higher outstanding settlement balances related to
security sales. Asdiscussed morefully in Note 21, "New Accounting Pronouncements," inthe accompanying consolidated financial
statements, the adoption of new accounting guidance resulted in a gross-up of our balance sheet to recognize lease liabilities and
corresponding right-of-use assets for operating leases as of January 1, 2019. Theseincreases were partially offset by lower margin
requirements related to futures trading and lower cash collateral posted.
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Deposits The following table summarizes deposit balances by major depositor categories at March 31, 2019 and increases
(decreases) since December 31, 2018:

Increase (Decrease) From
December 31, 2018

March 31, 2019 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Individuals, partnerships and COrporations...........ccoeveveerereeneseneeseeseeseeseeeeseneens $ 99476 $ 3,963 41 %
Domestic and foreign bBanks..........coveienniennesse e 11,064 (1,062) (8.8
U.S. government and states and political SUDiVISIONS..........cccoeveireicnencnieenen. 486 54 12.5
Foreign governments and official INSHTULIONS..........cccoereiinine e 2,604 (270) (9.4)
DePOSItS NEI FOr SAIE™ ... 9 (1) (10.0)
TOLAl AEPOSIES......ceeevereeeeeceetetete ettt ettt sttt et ettt ae et beaese e tese e neee $ 113639 $ 2,684 24 %
Total COrE AEPOSIESD ..o ees s sss s $ 87112 $  (4,797) (5.2)%

@ Represents deposits associated with the sale of a portion of our Private Banking business.

@ Core deposits, as calculated in accordance with Federal Financial Institutions Examination Council (“"FFIEC") guidelines, generally include all domestic
demand, money market and other savings accounts, as well as time deposits with balances not exceeding $250,000.

Total depositsincreased compared with December 31, 2018 dueto anincrease in whol esal e time deposits driven by new issuances,
higher depositsfrom affiliatesand increased retail depositsdriven by promotional rates offered on savingsaccountsand certificates
of deposit. These increases were partially offset by lower commercial demand and savings deposits due primarily to the impact
of seasonality as clients managed their cash needs at year-end and, to alesser extent, volatility reflecting competitive pressuresin
arising interest rate environment. Deposits were also lower in Private Banking reflecting withdrawals from a few large clients.
We continue to actively manage our balance sheet to increase profitability while maintaining adequate liquidity.

Short-Term Borrowings Short-term borrowings were higher compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily to increases in
federal funds purchased and securities sold under repurchase agreements resulting from the management of our short-term funding
positions. We continue to actively manage our balance sheet to increase profitability while maintaining adequate liquidity.

Long-Term Debt Long-term debt increased compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily to fair value movements on fair
value option debt. Debt issuances during the three months ended March 31, 2019 totaled $1,829 million, of which $1,192 million
wasissued by HSBC Bank USA.

Incremental issuances from our shelf registration statement with the SEC totaled $637 million of senior structured notes during
the three monthsended March 31, 2019. Total long-term debt outstanding under this shelf was $16,180 million and $16,249 million
at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Incremental issuances from the HSBC Bank USA Global Bank Note Program totaled $192 million during the three months ended
March 31, 2019. Total debt outstanding under this program was $4,409 million and $4,493 million at March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018, respectively.

Borrowings from the Federal Home Loan Bank of New York ("FHLB") totaled $2,000 million and $2,100 million at March 31,
2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Interest, Taxes and Other Liabilities Interest, taxesand other liabilitiesincreased compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily
to higher outstanding settlement balancesrel ated to security purchases, higher |easeliabilitiesdueto the adoption of new accounting
guidance as discussed above and higher margin requirements related to futures trading. These increases were partially offset by
lower tax ligbilities.

Total Equity During the first quarter of 2019, we paid a distribution on our common stock of $2.4 hillion from surplus capital to
HSBC North America. See Note 16, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital Requirements,” inthe accompanying consolidated
financia statements for additional details.
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Results of Operations

Net Interest Income Net interest income isthe total interest income on earning assets less the total interest expense on deposits
and borrowed funds. An analysis of consolidated average balances and interest ratesis presented in thisMD& A under the caption
"Consolidated Average Balances and Interest Rates."

The significant components of net interest margin are summarized in the following table:

2019 Compared
with 2018
Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 Volume Rate 2018
(dollars are in millions)

Interest income:

Short-term iNVESEMENES ... $176 $ (63) $ 81 $ 158
TradiNG SECUTIES. ....veveeeeeeeeeeeee et e e e e e eressesnesnesreseeneens 63 21 @) 49
SECUIEIES. ...ttt ettt 304 9 42 253
COMMECIAI [OBNS ..ottt et st s ee s reenaesbeearesbeens 522 15 93 414
CONSUMEY [0BNS.......cocuiiiiiiie s 194 1 9 184
OB . 18 (5) 7 16
Total INtEreSt INCOME.........ccciiiiiiii 1,277 (22) 225 1,074
Interest expense:
DIEPOSITS. ..ttt bbb bbb bbb bbbt 333 (13) 124 222
ShOrt-termM DOITOWINGS .......evieecircr s 62 6 23 33
LONG-LENM OEDL. ... 312 (17) 72 257
Tax liabilities and Other ..o 8 4) 2 10
TOtal INTErESt EXPENSE.......cvrerererereser s 715 (28) 221 522
NEL INEEIESE INCOME.....eiiieee ettt ettt s e e et s s e sbe s sbeeeseesbesebeesressnres $ 562 $ 6 $ 4 $ 552
Yield on total interest arning 8SSELS.........cccov i 3.22% 2.66%
Cost of total interest bearing liabilitieS.......cc.cov e 2.31 1.60
INEErESt rale SPIEAN ........cueieeie e s 91 1.06
Benefit from net non-interest paying funds'™ ...........co.coovovvveereereeieeeessessesseeeeseesneenn. 51 31
Net interest margin on average arning aSSatS..........cocuererreeiereseeiese s 1.42% 1.37%

@ Represents the benefit associated with interest earning assets in excess of interest bearing liabilities. Increased percentages reflect growth in this excess or

ahigher cost of interest bearing liabilities, while decreased percentages reflect areduction in this excess or alower cost of interest bearing liabilities.

Net interest incomeincreased slightly during the three months ended March 31, 2019 asthe favorable net impact of higher market
rates was largely offset by the unfavorable impact of lower average short-term investment and deposit balances. Higher market
ratesresultedin higher interest income from short-term investments, securitiesand loans, partially offset by higher interest expense
from deposits, short-term borrowings and long-term debt.

Short-term investments Interest income increased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to higher yields earned on
these investments, partially offset by lower average balances.

Trading securities Interest income increased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to higher average balances
reflecting aredeployment of liquidity to trading security positions. Theincreasein balanceswasprimarily inlower yielding foreign
sovereign positions which resulted in a shift in mix and alower yield overall. Securities in the trading portfolio are managed as
economic hedges against the derivative activity of our clients. As aresult, interest income associated with trading securities was
partially offset within trading revenue by the performance of the associated derivatives as discussed further bel ow.

Securities Interest income increased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to higher yields and, to alesser extent,
higher average balances. Theincreasein balanceswasdriven primarily by net purchases of foreign sovereign and U.S. Government
sponsored mortgage-backed securities, partially offset by net sales of U.S. Treasury securities.
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Commercial loans Interest income was higher during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to higher yields driven by rate
increases on variabl e rate products and, to alesser extent, higher average balances due to loan growth.

Consumer loans Interest income increased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to higher yields on
residential mortgages.

Other Higher interest income during the three months ended March 31, 2019 reflects higher yields on cash collateral posted,
partially offset by lower average cash collateral balances.

Deposits Interest expense increased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to higher rates paid reflecting
the impact of rate increases on wholesale deposits and promotional rates offered to our retail customers on savings accounts and
certificates of deposit. The increase was partially offset by lower average interest-bearing deposit balances due to lower savings
and demand deposits driven by volatility reflecting competitive pressuresin arising interest rate environment and the attrition of
retail balances associated with previous promotional rate campaigns. Also contributing to the decrease in average interest-bearing
deposit balances was lower deposits from affiliates and lower depositsin Private Banking.

Short-term borrowings Higher interest expense during the three months ended March 31, 2019 was due to higher rates paid on
these borrowings and, to a lesser extent, higher average borrowings. Higher average borrowings reflect increases in commercial
paper and federal funds purchased, partialy offset by a decline in securities sold under repurchase agreements.

Long-term debt Interest expense was higher during the three months ended March 31, 2019 dueto higher rates paid reflecting the
impact of rate increases on variable rate borrowings, partially offset by lower average borrowings.

Tax liabilities and other Interest expense decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 driven by lower average
borrowings in securities sold, not yet repurchased, partially offset by higher rates paid on these borrowings.

Provision for Credit Losses The following table summarizes the provision for credit losses associated with our various loan
portfolios:

Increase (Decrease)
Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Commercial:
Real estate, including CONSLIUCLION ..o $ 3 ¢ 10 % (7) (70.00%
Business and corporate banking ..., 22 (34) 56 *
Global DANKING..........cviirrrr e 14 (49) 63 *
Other COMIMENTIA ......cooiereeiiiririeieereres et — 1 (1) (100.0)
Total COMMENCIE ... 39 (72) 111 *
Consumer:
Residential MOrtgages..........cccururrurieiriiee s Q) (10) 9 90.0
HOME EQUILY MOMGBGES. .. ..eevereerereerereeterieie ettt re b seenesrenesrene e 1 1) 2 *
Credit CaraS.........vierereee e 16 12 4 33.3
OthEr CONSUME ..ot s 3 — 3 *
TOtEl CONSUIMEY ..o 19 1 18 *
Total provision for Credit [0SSES.........occiiici s $ 58 $ (7)) $ 129 *
Provision as a percentage of average [0anS. ..............eevervesnseesessssnssssensenns T 3% (D%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

Our provision for credit losses increased $129 million during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to a higher provision
for credit lossesin both our commercia and consumer |oan portfolios. During thethree monthsended March 31, 2019, weincreased
our allowance for credit losses as the provision for credit losses was higher than net charge-offs by $42 million.

The provision for credit losses in our commercial loan portfolio increased $111 million during the three months ended March 31,
2019 reflecting aloss provision in the current year period compared with arelease in credit oss reservesin the prior year period.
The loss provision in the current year period was driven by downgrades reflecting weakness in the financial condition of certain
client relationships and loan growth which were partially offset by releases in credit loss reserves due to paydowns. In the prior
year period, the release in credit loss reserves reflected improvements in the credit quality of our portfolio driven by paydowns,
salesand maturitiesaswefocused effortsonimproving returnsaswell asimprovementsin credit conditions associated with certain
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clientsat that time. Thereleasein theprior year period was partially offset by aprovisionfor risk factorsassociated with geopolitical
risks and market volatility inherent in certain segments of the portfolio.

The provision for credit losses in our consumer loan portfolio was higher by $18 million during the three months ended March
31, 2019 due largely to a lower release in the provision for credit losses on residential mortgages as the positive impact of
improvements in economic and credit conditions was more pronounced in the prior year period. Also contributing to the increase
was a higher provision for credit losses on credit cards reflecting growth in customer activity driven by new product promotions
along with an associated increase in dollars of delinquency aswell as ahigher provision for credit lossesin other consumer loans
driven by deterioration in early stage delinquency roll rates.

Our methodology and accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented in our 2018 Form 10-K under
the caption "Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates' and in Note 2, "Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New
Accounting Pronouncements." See "Credit Quality" in this MD&A for additional discussion on the allowance for credit losses
associated with our various loan portfolios.

Other Revenues The following table summarizes the components of other revenues:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(in millions)
Credit card fees, NEt ..o $ 12 $ 1 $ 1 9.1%
Trust and investment management fEeS............coiiiciciiiccens 30 38 8 (21.1)
Other feesand COMMISSIONS .......c.covcrererereeerreereesree e seere e 147 160 (13) (8.1)
TradiNG FEVENUE .......eeeeeeeeie ettt s 133 163 (30) (18.4)
Other SeCUritieS QaNS, NEL........ooviirirereeere e 7 5 2 40.0
Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates.............cocovvvivrniinninene, 81 99 (18) (18.2)
Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives 9 30 (39) *
Other income (10ss):
Valuation of loans held for Sale..........cocovrieiinnccee s — 3 (3) (100.0)
Residential mortgage banking eXpense.............ccoccccccccccccccennees 2 — 2 *
[NSUFBINCE. ...t e 2 3 D (33.3)
Miscellaneous inComMe (10SS) ..........cccuciciciiiiicicice s (11) 1 (12) *
Total other iNCOME (10SS).......c.vviuiiiirrrccrrree e (11) 7 (18) *
Total Other FeVENUES..........cceiiiiicc $ 390 $ 513 $ (123) (24.0)%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.
Credit card fees, net Credit card fees, net were relatively flat during the three months ended March 31, 2019.

Trust and investment management fees Trust and investment management fees decreased during the three months ended March
31, 2019 due to lower average assets under management driven in part by negative market performance as well as the impact of
the client referral agreement with UBS Wealth Management Americas ("UBS").

Other fees and commissions Other fees and commissions decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to lower
loan syndication fees and a decline in wire transfer fees. See Note 13, "Fee Income from Contracts with Customers,” in the
accompanying consolidated financial statementsfor additional information including a summary of the components of other fees
and commissions.
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Trading revenue Trading revenueis generated by participation in the foreign exchange, rates, credit, equities and precious metals
markets. The following table presents trading revenue by business activity. Not included in the table below is the impact on net
interest income associated with trading securities which is an integral part of trading activities overall performance. Net interest
income related to trading activities is recorded in net interest income in the consolidated statement of income (loss). Trading
revenue related to the mortgage banking business are included as a component of other income (10ss).

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(in millions)

Business Activities:
DENVAHVESTP ..o $ 28 $ 2% $ 2 7.7 %
FOreign EXCRaNQE ...c..ceeeeeeeee e 44 58 (19 (24.1)
IMIELAIS. ...cvetete ettt et s r et s r e e e neeneene s 38 72 (34 (47.2)
Balance Sheet Management ... 11 8 3 375
Global BanKiNg ........cccveermieriinieeeseesree e — (1) 1 100.0
Other Trating .....c.cveeeerereeeeeree s 12 — 12 *

Total trading FEVENUE .........ccvecveiie ettt $ 133 $ 163 $ (30) (18.4)%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

@ Includesderivative contractsrelated to the Credit, Ratesand Equitiesbusiness activitieswithin Global Marketsaswell asour legacy structured credit products.
Derivative contracts related to the Foreign Exchange and Metal s business activities within Global Markets aswell as derivative products related to Balance
Sheet Management, Global Banking and other trading are reported separately within those respective business activities.

@ Derivativestrading revenuein all periods does not reflect associated net interest income as certain derivatives, such astotal return swaps, were economically
hedged by holding the underlying interest bearing referenced assets.

Duringthefirst quarter of 2019, one of our unconsolidated VI Eswas unwound and our investment inthe VI E along with therelated
derivatives were terminated resulting in a loss of approximately $39 million, reflecting a payment made to the derivative
counterparty as aresult of the termination. Excluding this item, trading revenue increased during the three months ended March
31, 2019 driven by higher Derivatives revenue due primarily to emerging markets rate products as well as higher Other trading
revenue which reflects the impact of favorable funding spreads in the current year period. These increases were partially offset by
adeclinein Metalsrevenue due primarily to alower redeployment of liquidity in the short term to Metalsand lower trading activity
aswell as adecline in Foreign Exchange revenue reflecting the impact of market conditions.

Other securities gains, net We maintain securities portfolios as part of our balance sheet diversification and risk management
strategies. During the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, we sold $2,145 million and $987 million, respectively, of
primarily U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed and U.S. Government sponsored mortgage-backed securities
as part of acontinuing strategy to maximize returns while balancing the securities portfolio for risk management purposes. Other
securities gains, net increased dlightly during the three months ended March 31, 2019 reflecting the impact of higher sales activity.
The grossrealized gains and losses from sales of securities, which isincluded as acomponent of other securities gains, net above,
are summarized in Note 3, "Securities,”" in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates Servicing and other fees from HSBC affiliates decreased during the three months
ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to lower cost reimbursements associated with shared service activities performed on behalf
of other HSBC affiliates, including the non-recurrence of approximately $10 million of cost reimbursements recorded in the prior
year period associated with enhancing the HSBC Group's digital banking platform, as well as lower performance fees associated
with trading activities performed on behalf of HSBC Bank plc.

Gain (loss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives We have elected to apply fair value option accounting
to certain commercial loans held for sale, certain securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements, certain
of our own fixed-rate debt issuances and all of our hybrid instrumentsissued, including structured notes and deposits. We also use
derivatives to economically hedge the interest rate and other risks associated with certain financial liabilities for which fair value
option accounting has been elected. Gain (l0ss) on instruments designated at fair value and related derivatives was lower during
the three months ended March 31, 2019 attributable primarily to unfavorable movements related to the economic hedging of
interest rate and other risks within our own debt and structured notes. See Note 10, "Fair Value Option," in the accompanying
consolidated financial statements for additional information including a breakout of these amounts by individual component.

Other income (loss) Beginning January 1, 2019, fair value hedge ineffectiveness is recorded in net interest income. Excluding
this item, which resulted in a gain of $6 million during the three months ended March 31, 2018, other income (loss) remained
lower during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to higher losses associated with credit default swap protection
which largely reflectsthe hedging of asingle client relationship, lower valuation gains on loans held for sale and higher residential
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mortgage banking expense driven by the non-recurrence of an early termination fee received in the prior year period from PHH
Mortgage Corporation. These decreases were partially offset by higher income associated with bank owned life insurance.

Operating Expenses The following table summarizes the components of operating expenses:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
Salaries and employee Denefits...........ccoooiiiiiniciin $ 210 $ 207 $ 3 14 %
Support services from HSBC affiliates:
Feespaid tO HTSU .....cccuiiiicicc s 277 298 (21) (7.0)
Feespaid to HSBC Markets (USA) Inc. ("HMUS")....ccccoeeeveceeeeee 27 31 4 (12.9)
Fees paid to other HSBC affiliates............ccoccvcvciciciciciciccccccccce, 76 82 (6) (7.3)
Total support services from HSBC affiliates........cc.covevirerneeinerenecnenen. 380 411 (3D) (7.5)
OCCUPANCY EXPENSE, NMEL......eiiiieeeeiree sttt b e b sae e e 45 43 2 47
Other expenses:
Equipment and SOftWEre.............ccuiiiiiricicrsc s 19 11 8 72.7
Y= ] o SRR 36 28 8 28.6
OULSIOE SEIVICES ...ttt 16 16 — —
Professional fEES .......cvrrirec s 11 22 (12) (50.0)
Off-balance sheet credit reServes..........ooccccccec ) ) (5) *
Federal Deposit Insurance Corporation ("FDIC") assessment fees........ 8 33 (25) (75.8)
Expense related to legal Matters...........ooceevrcceiincciecrecec e — 494 (494) (100.0)
MISCEITBNEOUS......c.crvrreireriet e 32 19 13 68.4
Total Other EXPENSES........cociiiii s 115 621 (506) (81.5)
TOtal OPErating EXPENSES......cerereeeerreeeeererereeeererenesseeasesesseessssesssssessesessensesnes $ 750 $ 1282 $ (532 (41.5)%
Personnel - AVerage NUMDES ............o..vvieeeeeseeesreeeeesse s esss s esseensenns ~ 4730 4784
EffICIONCY FALIO....iieeiieeeieere et 78.8% 120.4%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

Salaries and employee benefits Salaries and employee benefits expense increased slightly during the three months ended March
31, 2019 as higher incentive compensation expense was largely offset by a health care cost reimbursement recorded during the
first quarter of 2019. In addition, while continued cost management effortsincluding targeted staff reductions to optimize staffing
and improve efficiency resulted in adecline in the average number of personnel, the impact of these reductions was largely offset
by the addition of personnel associated with growth initiativesin certain businesses.

Support services from HSBC affiliates Support servicesfrom HSBC affiliates decreased during the three months ended March 31,
2019 due primarily to lower cost alocations in our technology, risk and compliance support service functions as well as lower
costs associated with business systems reflecting the completion of certain projects. A summary of the activities charged to us
from various HSBC &ffiliates isincluded in Note 14, "Related Party Transactions," in the accompanying consolidated financial
statements.

Occupancy expense, net Prior to 2019, occupancy expense was impacted by the amortization of the deferred gain associated with
the sale and leaseback of our 452 Fifth Avenue property, which resulted in the recognition of again of $2 million during the three
months ended March 31, 2018. In January 2019, we adopted new accounting guidance which resulted in a cumulative effect
adjustment to recognize the previously deferred gain in retained earnings on January 1, 2019. Excluding this item, occupancy
expense was flat during the three months ended March 31, 2019.

Other expenses Other expenseswerelower during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to lower expense rel ated
to legal matters driven by expense recorded in the prior year period related to a mortgage securitization matter that was settled in
October 2018 and, to alesser extent, |lower deposit insurance assessment feesand lower professional fees. For additional discussion
of the mortgage securitization legal matter, see Note 28, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," in our 2018 Form 10-K. These
decreases were partially offset by lower levels of expense capitalization related to internally developed software, higher losses
associated with card fraud, higher marketing expense and higher capitalized software amortization expense.
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Efficiency ratio Our efficiency ratio improved during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to lower operating
expenses, partially offset by lower other revenues as discussed in detail above.

Income tax expense The following table provides an analysis of the difference between effective rates based on the provision for
income taxes attributable to pretax income (loss) and the statutory U.S. Federal income tax rate:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(dollars are in millions)
Tax expense (benefit) at the U.S. Federal statutory incometax rate................... $ 30 21.0% $ 31) (21.0%
Increase (decrease) in rate resulting from:
State and local taxes, net of Federal benefit.........cooovieiiiiiii i 5 35 12 8.2
Non-deductible FDIC assessment fEES.......ccvvvvvvrerivvesene e 2 14 12 8.2
Other non-deductible / non-taxable items™® ...........c....cooevvveervvrererrsessisenennns — — 100 685
Low income housing and other tax credit investments..............ccccccoccecnnee. (3) (2.1) (1) (-9
(101 SRS 1 5 — —
Provision fOr INCOME tAXES.......c.vvuererereerierereeeeee et ens $ 35 243% $ 92 63.0 %

@ For 2018, the amount relates to the accrual of non-deductible expense related to legal matters.

The Tax Cuts and JobsAct ("Tax Legiglation™), which was enacted in 2017, contains certain complex provisions such as the Base
Erosion and Anti-Abuse Tax ("BEAT"), which may have a material impact in future periods on income tax expense and taxes
payablefor the HSBC North America consolidated tax group, of which we are amember. |n December 2018, the Internal Revenue
ServiceandtheTreasury Department issued proposed regul ations(the " Proposed Regul ations") rel ated tothe BEAT, whi ch provided
guidance and clarified some of the key aspects of this tax which were not addressed in the Tax Legislation. Based on our current
interpretation of the Tax Legislation and the Proposed Regulations, the HSBC North America consolidated tax group has not
recorded a liability for the BEAT as of March 31, 2019. We continue to evaluate the BEAT provisions, including the Proposed
Regulations and their potential impact, which remains uncertain and will depend upon the issuance of final treasury regulations,
actionsHSBC North Americaor its affiliates may take asaresult of the Tax Legidation and the future earnings of HUSI and other
subsidiaries of HSBC North America. Although our analysisis ongoing and could change depending upon the factors discussed
above, we currently do not anticipate amaterial impact on HUSI's financial position or results of operations from the BEAT.

Segment Results — Group Reporting Basis

We have five distinct business segments that we utilize for management reporting and analysis purposes, which are aligned with
HSBC's global business strategy: Retail Banking and Wealth Management ("RBWM"), Commercia Banking ("CMB"), Global
Banking and Markets ("GB&M"), Private Banking ("PB") and a Corporate Center ("CC"). See Item 1, "Business," in our 2018
Form 10-K for a description of our segments, which are based upon our global businesses, including a discussion of the main
business activities of the segments and a summary of their products and services. There have been no changes in the basis of our
segmentation as compared with the presentation in our 2018 Form 10-K.

Net interest income of each segment represents the difference between actual interest earned on assets and interest incurred on
liahilities of the segment, adjusted for afunding charge or credit that includes both interest rate and liquidity components. Segments
are charged a cost to fund assets (e.g. customer loans) and receive a funding credit for funds provided (e.g. customer deposits)
based on equivalent market ratesthat i ncorporate both repricing (interest raterisk) and tenor (liquidity) characteristics. Theobjective
of these charges/credits is to transfer interest rate risk from the segments to one centralized unit in Balance Sheet Management,
recognize term funding costs/benefits and more appropriately reflect the profitability of the segments.

Certain other revenue and operating expense amounts are also apportioned among the business segments based upon the benefits
derived from this activity or the relationship of this activity to other segment activity. These inter-segment transactions have not
been eliminated, and we generally account for them as if they were with third parties.

We report financial information to our parent, HSBC, in accordance with HSBC Group accounting and reporting policies, which
apply IFRS issued by the IASB and endorsed by the EU, and, as a result, our segment results are prepared and presented using
financial information prepared on the Group Reporting Basis as operating results are monitored and reviewed, trends are eval uated
and decisions about allocating resources, such as employees, are primarily made on this basis. We continue, however, to monitor
capital adequacy and report to regulatory agencieson aU.S. GAAP basis.

There have been no changes in the measurement of segment profit as compared with the presentation in our 2018 Form 10-K.
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The significant differences between U.S. GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis as they impact our results are summarized in
Note 23, "Business Segments,” in our 2018 Form 10-K. In addition, see Note 15, "Business Segments,” in the accompanying
consolidated financial statementsfor adiscussion of significant changes since December 31, 2018 in the differences between U.S.
GAAP and the Group Reporting Basis impacting our results.

Retail Banking and Wealth Management The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our RBWM
segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INEEMESE INCOME......oi ettt ettt et e et ebe e sbeesaeesnee s $ 21 $ 216 $ 5 2.3%
Other OpeErating INCOME..........corveirreerreiriee et 65 93 (28) (30.2)
Total operating iNCOME™ ... 286 309 (23) (7.4)
EXpected Credit I0SSES.......cvuiveiiriireietreee e 21 3 18 *
NS Q0] o 1< = 11 o [T 0ol 0 1= 265 306 (41) (13.9)
OPEratiNng EXPENSES.....cvvevruereeeteseresiesesesesesse st sssbese st st se st e sbesesesesasseseseseena 311 325 (14 (4.3
LOSS DEFOIE@ taX.....cucvvicicieticc s $ 46) $ 19 $ (27) *

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.
@ Thefollowing table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our RBWM segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Current accounts, savings and AEPOSItS..........ccrveierrrricierece s $ 173 $ 172 $ 1 .6 %

Mortgages, credit cards and other personal [ending..........ccvvveerreenneeeneneereneeeenenns 52 58 (6) (10.3)

Wealth and asset management PrOTUCES...........ccureeerrrresreernereesieesee e sseseens 23 31 (8) (25.8)

Retail business banking and Other® .............coooo..ooreveeooeceeeeeeeeeseeeeeeeeseees s eeeesessseensenen 38 48 (10) (20.8)

Total OPErating iINCOME.........ccuuiviieiiiieisire bbb $ 286 $ 309 $ (23) (7.4)%

@ Includes cost reimbursements associated with activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates.

Our RBWM segment reported ahigher loss before tax during the three months ended March 31, 2019 dueto lower other operating
income and higher expected credit losses, partially offset by lower operating expenses and higher net interest income.

Net interest income increased slightly during the three months ended March 31, 2019 as higher net interest income from deposits
driven by improved spreads was largely offset by lower net interest income from lending driven by a continued decline in home
equity mortgages and lower spreads.

Other operating income decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to lower cost reimbursements
associated with shared service activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates, including the non-recurrence of
approximately $10 million of cost reimbursements recorded in the prior year period associated with enhancing the HSBC Group's
digital banking platform. The decrease also reflects lower asset management fees due to lower average assets under management
driven in part by negative market performance as well as the non-recurrence of an early termination fee received in the prior year
period from PHH Mortgage Corporation.

Expected credit |osses were higher during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to higher expected credit losses
in credit cardsreflecting growth in customer activity driven by new product promotionsalong with an associated increaseindollars
of delinquency aswell ashigher expected credit lossesin residential mortgages asthe positiveimpact of improvementsin economic
and credit conditions was more pronounced in the prior year period.

Operating expenses decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to lower cost allocations from affiliatesin our
risk and compliance support service functions, lower deposit insurance assessment fees and lower legal costs, partially offset by
higher losses associated with card fraud and higher marketing expense.
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Commercial Banking The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INErest INCOME.......ccoiiiiiicii s $ 201 $ 186 $ 15 8.1%
Other OpErating iNCOME..........vveveirrrereirerrsre e 58 55 3 55
Total 0perating iNCOME™ ..o 259 241 18 75
Expected Credit [0SSES.........cociiicc e 6 (20) 16 *
NEt OPErating INCOME.......c.cirierrieerireet ettt 253 251 2 .8
OPErating EXPENSES......cvvevreererrereeererreresese e se s se s sesresesenennes 138 151 (13) (8.6)
Profit DEfOre tax ... $ 115 $ 100 $ 15 15.0%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.
@ The following table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our CMB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Lending and Transaction Management ............ccereererireirenieenesis e $ 110 $ 108 $ 2 1.9%

Global Liquidity and Cash Management, current accounts and savings deposits................. 116 109 7 6.4

Global Trade and RecaivableS FiNANCE.........c.ccueueieueirieiiieicieieieieretee et 12 12 — —

Investment banking products and OthET ..o 21 12 9 75.0

Total OPErating INCOIMIE.......c.coveueerieieieree ettt et n e se bbb r e e snne $ 250 $ 241 $ 18 7.5%

Our CMB segment reported a higher profit before tax during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to higher net
interest income and lower operating expenses, partialy offset by higher expected credit losses.

Net interest income increased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to the favorable impact of higher loan balances
as we continued to focus efforts on improving returns while applying a disciplined lending approach to grow the business as well
asimproved spreads from rate increases.

Other operating income increased slightly during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to higher collaboration
revenue, credit facility fees and Global Liquidity and Cash Management fees.

Expected credit |osses were higher during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to downgrades reflecting weakness in the
financial condition of certain client relationships and loan growth compared with areleasein credit loss reservesin the prior year
period reflecting improvementsin credit conditions associated with certain clients at that time as well as releases of reserves due
to paydowns, sales and maturities.

Operating expenses decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to lower cost allocationsfrom affiliates
in our technology, risk and compliance support service functions and lower deposit insurance assessment fees, partially offset by
higher staff costs.
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Global Banking and Markets The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our GB& M segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INEEIESE INCOIME ... ..ttt e sbe s sae $ 151 $ 149 $ 2 13%
Other OpErating iNCOME..........vveueirrrereirerrsreee e 175 197 (220 (112
Total 0perating iNCOME™ ..........ovveeceeeceeeee e 326 346 (20) (5.8
EXpected Credit [0SSES.......cviieeeeeeeieiee e (%)) (14) B (2149
NEt OPErating INCOME.......c.cirierrieerireet et 343 360 a7) 4.7
OPEratiNG EXPENSES ...uvereereereereeeerersesesressessessessestessessessessessesessessssssssessesssssesses 206 216 (20 (4.6)
Profit DEFOrE taX .....c.civeeeiririeie e $ 137 $ 144 $ (7) (4.9%

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.

@ Thefollowing table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our GB&M segment. For purposes of the discussion below the
table, total operating income is referred to as revenue.

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)
CFEOIT ..ttt bbbttt $ 9 % 12 $ ?3) (25.0)%
REEES ...ttt 20 6 14 *
Foreign Exchange and Metals.............ccoviciiciiciiccicc s 65 84 (19) (22.6)
EQUITIES ..ttt es ettt ettt s nnnntenn 3 12 9) (75.0)
Total GlODA MArKELS.......c.couieieeeiiieice bbb 97 114 17) (14.9)
GOl BANKING. ...ttt 73 89 (16) (18.0)
Global Liquidity and Cash Management..........ccoeeeueerirceeiniieeieeninceeeseneseseesesesesessessessessesseees 126 133 (7 (5.3
SECUIMTIES SEIVICES......cuiiiiiiriii bbb s 16 17 1) (5.9
Global Trade and Receivables Finance 15 14 1 71
Credit and funding valuation adjustments 13 4 9 *
OB s (14) (25) 11 44.0
Total OPErating INCOME..........cciiiiiriiiiriisi st $ 326 $ 346 $ (20) (5.8)%

@ Includes cost reimbursements associated with activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates and certain corporate funding charges not assigned to
products. Beginning in the fourth quarter of 2018, we began allocating interest earned on capital, which was historically reported in Other, to the product
linesin the table above and, as aresult, we have reclassified prior year amountsin order to conform to the current year presentation. Reported total operating
income for al periods was unaffected.

Our GB&M segment reported a lower profit before tax during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to lower
other operating income, partialy offset by lower operating expenses.

Credit revenue decreased during the three monthsended March 31, 2019 dueto lower revenue from collateralized financing rel ated
activity.

Ratesrevenueincreased during thethree monthsended March 31, 2019 dueto higher revenuefrom emerging marketsrate products.

Foreign Exchange and Metals revenue decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to lower revenue in Foreign
Exchange as stable client trading activity was more than offset by the impact of market conditions as well as lower revenue in
Metals driven by alower redeployment of liquidity in the short term to Metals and lower trading activity.

Equities revenue decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to lower client activity in structured equity
derivatives.

Global Banking revenue decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to higher losses associated with credit
default swap protection which largely reflects the hedging of a single client exposure, lower net interest income and lower loan
syndication fees.

Global Liquidity and Cash Management revenue decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to lower clearing
fees, lower compliance fees, an unfavorable shift in product mix and a reporting change for cost reimbursements associated with
activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates as discussed below. These decreases were partially offset by higher net
interest income due to the favorable impact of higher short-term market rates.
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Securities Services revenue was relatively flat during the three months ended March 31, 2019 as a reporting change for cost
reimbursements associated with activities performed on behalf of other HSBC affiliates as discussed bel ow was largely offset by
higher revenue from additional direct custody and clearing client activity aswell ashigher net interest income dueto the favorable
impact of higher short-term market rates.

Global Trade and Receivables Finance revenue was relatively flat during the three months ended March 31, 2019.

Credit and funding valuation adjustments resulted in higher gains during the three months ended March 31, 2019 attributable
primarily to movements in our own credit spreads within our derivative liability balances.

Other revenue improved during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to lower excess liquidity charges and a reporting
changefor cost reimbursements associated with activities performed on behal f of other HSBC affiliates. During the second quarter
of 2018, we began reporting these cost reimbursements in Other and, as a result, we reported $8 million of cost reimbursements
in Other during the three months ended March 31, 2019 that previously would have been reported in Global Liquidity and Cash
Management and Securities Services above.

Expected credit losses reflected slightly higher releases during the three months ended March 31, 2019 as higher rel easesin credit
lossreservesduetoimprovementsin credit conditionsassoci ated with certain client rel ationships, including the upgrade of asingle
oil and gas industry client in the current year period, was largely offset by lower releases in credit |0ss reserves associated with
paydowns, sales and maturities as well as higher 1oss estimates for downgrades reflecting weakness in the financial condition of
certain client relationships and loan growth.

Operating expenses were lower during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to lower deposit insurance assessment fees,
lower cost allocations from affiliates in our technology, risk and compliance support service functions and lower staff costs.

Private Banking The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our PB segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INLErESE INCOME......cceiieeereeirere et $ 37 $ 47 $ (10) (21.9)%
Other OpErating INCOME..........curueirieirieiriee e 16 20 (4 (20.0)
Total OPErating INCOME ... s 53 67 (14) (20.9
EXpected Credit [0SSES..... ..ottt (1) 3) 2 66.7
NEt OPErating INCOME. ... 54 70 (16) (22.9
OPErating EXPENSES .....cveerererererereseseseseseresesesesesesesesese e e sese st ae s s sesesssessssseseens 53 61 8 (131
0 T 1= {0 = - TR $ 1 $ 9 $ (8) (88.9%

In August 2017, our PB business entered into an agreement to refer parts of its Latin America portfolio, consisting primarily of
clients based in areas where we do not have a corporate presence, including Central Americaand the Andean Pact, to UBS. Under
the terms of the agreement, we facilitate the referral of these client relationshipsto UBS for afee, including the transfer of client
assets, consisting of clientinvestmentsand deposits, aswell asthetransfer of therel ationship managersand client serviceemployees
that support these clients. Loans associated with these client relationships were not included in the agreement. Total operating
income associated with these client relationships was nil and $8 million during the first quarter of 2019 and 2018, respectively.

The following table providesinformation regarding PB client assets during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018
(in millions)

Client assets at beginning Of PEIOU.............ccueeieeieicieece ettt $ 36,017 $ 39,089
INEL NEW IMONEY ...ttt ettt et e e et e see et e seeemeesaeemeesbeeneesbeentesseenseeneeneesneennas 1,001 133
CHent tranSfErS O UBS ...ttt s re st st et ae e neeneene e (23) (805)
RV LU Y 7= o SRS 1,413 (265)

Client assets at €nd Of PEITOM...........c.cveueuieiieeieteeeee ettt ettt ettt an s e s seneas $ 38408 $ 38,152

Our PB segment reported a lower profit before tax during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to lower net
interest income and lower other operating income, partially offset by lower operating expenses.

Net interest income decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 reflecting the impact of lower deposit balances due
primarily to the impact of the client referral agreement with UBS.
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Other operating income decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to lower fees and commissions reflecting
adecline in assets under management.

Expected credit losses increased dightly during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to a higher release in credit loss
reservesin the prior year period reflecting lower |oss estimates on residential mortgages.

Operating expenses decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 largely due to lower staff costs and lower deposit
insurance assessment fees.

Corporate Center The following table summarizes the Group Reporting Basis results for our CC segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

NEL INTErESE INCOME ...ttt $ 14 $ 15 $ 1) (6.7)%
Other OpErating iNCOME........c.vvereirrrereirerrereeere e 24 83 (59 (711
Total 0perating iNCOME™ ..o 38 98 (60) (61.2)
EXpected Credit I0SSES. ... 1 3 (2 (66.7)
NEt OPErating INCOIME.......c.civierrireetireete ettt 37 95 (58) (61.1)
OPErating EXPENSES.....cvvevreererrereeererreresese s se s s s s e s sssesessssesesesennes 40 532 (492) (92.5)
LOSSDEfOr@ taX .......cvieiiieicicc e $ 3) $ (437) $ 434 99.3 %

* Percentage change is greater than 100 percent.
@ Thefollowing table summarizes the impact of key activities on the total operating income of our CC segment:

Increase (Decrease)

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018 Amount %
(dollars are in millions)

Balance Sheet ManagemMeNnt® ...........o..oveeeeeeeiseseeeseeeeesses s sseessssess s sss s snseeenes $ 69 $ 68 $ 1 1.5 %

Legacy structured Credit ProdUCES ...t (31) 17 (48) *

L 137 TP — 13 (13) (100.0)

Total OPErating INCOME...........ovurvririiei s an $ 38 $ 98 $ (60) (61.2)%

@ Balance Sheet Management includes gains on the sale of securities of $7 million and $5 million in the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018,
respectively.

Our CC segment reported alower loss before tax during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to lower operating

expenses driven by expense recorded in the prior year period related to a mortgage securitization legal matter that was settled in

October 2018, partially offset by lower other operating income.

Net interest income was relatively flat during the three months ended March 31, 2019.

Other operating income decreased during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to aloss of approximately $39
million recorded during the first quarter of 2019 related to the unwind of one of our unconsolidated VIEs as well as unfavorable
movements related to the economic hedging of interest rate risk within our own debt.

Expected credit losses were lower during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due to a higher loss in the prior year period
reflecting higher loss estimates on certain financia assets.

Operating expenses were lower during the three months ended March 31, 2019 due primarily to lower expense related to legal
matters driven by expense recorded in the prior year period related to a mortgage securitization matter as discussed above.

Reconciliation of Segment Results Asprevioudly discussed, segment resultsarereported onaGroup Reporting Basis. SeeNote 15,
"Business Segments,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for areconciliation of our Group Reporting Basis
segment resultsto U.S. GAAP consolidated totals.
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Credit Quality

In the normal course of business, we enter into a variety of transactions that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk.
Principal among these activities is lending to various commercial, institutional, governmental and individual customers. We
participate in lending activity throughout the U.S. and, on alimited basis, internationally.

Our reported results under U.S. GAAP reflect the following methodol ogies for establishing the allowance for credit losses.

Allowance for Credit Losses Commercia loans are monitored on a continuous basis with aformal assessment completed, at a
minimum, annually. As part of this process, a credit grade and loss given default are assigned and an allowance is established for
these loans based on a probability of default estimate associated with each credit grade under the allowance for credit losses
methodology. Credit Review, a function independent of the business, provides an ongoing assessment of lending activities that
includesindependently assessing credit gradesand | oss given default estimatesfor sampled creditsacross various portfolios. When
it is deemed probable based upon known facts and circumstances that full interest and principal on an individual loan will not be
collected in accordance with its contractual terms, the loan is considered impaired. An impairment reserve is then established
primarily based on the present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at the loan's original effective interest rate, or asa
practical expedient, the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent or the loan's observable market price if the
loan is traded in the market. Updated appraisals for collateral dependent loans are generally obtained only when such loans are
considered troubled and the frequency of such updates are generally based on management judgment under the specific
circumstances on a case-by-case basis. In addition, |oss reserves on commercial loans are maintained to reflect our judgment of
portfolio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the reserve calculations.

Our probability of default estimatesfor commercial |oans are mapped to our credit grade master scale. These probability of default
estimates are validated on an annual basis using back-testing of actual default rates and benchmarking of the internal ratings with
externa rating agency data like Standard and Poor's ("S& P") ratings and default rates. Substantially all appraisalsin connection
with commercial real estate |loans are ordered by the independent real estate appraisal review unit at HSBC. The appraisal must
be reviewed and accepted by thisunit. For loans greater than $250,000, an appraisal isgenerally ordered when theloanisclassified
as Substandard as defined by the Office of the Comptroller of the Currency ("OCC"). On average, it takes approximately four
weeksfrom thetimethe appraisal isordered until it iscompleted and the val ues accepted by HSBC'sindependent appraisal review
unit. Subsequent provisions or charge-offs are completed shortly thereafter, generally within the quarter in which the appraisal is
received.

In situations where an external appraisal is not used to determine the fair value of the underlying collateral of impaired loans,
current information such asrent rolls and operating statements of the subject property are reviewed and presented in a standardized
format. Operating results such as net operating income and cash flows before and after debt service are established and reported
with relevant ratios. Third-party market datais gathered and reviewed for relevance to the subject collateral. Datais also collected
from similar propertieswithin the portfolio. Actual saleslevelsof properties, operating income and expensefiguresand rental data
on asquarefoot basisare derived from existing loans and, when appropriate, used as comparabl esfor the subject property. Property
specific data, augmented by market data research, is used to project a stabilized year of income and expense to create a 10-year
cash flow model to bediscounted at appropriateratesto present value. Thesevaluationsarethen used to determineif any impai rment
on the underlying loans exists and an appropriate allowance is recorded when warranted.

For loans identified as troubled debt restructurings ("TDR Loans"), an allowance for credit losses is maintained primarily based
onthe present value of expected future cash flows, discounted at theloan'soriginal effectiveinterest rate, or asapractical expedient,
the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral dependent or, for commercial |oans, the observable market price if the loan
istraded inthe market. The circumstancesin which we perform aloan modification involving aTDR Loan at athen current market
interest rate for a borrower with similar credit risk would include other changes to the terms of the original loan made as part of
the restructuring (e.g. principal reductions, collateral changes, etc.) in order for the loan to be classified asa TDR Loan.

For pools of homogeneous consumer loans and certain small business loans which do not qualify as TDR Loans, we estimate
probablelossesusing aroll rate migration analysisthat estimatesthe likelihood that aloan will progress through the various stages
of delinquency and ultimately charge-off based upon recent historical performance experience of other loansin our portfolio. This
migration analysis incorporates estimates of the period of time between aloss occurring and the confirming event of its charge-
off. Thisanalysis considers delinquency status, loss experience and severity and takes into account whether borrowers have filed
for bankruptcy or have been subject to account management actions, such as the re-age or modification of accounts. We also take
into consideration the loss severity expected based on the underlying collateral, if any, for the loan in the event of default based
on historical and recent trendswhich are updated monthly based on arolling average of several months datausing the most recently
available information.

Theroll rate methodology isamigration analysis based on contractual delinquency and rolling average historical |oss experience
which capturesthe increased likelihood of an account migrating to charge-off asthe past due status of such account increases. The
roll rate models used were developed by tracking the movement of delinquencies by age of delinquency over a specified time
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period. Each stage of delinquency represents a period of delinquency in 30-day increments. The roll from the last delinquency
stage resultsin charge-off. Contractual delinquency isamethod for determining aging of past due accounts based on the status of
paymentsunder theloan. Averageroll rates are devel oped to avoid temporary aberrations caused by seasonal trendsin delinquency
experienced by some product types. We have determined that a 12-month average roll rate balances the desire to avoid temporary
aberrations, while at the same time analyzing recent historical data. Theroll rate cal culations are performed monthly and are done
consistently from period to period. Weregularly monitor our portfolio to evaluatethe period of timeutilizedinour roll ratemigration
analysis and perform aformal review on an annual basis. In addition, loss reserves on consumer loans are maintained to reflect
our judgment of portfolio risk factors which may not be fully reflected in the statistical roll rate calculation.

Our alowance for credit losses methodology and our accounting policies related to the allowance for credit losses are presented
infurther detail under the caption " Critical Accounting Policiesand Estimates’ andin Note 2, " Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements,”" in our 2018 Form 10-K. Our approach toward credit risk management is
summarized under the caption "Risk Management" in our 2018 Form 10-K. There have been no significant revisionsto our policies
or methodol ogies during the first quarter of 2019.

The following table sets forth the allowance for credit losses for the periods indicated:

March 31, December 31,

2019 2018
(dollars are in millions)
AOWANCE TOF CrEdIT IOSSES .....veviiiiciietec et s er e ae s resbesbesaesrenan $ 583 % 541
Ratio of Allowance for credit losses to:
Loans:®
Commercial:
N[0T T = == SRS 1.02% 97%
ATTIHBEES. ...ttt et ettt et et e e be s b et e beste s e st essesseaeebeebeeaeebestesneebenteses — —
B0 = o000 0 01 (- .96 .93
Consumer:
RESIAENLIA MOMGBGES ......eveveeeterieieriet ettt b bbbttt es .06 07
HOME eQUILY MOIGAJES .......cveiieeeieiie i .85 71
(@10 ] oo S 6.06 5.69
OLNEE CONSUMIES ...ttt ettt st e et e e eae e beeae e beeaseebeeasesaeessesaeestesaeestesseestesseansenns 2.52 1.98
B 10 = o0 TS U 3= S 45 42
Ottt ettt et e et ettt eheeteeaeebeebeeheeheebeebeeheebenbebeteatententeateaeeaeeaeebeeteeaeebeebesreareatan .82% .78%
Net charge-offs:®
COMMEICIAI® ...ttt et ee e se et s e sn e ee e eeenea 6,188% 1,117%
L0 1S 1 1= PSR 154 319
Ol ettt et ettt e et et e aeeheeteeaeebeebeebeeheebeebeeheebenbebeteatententeateseeaeaaeebeeteeaeebeebesrearentan 897% 807%
Nonperforming loans:®V®
(ol n0] 01 (o !SSP 375% 318%
L0 1S 1= SRR 21 20
TOLAL ...ttt ettt ettt ettt e beebeeheeheebeehesheebebeetetenteatentereeseeaeeaeeteeteeaeebeetesreereatan 107% 97%

@ Ratios exclude loans held for sale as these loans are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value.
@ Ratiosat March 31, 2019 reflect year-to-date net charge-offs, annualized. Ratios at December 31, 2018 reflect full year net charge-offs.

®  Our commercial net charge-off coverage ratio for the quarter ended March 31, 2019 and year ended December 31, 2018 was 743 months and 134 months,
respectively. The net charge-off coverage ratio represents the commercial allowance for credit losses at period end divided by average monthly commercial
net charge-offs during the period.

@ Representsour commercial and consumer allowancefor credit | osses, asappropriate, divided by the corresponding outstanding balance of total nonperforming
loans held for investment. Nonperforming loans include accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more.

See Note 5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for a rollforward of credit

losses by general 1oan categories for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018.

The alowance for credit losses at March 31, 2019 increased $42 million or 8 percent as compared with December 31, 2018 due
to higher loss estimates in both our commercial and consumer loan portfolios.
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Our commercial alowance for credit losses increased $37 million or 8 percent as compared with December 31, 2018 due to
downgradesreflectingweaknessin thefinancial condition of certain client rel ationshipsand loan growth, partially offset by releases
in credit loss reserves due to paydowns.

Our consumer allowance for credit losses increased $5 million or 6 percent as compared with December 31, 2018 due to a higher
allowance for credit lossesin credit cards reflecting growth in customer activity driven by new product promotions along with an
associated increase in dollars of delinquency as well as a higher allowance for credit losses in other consumer loans driven by
deterioration in early stage delinquency roll rates. These increases were partialy offset by alower allowance for credit lossesin
residential mortgages due to improvements in economic and credit conditions.

Our residential mortgage loan allowance for credit lossesin all periods reflects consideration of risk factorsrelating to trends such
as recent portfolio performance as compared with average roll rates aswell as housing market trends and second lien exposure.

The alowance for credit losses as a percentage of total loans held for investment at March 31, 2019 increased as compared with
December 31, 2018 astheincreasein our allowancefor credit losses for the reasons discussed above outpaced theincreasein total
loans held for investment.

The allowance for credit losses as a percentage of net charge-offs at March 31, 2019 increased as compared with December 31,
2018 dueto anincreasein our allowance for credit losses for the reasons discussed above and a decrease in dollars of net charge-
offs driven by lower charge-offsin our commercial loan portfolio associated with loan sales and managed reductions in certain
exposures, partially offset by higher charge-offsin our consumer loan portfolio due primarily to higher charge-offsin credit cards
reflecting growth in customer activity driven by new product promotions and, to alesser extent, higher charge-offsin residential
mortgages due to a net recovery in the prior year period.

Theallowancefor credit lossesasapercentage of nonperforming loansheld for investment at March 31, 2019 increased ascompared
with December 31, 2018 due to an increase in our allowance for credit losses for the reasons discussed above and a decrease in
nonperforming loans due primarily to the paydown of alarge oil and gas industry loan in our commercial loan portfolio.

The following table presents the allowance for credit losses by major loan categories, excluding loans held for sale:

% of % of
Loans to Loans to
Total Total
Amount Loans Amount Loans
March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
(dollars are in millions)
(0000 1011= (o= AT $ 495 724% $ 458 71.5%
Consumer:
Residential MOMQAQES.......coivieeieiierie ettt st st e st e snaenreeneenes 10 245 13 25.2
HOME EQUILY MOMJBOES. .....ecveeeeereeieriecrieesie ettt bbbttt 8 1.3 7 1.4
(O o [ o= (0 T 63 15 58 15
(@1 01S o010 0 01 (TR 7 3 5 4
TOLAl CONSUIMET ...ttt ettt et e et e e et e e sae e s s be e e e e bt e s sssbeessabeessbbessanseessabeesssseeesans 88 27.6 83 285

TOUBL ... bbb e bbbt p et et nrene $ 583 100.0% $ 541 100.0%

@ SeeNote5, "Allowance for Credit Losses," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for components of the commercial allowance for credit
losses.

Reserves for Off-Balance Sheet Credit Risk Wealso maintain aseparatereservefor credit risk associated with certain commercial
off-balance sheet exposures, including letters of credit, unused commitments to extend credit and financial guarantees. The

following table summarizes this reserve, which is included in other liabilities on the consolidated balance sheet. The related
provision is recorded as a component of other expense within operating expenses.

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Off-balance SHEEL CraTit FISK FESEIVE.......oi ettt ettt e et e s st e s e bt e s s eaae e s sbe e s sbbesssaeessareeas $ 89 $ 96

Off-balance sheet reserves at March 31, 2019 decreased as compared with December 31, 2018 reflecting lower outstanding
exposure. Off-balance sheet exposures are summarized under the caption "Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives
and Other Contractual Obligations' in this MD&A.
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Delinquency Thefollowing table summarizesdollarsof two-months-and-over contractual delinquency and two-months-and-over
contractual delinquency as a percent of total loans and loans held for sale ("delinquency ratio"):

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(dollars are in millions)

Delinquent loans:

(@0 110 o - PSS $ 37 $ 60
Consumer:
ReSIAENtial MOMGAIEST®P ... s se e se e seesneenes 356 347
HOME eqUity MOMGAgEST@ ...t en e 29 30
(@10 1 o o S 22 20
(@197 o 1S 1 1= PSSR 7 8
10 = o TS U = 414 405
TOUBL...vecvev ettt s ettt s et et et s st e et s s st st a s st e en s e s ettt en e s et et st en s s e e e e $ 451 $ 465
Delinquency ratio:
LO0 0] 0101 (o SRS .07% 12%
Consumer:
Residential MOrgAgEsT@ ... ssses s ses s 2.05 1.99
Home equity MOrgages™@ ... 3.08 3.05
L= [ o= o PSR 2.12 1.96
ONEE CONSUMIES ..ottt ettt sttt st s et e st et e eaeesbeeaeesbeeasesbeensesaeessesaeesbesaeesbesseesbessnentenes 2.52 2.62
B0 = o0 0 0= RS 2.11 2.05
o= OO .63% 67%

@ At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, consumer mortgage |oan delinquency includes $223 million and $254 million, respectively, of loans that are
carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less coststo sell, including $1 million and $1 million, respectively, relating to loans held
for sae.

@ Thefollowing table reflects dollars of contractual delinquency and delinquency ratios for interest-only loans and adjustable rate mortgage loans:
March 31, December 31,
2019 2018
(dollars are in millions)

Dollars of delinquent loans:

INEErESE-ONIY [OBNS ...ttt $ K7 9

N T O STTRR 129 114
Delinquency ratio:

INEErESE-ONIY [OBNS ...ttt 1.03% .28%

ARM OGNS ..ottt £ttt 1.06 .94

Compared with December 31, 2018, our two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 4 basis points dueto lower
dollars of delinquency in our commercial loan portfolio, partially offset by higher dollars of delinquency in our consumer loan
portfolio.

Our commercial loan two-months-and-over contractual delinquency ratio decreased 5 basis points compared with December 31,
2018 due to improved collections, including the collection of a commercial real estate loan which became 60 days delinquent in
the fourth quarter of 2018, as well as higher outstanding |oan balances.

Compared with December 31, 2018, our consumer |oan two-month-and-over contractual delinquency ratio increased 6 basis points
due primarily to higher dollars of residential mortgage delinquency driven by certain Private Banking customers which became
60 days delinquent in the first quarter and slightly higher dollars of credit card delinquency reflecting growth in customer activity
driven by new product promotions.
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Net Charge-offs of Loans Thefollowingtablesummarizesnet charge-off (recovery) dollarsaswell asthe net charge-off (recovery)
of loans for the quarter, annualized, as a percentage of average loans, excluding loans held for sale, ("net charge-off ratio"):

March 31, December 31, March 31,
2019 2018 2018

(dollars are in millions)

Net Charge-off Dollars:

Commercial:
Business and COrporate DanKiNgG...........cceveueieiiieiiieieieie bbb $ 2 $ 6 $
Global banking..... — — 4
Total commercial 2 6
Consumer:
ReSIAENtial MOIMQBGES. .......cocviiiiiiiri bbb 2 1 3
CrOAIT CAIAS ... vttt b et b et b b st b b e e £ e b e Rt s e b b e e e e e b et s e b b et e b e b e e e et et ne bt e e s 11 9 6
ONEI COMNSUITIET ...ttt sttt ettt b et b bt b b s e e s b b e e S e b e Rt se b e b et e e e b e e b eb e b e st et e b e st s e e b et e bt e e s 1 1
TOLBl CONSUITIET ......uviiittiieieteieteiebet bbb bbb bbb bbb bbb a b b e b b eh b s eh b b a b b e eb s th b s e b st b sttt nates 14 11 4
Tl ..ttt ettt ettt ettt ettt etttk a bbbttt bt a bt s bbb At s R e R e s e A et At E b e At e s At e b bt e s et et esebebesebete st tesetetens $ 16 $ 7 % 11
Net Charge-off Ratio:
Commercial:
Business and Corporate banking............cccceeiiiii s .06 .18 .10
Global banking..... — — .08
Total commercial .02 .05 .06
Consumer:
RESIAENTIA] MOMGAGES. ... evvvvcrriercirisei sttt bbb bbbt .05 .02 (.07)
(@L< o= o LTSRN 4.41 3.76 3.26
ONEI COMSUITIET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt b et e bt b b s £ re e b b e e e o b et se e b b et ne e b e Rt s eb e b et e b e b e n e s e e b et e bt e e s 1.78 1.63 1.13
TOLBI CONSUIMIET ...ttt ettt ettt ettt et b et b e b et b b e st se s b e he e b e b et se b e be e eb e b et b e b e b e se et e be st e b et enesesbebens .29 22 .08
TOAl .ottt ettt ettt et et a e s b et a e b b et ehe b e s At ea et eAeehe b e s eAeeRenteaseae s eneebeebe et eneebebenseneereseneebesreneas .09% .10% .07%

Our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of average loans for the quarter ended March 31, 2019 decreased 1 basis point compared
with the quarter ended December 31, 2018 dueto lower levels of net charge-offsin our commercial loan portfolio associated with
managed reductions in certain exposures, partially offset by higher levels of net charge-offsin our consumer loan portfolio due
primarily to higher charge-offsin credit cards reflecting growth in customer activity driven by new product promotions.

Compared with the quarter ended March 31, 2018, our net charge-off ratio as a percentage of averageloansincreased 2 basispoints
due to higher levels of net charge-offsin our consumer loan portfolio due to higher charge-offs in credit cards reflecting growth
in customer activity driven by new product promotions and higher charge-offs in residential mortgages as the positive impact of
improvements in economic and credit conditions was more pronounced in the prior year period. These increases were partialy
offset by lower levels of net charge-offs in our commercial loan portfolio associated with loan sales and managed reductions in
certain exposures.
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Nonperforming Assets Nonperforming assets consisted of the following:

March 31, December 31,
2019 2018

(in millions)

Nonaccrual loans:

Commercial:
Real estate, iNCluding CONSIIUCTION..........ccciuiiiiiieiiec e e $ 5 % 7
Business and corporate Banking ..........ccccoveeeirieeeciesiese s e s see e ste e ae e e se e sresresae e sresaesnens 78 70
GlODEI DANKING ...t ettt sb b bbb e e 48 65
Other COMIMEITIAL ...ttt e e e et e et h e b e e it e ae b e s besaesbesbeseeseenean — 1
TOtA COMIMEITIAL ...ttt ettt sttt se et et e st et ene e e e e eseesesnesaesbeseeseenean 131 143
Consumer:
Residential MOrGagEST @) .. ...t ee e ee e 344 341
HOME eqUItY MOMGAGESY® ... ..ot e e se e se e een s 50 55
Consumer nonaccrual [0ansS held for Sale..........ooiiiiiiiie e 1 1
TOUAl CONMSUMIET ...ttt ettt ettt et et et ae et he s b e s et ebeebe s bese e b e bese et eneeneeneebesbesaesbesbeseeseenean 395 397
TOtal NONACCIUING L0BNS........ciieeiieeisieis ettt ne st e e re e es 526 540
Accruing loans contractually past due 90 days or more:
Commercial:
Business and corporate Danking ..........cceeveeeeeieeeeiesiese s e sestese e s e e e e e e e e s e sresresaesresreseennens 1 1
TOtA COMIMEITIAL ...ttt b et b e bt e b b e e e et e e et ebesb e bt ebesbeseeseeneas 1 1
Consumer:
(@10 ] o o R 15 14
(@107 0T 1S W 0 S 5 6
TOLEl COMSUIMES ...ttt sttt sttt st ekt b e st s b et st etk et b et beneebese et e seebeneebeneenens 20 20
Total accruing loans contractually past due 90 days OF MOKE.........ccccceveeerierieeiesesie e 21 21
Total NONPErfOrMING [0ANS .........cvieceeeeceee e st be b s be s besaesrenan 547 561
Other real EStAEE OWNEA™ ..ot es st 12 12
Total NONPEITOIMING ASSELS .....c.viieeieeeeee ettt ettt ettt e e eaeebesteeaeebeebesreenennan 3 559 $ 573

@ At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include $262 million and $289 million, respectively,
of loansthat are carried at the lower of amortized cost or fair value of the collateral less cost to sell.

@ Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans held for investment include all loans which are 90 or more days contractually delinquent as well as loans discharged
under Chapter 7 bankruptcy and not re-affirmed and second lien loans where the first lien loan that we own or service is 90 or more days contractually
delinquent.

®  Nonaccrual consumer mortgage loans for all periods does not include guaranteed loans purchased from the Government National Mortgage Association.
Repayment of these loans is predominantly insured by the Federal Housing Administration and as such, these loans have different risk characteristics from
the rest of our customer loan portfolio.

@

Includes $1 million or less of commercial other real estate owned at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018.

Nonaccrual |oansdecreased compared with December 31, 2018 due primarily tolower level sof nonaccrual loansin our commercial
loan portfolio driven by the paydown of a large oil and gas industry loan, partially offset by the downgrade of a business and
corporate banking loan. Accruing loans past due 90 days or more were flat as compared with December 31, 2018.

Our policies and practices for problem loan management and placing loans on nonaccrua status are summarized in Note 2,
"Summary of Significant Accounting Policies and New Accounting Pronouncements,” in our 2018 Form 10-K.

Impaired Commercial Loans See Note 4, "Loans,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information
regardingimpaired loans, including TDR Loansaswell as certain other commercial credit quality indicators. Commercial impaired
loans decreased as compared with December 31, 2018 due to lower nonaccrual loans as discussed above as well as the paydown
of alarge accruing TDR Loan in global banking.
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Concentration of Credit Risk A concentration of credit risk is defined as asignificant credit exposure with anindividual or group
engaged in similar activities or affected similarly by economic conditions. We enter into a variety of transactions in the normal
course of business that involve both on and off-balance sheet credit risk. Principal among these activities is lending to various
commercial, ingtitutional, governmental and individual customers throughout the United States and internationally. We manage
the varying degrees of credit risk associated with on and off-balance sheet transactions through specific credit policies and
procedures which provide for a strict approval, monitoring and reporting process. It is our policy to require collateral when it is
deemed appropriate. Varying degrees and types of collateral are secured depending upon management's credit evaluation.

Our consumer loan portfolio includes the following types of |oans:

* Interest-only loans—A loan which allows a customer to pay the interest-only portion of the monthly payment for a period
of time which resultsin lower payments during theinitial 1oan period.

» Adjustable rate mortgage ("ARM") loans— A loan which allows us to adjust pricing on the loan in line with market
movements.

The following table summarizes the balances of interest-only and ARM loans in our loan portfolios, including certain loans held
for sale, at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018. Each category is not mutually exclusive and loans may appear in more than
one category below.

March 31, December 31,

2019 2018

(in millions)
Interest-only residential mortgage and home equity mortgage [0ans.........cccccvevveeeeeeeecececesese s $ 3290 $ 3,208
ARM L0BNSY ... es e es e es s esssesssessssnnees 12,184 12,096

@ During the remainder of 2019 and during 2020, approximately $363 million and $746 million, respectively, of the ARM loans will experience their first
interest rate reset.

Thefollowing table summarizes the concentrations of first and second lienswithin the outstanding residential mortgage and home
equity mortgage portfolios. Amountsin the table exclude residential mortgage loans held for sale of $32 million and $65 million
at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

March 31, December 31,

2019 2018
(in millions)
Closed end:
FITSE LNttt ettt ettt s bbbt as bbb s st et s s et s s et en st st ensntesntanans $ 17368 $ 17,383
TS o0 00 [ 1T o T 39 40
REVOIVING™ ...ttt ettt ee et e s ee e e e et s sees e es e s ee e s eesesesnn e 902 942
o= OO $ 18309 $ 18,365

@ A mgjority of revolving are second lien mortgages.
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Geographic Concentrations The following tablereflectsregional exposure at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018 for our real
estate secured loan portfolios:

Commercial Residential

Real Estate, Mortgages and
including Home Equity
Construction Loans Mortgages
March 31, 2019
NEW YOTK SEBEE......eeueeeeetiriestistesesestes e s e see e e e e ese e e s e stesteseestestesaeseensenseseensenaennenensens 30.8% 31.6%
(0= 11 £0]1 2 TT- VRSSO 21.5 43.8
North Central United SEatES........ccceieieiereeieeeieeceeerese et s e e enens 35 2.0
North Eastern United States, excluding New YOrk State..........coovveeveneneneeneeieeiceennens 6.4 7.8
SOUthern UNIted SEALES .......cceiiieieiereeeeiee et st eneens 29.7 10.2
Western United States, excluding California..........cooeevererenenenenie e 8.1 4.6
1o TSR 100.0% 100.0%
December 31, 2018
NEW YOTK SEBEE......eeueeeeetiriestestesesieste e e sesaeee e e esessessesresteseesrestesaeseensenseneeneenennneneesens 32.1% 31.8%
(0= 1) {0] 1 o T= VRSSO 215 435
North Central United SEateS........ccvvererereereeeeeeere s e e s 3.0 20
North Eastern United States, excluding New YOrk State..........ccooovevenenereieeienicniennens 6.4 7.8
SOUthern UNIted SEALES .......cceieereiieierecee ettt ene s 28.9 104
Western United States, excluding California.........cocoovererineeneeneineesceseeseesees 8.1 45
o = SRR 100.0% 100.0%
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Credit Risks Associated with Derivative Contracts Credit risk associated with derivativesis measured asthe net replacement cost
of derivative contractsin areceivable position in the event the counterparties of such contractsfail to perform under the terms of
those contracts. In managing derivative credit risk, both the current exposure, which is the replacement cost of contracts on the
measurement date, as well as an estimate of the potential change in value of contracts over their remaining lives are considered.
Counterpartiesto our derivative activitiesinclude financial institutions, central clearing parties, foreign and domestic government
agencies, corporations, funds (mutual funds, hedge funds, etc.), insurance companies and private clients as well as other HSBC
entities. These counterparties are subject to regular credit review by the credit risk management department. To minimize credit
risk, we may enter into legally enforceable master netting agreements which reduce risk by permitting the closeout and netting of
transactions with the same counterparty upon occurrenceof certain events. In addition, wereduce credit risk by obtaining collateral
from counterparties. The determination of the need for and the levels of collateral will differ based on an assessment of the credit
risk of the counterparty and/or regulatory requirements.

Thetotal risk in aderivative contract is a function of a number of variables, such as:

« voldtility of interest rates, currencies, equity or corporate reference entity used as the basis for determining contract
payments;

«  current market events or trends;

e country risk;

e maturity and liquidity of contracts;

» creditworthiness of the counterparties in the transaction;

» theexistence of a master netting agreement among the counterparties; and

* existence and value of collateral received from counterparties to secure exposures.
Thetable below presentstotal credit risk exposure cal culated using the general risk-based capital rulesof theBasel 111 Standardized
Approach which includes the net positive mark-to-market of the derivative contracts plus any adjusted potential future exposure
as measured in reference to the notional amount. The regulatory capital rules recognize that bilateral netting agreements reduce
credit risk and, therefore, allow for reductions of risk-weighted assets when netting requirements have been met and collateral
exists. Asaresult, risk-weighted amountsfor regul atory capital purposesare aportion of theoriginal grossexposures. Furthermore,
many contracts contain provisions that allow usto close out the transaction if the counterparty failsto post required collateral. In

addition, many contracts give us the right to break the transactions earlier than the final maturity date. As aresult, these contracts
have potential future exposures that are often much smaller than the future exposures derived from the regulatory capital rules.

March 31, December 31,

2019 2018
(in millions)
Risk associated with derivative contracts:
TOtaAl Credit FISK EXPOSUIE.......cuieeeerieterieiirieerieesi ettt ettt et e b s st se st e be e s be e sbe e ntens $ 33548 $ 30,643
Less: collateral held 80aiNst @XPOSUNE. ..o e 6,038 5,251
NEL Credit FISK EXPOSUIE ......ecveeeteieetiseete sttt sttt sttt sttt se b st sttt s benesbe e be e be e etens $ 27510 $ 25392

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Effectiveliquidity management isdefined asensuring we can meet customer | oan requests, customer deposit maturities/withdrawals
and other cash commitmentsefficiently under both normal operating conditionsand under unpredictabl e circumstances of industry
or market stress. To achi evethi sobjective, wehaveguidelinesthat requiresufficient liquidity to cover potential funding requirements
and to avoid over-dependence on volatile, less reliable funding markets. Guidelines are set for the consolidated balance sheet of
HSBC USA to ensure that it is a source of strength for our regulated, deposit-taking banking subsidiary, as well as to address the
more limited sources of liquidity availableto it as a holding company. Similar guidelines are set for HSBC Bank USA to ensure
that it can meet itsliquidity needsin various stress scenarios. Cash flow analysis, including stresstesting scenarios, formsthebasis
for liquidity management and contingency funding plans. See "Risk Management" in this MD&A for further discussion of our
approach towards liquidity risk management, including information regarding the key measures employed to define, monitor and
control our liquidity and funding risk.

Interest Bearing Deposits with Banks totaled $20,197 million and $15,700 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively, of which $18,983 million and $14,376 million, respectively, were held with the Federal Reserve Bank. Balances may
fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity. Surplus
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interest bearing deposits with the Federal Reserve Bank may be deployed into securities purchased under agreements to resell or
other investments depending on market conditions and the opportunity to maximize returns.

Federal Funds Sold and Securities Purchased under Agreements to Resell totaled $6,924 million and $10,168 million at
March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. Balances may fluctuate from period to period depending upon our liquidity
position at the time and our strategy for deploying liquidity.

Trading Assets includes securities totaling $17,978 million and $17,041 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018,
respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD& A for further analysis and discussion on trends.

Securities includes securities available-for-sale and securities held-to-maturity totaling $46,423 million and $46,049 million at
March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD&A for further analysis and
discussion on trends.

Short-Term Borrowings totaled $9,567 million and $4,180 million a March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively. See
"Balance Sheet Review" in this MD& A for further analysis and discussion on short-term borrowing trends.

Deposits totaled $113,639 million and $110,955 million at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively, which included
$87,112 millionand $91,909 million, respectively, of coredepositsascal culated in accordancewith FFIEC guidelines. See"Balance
Sheet Review" in this MD& A for further analysis and discussion on deposit trends.

Long-Term Debt increased to $31,475 million at March 31, 2019 from $30,628 million at December 31, 2018. Thefollowing table
presents the maturities of long-term debt at March 31, 2019:

(in millions)
P2 1 TP RPPRRPRON $ 5,267
2020 ...ttt h e h e h e eh e E R RS R e RS 1R e R e R e AR e R oA RS E e e oA e eR e SR e eReeR e AR e AR AR e AR e AReeR e R e R e ee e s e e e e e e neenenae e 7,160
122 22 RO OO T PRSP O PP PPTURTPRPRION 5,789
2022 .ttt bt et heeate b e eaEe b e et e eRe e et eheeeAeSRe e SRt eAeeAReeAEeAReeAEeeheeaEeehe e EeeRe e bt eaeeaReeatesheetenaeenrens 1,636
2023 ..t E e h e h Rt R e h R R AR AR e SR e R e RS AR SR e AR e E e e oA e eR e SR e eRe R e AR e AR AR e AR e eReeR e R e R e nR e e e e e e e e eneenenae e 1,112
QLIS (== S TSSOSO PSP TRPTS PSP 10,511
L0 = SRS SRSRSRRR $ 31,475

The following table summarizes issuances and retirements of long-term debt during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and
2018:

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018

(in millions)
LONG-LENM EDE ISSUBH.......cueuieieieieiiceeecieie e e se e s e e e se s e s e aese e aens $ 1829 $ 1517
LONG-ErM et FEPAI. .......eieeeeiecete ettt et e e et (2,091) (3,899)
Net 1oNG-term delot FEPAIT ..........eceeieeciecececee et st st ae bbb ne et nees $ (262) $ (2,382

See "Balance Sheet Review" in this MD& A for further analysis and discussion on long-term debt trends, including additional
information on debt issued and repaid during the three months ended March 31, 2019.

Under our shelf registration statement on file with the SEC, we may issue certain securitiesincluding debt securities and preferred
stock. We satisfy the eligibility requirementsfor designation asa'well-known seasoned issuer,” which allowsustofilearegistration
statement that does not have a limit on issuance capacity. The ability to issue under the registration statement is limited by the
authority granted by the Board of Directors. During the first quarter of 2019, due to an anticipated decrease in utilization of the
shelf registration statement, the Board of Directors approved a reduction in the amount we are authorized to issue from $36,000
million at December 31, 2018 to $30,000 million at March 31, 2019, of which $13,820 million was available. HSBC Bank USA
has a$40,000 million Global Bank Note Program that providesfor theissuance of subordinated and senior notes, of which $13,855
million was available at March 31, 2019. We anticipate using the Global Bank Note Program more in the future as part of our
efforts designed to minimize overall funding costs while accessing diverse funding channels.

Asamember of theFHL B and the Federal Reserve Bank of New York, we have secured borrowing facilitieswhich arecollateralized
by loans and investment securities. At March 31, 2019, long-term debt included $2,000 million of borrowings from the FHLB
facility. Based upon theamountspledged ascollateral under thesefacilities, we have additional borrowing capacity of upto $16,322
million.

Preferred Equity See Note 17, "Preferred Stock," in our 2018 Form 10-K for information regarding all outstanding preferred
share issues.
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Common Equity During the first quarter of 2019, HSBC USA received a common stock return of capital of $2.4 billion from its
subsidiary, HSBC Bank USA, and paid adistribution on its common stock of $2.4 billion from surplus capital to its parent, HSBC
North America.

Capital Ratios In managing capital, we develop targets for common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets, Tier 1 capital
to risk-weighted assets, total capital to risk-weighted assets, Tier 1 capital to adjusted quarterly average assets (i.e., the "Tier 1
leverage ratio") and Tier 1 capital to total leverage exposure (i.e., the "supplementary leverage ratio" or "SLR"). Capital targets
are reviewed at least semi-annually to ensure they reflect our business mix and risk profile, as well as real-time conditions and
circumstances. The following table summarizes HSBC USA's Basel |1l capital ratios calculated as of March 31, 2019 and
December 31, 2018:

March 31, December 31,

2019 2018
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-welghted aSSELS........ccivvevirereseeceee e 11.9% 13.6%
Tier 1 capital t0 riSK-WEIGhLEA @SSELS.......coceiirireeeee e bbb e 12.9 14.6
Total capital t0 riSK-WEIGhTEH SSELS .......ceiviiriiiriie bbb 15.6 17.2
THEN L1EVEIAGE FAHOM ...t s e e e se e ee e e e se e s 9.6 11.0
SUPPIEMENLArY [EVEIAgE TatiOP.........vveoeeeeeeeee st ees st 6.7 7.6

@ Adjusted quarterly average assets, the Tier 1 leverage ratio denominator, reflects quarterly average assets adjusted for amounts permitted to be deducted from
Tier 1 capital.
@ Total leverage exposure, the SLR denominator, includes adjusted quarterly average assets plus certain off-balance sheet exposures.

HSBC USA manages capital in accordance with HSBC Group policy. The HSBC North America Internal Capital Adequacy
Assessment Process ("ICAAP") worksin conjunction with the HSBC Group's ICAAP. The HSBC North Americal CAAP applies
to HSBC Bank USA and evaluates regul atory capital adequacy and capital adequacy under various stress scenarios. Our approach
isto meet our capital needsfor these stress scenarioslocally through activitieswhich reducerisk. To theextent that local aternatives
are insufficient, as a wholly-owned subsidiary of HSBC, we would seek support from our ultimate parent. Regulatory capital
reguirements are based on the amount of capital required to be held, plus applicable capital buffers, as defined by regulations, and
the amount of risk-weighted assets and leverage exposure, also calculated based on regulatory definitions.

We are subject to regulatory capital rulesissued by U.S. banking regulators including Basel 111 (the "Basel 111 rule"). Under the
Basel 111 rule, there are two methods available to calculate risk-weighted assets, the generally-applicable Standardized Approach
and the Advanced A pproaches, which are required in addition to the Standardized Approach for large banking organizations that
meet certain thresholds. As previously disclosed, in accordance with FRB rules, HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA
received regulatory approval to opt out of the Advanced A pproachesand are cal culating their risk-based capital requirementssolely
under the Standardized A pproach. HSBC Bank USA submitsan annual statement to the OCC to maintain thisopt out. For additional
discussion of the Basel Il final rule requirements, including required minimum capital ratios, as well as a discussion of recent
regulatory developments and their expected impact see Part |, "Regulation and Competition - Regulatory Capital and Liquidity
Requirements,” in our 2018 Form 10-K. We continue to review the composition of our capital structure and capital buffersin light
of these developments.

Capital Planning and Stress Testing The FRB requires IHCs and large bank holding companies ("BHCs"), including HSBC
North America, to comply with the FRB's capital plan rule and CCAR program, as well as the annual supervisory stress tests
conducted by the FRB, and periodic company-run stresstests as required under Dodd-Frank (collectively, "DFAST"), as amended
by the Economic Growth, Regulatory Relief and Consumer Protection Act ("Relief Act"). HSBC Bank USA issubject tothe OCC's
DFAST requirements, which require certain banks to conduct annual company-run stress tests. The company-run stress tests are
forward looking exercises to assess the impact of hypothetical macroeconomic baseline and severely adverse scenarios provided
by the FRB and the OCC for the annual exercise, and internally developed scenarios for both the annual and periodic company-
run exercises, on the financial condition and capital adequacy of a bank-holding company or bank over a nine quarter planning
horizon. See Part |, "Regulation and Competition - Regulatory Capital and Liquidity Requirements,” in our 2018 Form 10-K for
further discussion on capital planning and stress testing, including detail regarding the FRB's supervisory assessment as part of
the CCAR process, as well as a discussion of recent regulatory developments and their expected impact.

HSBC North America submitted its latest CCAR capital plan and both HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA submitted
their latest annual company-run DFAST resultsin April 2019. HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA will publicly disclose
their latest annual DFAST resullts, as required, within 15 days of the FRB disclosing the results of its own DFAST results. The
FRB will publicly disclose its own DFAST and CCAR results on or before June 30, 2019. Stress testing results are based solely
on hypothetical adverse stress scenarios and should not be viewed or interpreted as forecasts of expected outcomes or capital
adequacy or of the actual financial condition of HSBC North America or HSBC Bank USA. Capital planning and stress testing
for HSBC North Americaor HSBC Bank USA may impact our future capital and liquidity.
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While bank holding company regulatory capital compliance is generally performed at the HSBC North Americalevel, and also
separately for HSBC Bank USA, as a bank holding company we are required to meet minimum capital requirementsimposed by
the FRB. We present our capital ratios, together with HSBC Bank USA's in Note 16, "Retained Earnings and Regulatory Capital
Requirements,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Other Regulatory Developments InApril 2019, the FRB and the other federal banking agenciesjointly proposed rulestoimplement
the Relief Act that would tailor the application of the enhanced prudential standards to U.S. operations of foreign banking
organizations ("FBOs") to implement the Relief Act amendments (the "Tailoring Proposals"). The proposed rules would assign
each FBOwith $100billion or moreintotal U.S. assets, takinginto account their combined U.S. operations, to one of four categories
based on its size and five risk-based indicators.

In connection with the release of the proposed rules, FRB staff indicated which firms likely would fall into each of the four
categories based on datafor the third quarter of 2018. According to the FRB staff’s projections, HSBC and HSBC North America
would be subject to the Category 111 standards under the proposed rules. If the Tailoring Proposals were finalized as proposed and
HSBC North America became subject to Category 111 standards, HSBC North Americawould (i) remain subject to the generally
applicable Standardized A pproach capital requirementsand the SLR; (ii) becomeeligibleto opt-out of the requirement to recognize
most elements of accumulated other comprehensive income in regulatory capital (iii) remain subject to annual supervisory stress
testing and capital plan requirements as part of the annual CCAR exercise; (iv) become subject to company-run stress testing
reguirementson atwo-year cycle; and (v) remain subject to single counterparty credit limits. Under the Tail oring Proposal's, whether
HSBC North Americawould berequired to comply with full daily liquidity coverageratio and net stablefunding ratio requirements
would depend on whether itswei ghted short-term whol esale funding would exceed $75 billion. The Tail oring Proposal sal so clarify
that the IHC of aCategory |11 FBO, such asHSBC North America, would be not be considered an " Advanced A pproaches banking
organization" and therefore would not be required to use the Standardized Approach to counterparty credit risk ("SA-CCR") to
measure its derivative exposure. Instead, HSBC North America would have the option to use either the SA-CCR or the current
exposure method for its risk-based capital ratios and its SLR under the federal banking agencies pending proposal to implement
the SA-CCR.

Simultaneous with the Tailoring Proposals, the FRB and FDIC jointly released a proposal to revise the regulations implementing
theresolution planning requirementsin the Dodd-Frank Act (the"Resolution Plan Proposal™). Under the Resolution Plan Proposal,
HSBC would be required to file a resolution plan every three years (rather than annually), alternating between afull resolution
plan and atargeted resolution plan, which would generally be limited to core areas such as capital and liquidity, aswell as material
changes in other areas. Under the Resolution Plan Proposal, HSBC's next full resolution plan submission would not be required
until July 1, 2021 and its first targeted resolution plan submission would not be required until July 1, 2024.

The Tailoring Proposals and the Resolution Plan Proposal are subject to modification through the federal rulemaking processin
accordance with the Administrative Procedures Act. The ultimate effects of the Relief Act and the Tailoring Proposals on HSBC
North America cannot be determined at this time and will be subject to the final form of the Tailoring Proposals and additional
rulemakings issued by the FRB and other federal regulators.

2019 Funding Strategy Our current estimate for funding needs and sources for 2019 are summarized in the following table:

Actual Estimated
January 1 April 1 .
through through Estimated
March 31, December 31, Full Year
2019 2019 2019
(in billions)
Increase (decrease) in funding needs:
NEt ChaNGE N TOBNS......c..cirieiiriercre e $ 2% 6 $ 8
Net change in short-term investments and SECUNtIES..........covvveereirerineneneeeseeeees 2 (3) Q)
Net change in trading and Other aSSELS.........covvireireire s 5 5 10
Total fUNAING NEEAS .......eiiceeeiee sttt nnen $ 9 $ 8 $ 17
Increase (decrease) in funding sources:
Net ChaNge iN JEPOSITS ......cvevereeerreirr i $ 3 % 9 $ 12
Net change in trading and other short-term liabilities.........ccooeeveeevcecenirecee 5 1 6
Net change in 1ong-term debt...........ovoiieiiri s 1 2 1)
Total fUNING SOUICES ......cvvieiiieeieteeee ettt a st ennes $ 9 % 8 $ 17

Theabovetablereflectsalong-term funding strategy. Daily balancesfluctuate aswe accommodate customer needs, while ensuring
that we have liquidity in place to support the balance sheet maturity funding profile. Should market conditions deteriorate, we
have contingency plans to generate additional liquidity through the sales of assets or financing transactions. We remain confident
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in our ahility to access the market for long-term debt funding needs in the current market environment. We continue to seek well-
priced and stable customer deposits. We also continue to sell new agency-eligible mortgage loan originations to third parties.

HSBC Bank USA is subject to significant restrictionsimposed by federal law on extensions of credit to, and certain other 'covered
transactions with HSBC USA and other affiliates. For further discussion, see Part |, "Regulation and Competition - Affiliate
Transaction Restrictions,” in our 2018 Form 10-K.

For further discussion relating to our sources of liquidity and contingency funding plan, see the caption "Risk Management” in
thisMD&A.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements, Credit Derivatives and Other Contractual Obligations

As part of our normal operations, we enter into credit derivatives and various off-balance sheet arrangements with affiliates and
third parties. These arrangements arise principally in connection with our lending and client intermediation activities and involve
primarily extensions of credit and, in certain cases, guarantees.

Asafinancia services provider, we routinely extend credit through loan commitments and lines and letters of credit and provide
financial guarantees, including derivative transactions having characteristics of a guarantee. The contractual amounts of these
financial instruments represent our maximum possible credit exposure in the event that a counterparty draws down the full
commitment amount or we are required to fulfill our maximum obligation under a guarantee.

The following table provides maturity information related to our credit derivatives and off-balance sheet arrangements. Many of
these commitments and guarantees expire unused or without default. As a result, we believe that the contractual amount is not
representative of the actual future credit exposure or funding requirements.

Balance at March 31, 2019

Over One Balance at
One Year through Over Five December 31,
or less Five Years Years Total 2018
(in millions)

Standby letters of credit, net of participations™ ...............c......... $ 6378 $ 2465 $ 108 $ 8951 $ 8972

Commercial letters of credit.........oocovveceieciescecceceee e 127 46 — 173 218

Credit deriVatives? ...........oovvvrrivereieeeieesisee s 8,048 41,781 5176 55,005 45,384
Other commitments to extend credit:

ComMMENGIAl® ... 20,455 62,350 3,286 86,091 89,302

(000151 1111 8,276 — — 8,276 7,927

TOAL .ttt reens $ 43284 $106,642 $ 8570 $158,496 $ 151,803

@ Includes $1,414 million and $1,321 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
@ Includes $32,510 million and $25,734 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.
®  Includes $1,600 million and $2,045 million issued for the benefit of HSBC affiliates at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, respectively.

Other Commitments to Extend Credit Other commitments to extend credit include arrangements whereby we are contractually
obligated to extend credit in theform of loans, participationsinloans, leasefinancing receivables, or similar transactions. Consumer
commitments are comprised of certain unused MasterCard/Visa credit card lines, where we have the right to change terms or
conditions upon notification to the customer, and commitments to extend credit secured by residential properties, where we have
theright to changetermsor conditions, for cause, upon natification to the customer. Commercial commitments comprise primarily
those related to secured and unsecured |oans and lines of credit.

In addition to the above, we have established and manage a number of constant net asset value ("CNAV") money market funds
that invest in shorter-dated highly-rated money market securitiesto provide investors with a highly liquid and secure investment.
These funds price the assets in their portfolio on an amortized cost basis, which enables them to create and liquidate shares at a
constant price. The funds, however, are not permitted to price their portfolios at amortized cost if that amount varies by more than
50 basis points from the portfolio's market value. In that case, the fund would be required to priceits portfolio at market value and
consequently would no longer be able to create or liquidate shares at a constant price. We do not consolidate the CNAV funds
because we do not absorb the magjority of the expected future risk associated with the fund's assets, including interest rate, liquidity,
credit and other relevant risks that are expected to affect the value of the assets.
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Fair Value

Fair Value Hierarchy Fair value measurement accounting principles establish afair value hierarchy structure that prioritizesthe
inputs to determine the fair value of an asset or liability (the "Fair Value Framework™). The Fair Value Framework distinguishes
between inputs that are based on observed market data and unobservable inputs that reflect market participants’ assumptions. It
emphasizes the use of valuation methodol ogies that maximize observable market inputs. For financial instruments carried at fair
value, the best evidence of fair value is a quoted price in an actively traded market (Level 1). Where the market for a financial
instrument is not active, valuation techniques are used. The majority of our valuation techniques use market inputs that are either
observable or indirectly derived from and corroborated by observable market data for substantially the full term of the financial
instrument (Level 2). Because Level 1 and Level 2 instruments are determined by observable inputs, less judgment is applied in
determining their fair values. In the absence of observable market inputs, the financial instrument is valued based on valuation
techniquesthat feature one or more significant unobservableinputs (Level 3). The determination of thelevel of fair value hierarchy
within which the fair value measurement of an asset or aliability is classified often requires judgment and may change over time
as market conditions evolve. We consider the following factors in developing the fair value hierarchy:

»  whether the asset or liability is transacted in an active market with a quoted market price;

» thelevel of bid-ask spreads;

» alack of pricing transparency due to, among other things, complexity of the product and market liquidity;

» whether only afew transactions are observed over a significant period of time;

»  whether the pricing quotations differ substantially among independent pricing services;

»  whether inputs to the valuation techniques can be derived from or corroborated with market data; and

» whether significant adjustments are made to the observed pricing information or model output to determinethe fair value.

Level 1inputsare unadjusted quoted pricesin active markets that the reporting entity has the ability to access for identical assets
or liabilities. A financial instrument is classified asalLevel 1 measurement if it islisted on an exchange or isan instrument actively
traded inthe over-the-counter ("OTC") market where transactions occur with sufficient frequency and volume. Weregard financial
instruments such as debt securities, equity securities and derivative contracts listed on the primary exchanges of a country to be
actively traded. Non-exchange-traded instruments classified as Level 1 assets include securities issued by the U.S. Treasury, to-
be-announced securities, non-callable securitiesissued by U.S. Government sponsored enterprisesand certain foreign government-
backed debt.

Level 2 inputs are those that are observable either directly or indirectly but do not qualify asLevel 1 inputs. We classify mortgage
pass-through securities, agency and certain non-agency mortgage collateralized obligations, certain derivative contracts, asset-
backed securities, obligations of U.S. states and political subdivisions, corporate debt, certain foreign government-backed debt,
preferred securities, securities purchased and sold under resale and repurchase agreements, precious metals, certain commercial
loans held for sale, residential mortgage loans whose carrying amount was reduced based on the fair value of the underlying
collateral and real estate owned as Level 2 measurements. Where possible, at least two quotations from independent sources are
obtained based on transactions involving comparabl e assets and liabilities to validate the fair value of these instruments. We have
established a process to understand the methodol ogies and inputs used by the third party pricing services to ensure that pricing
information meets the fair value objective and, where appropriate, this pricing data is back-tested to market trade executions.
Where significant differences arise among the independent pricing quotes and the internally determined fair value, we investigate
and reconcilethedifferences. If theinvestigation resultsin asignificant adjustment to thefair value, theinstrument will beclassified
asLevel 3withinthefair value hierarchy. In general, we have observed that there is a correlation between the credit standing and
the market liquidity of a non-derivative instrument.

Level 2 derivative instruments are generally valued based on discounted future cash flows or an option pricing model adjusted for
counterparty credit risk and market liquidity. Thefair value of certain derivative productsis determined using val uation techniques
based on inputs derived from observable indices traded in the OTC market. Appropriate control processes and procedures have
been applied to ensure that the derived inputs are applied to value only those instruments that share similar risks to the relevant
benchmark indices and therefore demonstrate a similar response to market factors.

Level 3inputs are unobservable estimates that management expects market participants would use to determine the fair value of
the asset or liability. That is, Level 3 inputsincorporate market participants assumptions about risk and the risk premium required
by market participants in order to bear that risk. We develop Level 3 inputs based on the best information available in the
circumstances. At March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, our Level 3 measurementsincluded the following: collateralized debt
obligations ("CDOs") for which thereis alack of pricing transparency due to market illiquidity, certain structured deposits and
structured notes for which the embedded credit, foreign exchange or equity derivatives have significant unobservableinputs (e.g.,
volatility or default correlations), asset-backed credit default swaps with certain inputs which are unobservable, certain corporate
debt securities, certain asset-backed securities, impaired commercial loans, derivativesreferenced toilliquid assets of lessdesirable
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credit quality, swap agreements entered into in conjunction with the sales of Visa Class B Shares for which the fair value is
dependent upon the final resolution of the related litigation and a contingent consideration receivable associated with the sale of
a portion of our PB business. See Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements
for additional information on Level 3 inputs.

Level 3 Measurements Thefollowingtableprovidesinformationabout Level 3assets/liabilitiesinrelationtototal assetgliabilities
measured at fair value at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018:

March 31, December 31,

2019 2018

(dollars are in millions)
LEVE BESSEISMP ..ottt $ 1157 $ 2338
Total assets measured at fair VAIUED® ... ve e ee e s ees s 85,800 81,125
LEVE! BHEDITHESY .......oooeeeeeeeee et 1,644 1,550
Total liabilities MEASUred at fair VAIUE™ ...........ooeeceeeeeeeeee oo ee e esee s see e ee s seseeesenees 50,585 52,587
Level 3 assets as a percent of total assets measured at fair Value..........cooeeveeeeeecinnncnne e 1.3% 2.9%
Level 3 liahilities as a percent of total liabilities measured at fair value..........cccooeveevviiccnccieens 3.2% 2.9%

@ Presented without netting which allows the offsetting of amounts relating to certain contracts if certain conditions are met.

@ Includes $1,112 million of recurring Level 3 assets and $45 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at March 31, 2019. Includes $2,301 million of recurring
Level 3 assets and $37 million of non-recurring Level 3 assets at December 31, 2018.

®  Includes $85,744 million of assets measured on a recurring basis and $56 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at March 31, 2019. Includes
$81,030 million of assets measured on arecurring basis and $95 million of assets measured on a non-recurring basis at December 31, 2018.

Significant Changes in Fair Value for Level 3 Assets and Liabilities During the first quarter of 2019, one of our unconsolidated
VIEswas unwound and our investment in the VIE along with the related derivatives were terminated. Our investment in the VIE,
whichwas alevel 3 asset measured at fair value on arecurring basis, had a carrying value of $1,293 million at the time of unwind.
See Note 17, "Variable Interest Entities," in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for additional information.

See Note 19, "Fair Value Measurements,” in the accompanying consolidated financial statements for information on additions to
and transfers into (out of) Level 3 measurements during the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 as well as for further
detailsincluding the classification hierarchy associated with assets and liabilities measured at fair value.

Effect of Changes in Significant Unobservable Inputs Thefair value of certain financial instrumentsis measured using val uation
techniques that incorporate pricing assumptions not supported by, derived from or corroborated by observable market data. The
resultant fair value measurements are dependent on unobservabl einput parameters which can be selected from arange of estimates
and may be interdependent. Changes in one or more of the significant unobservable input parameters may change the fair value
measurements of these financial instruments. For the purpose of preparing the financial statements, the final valuation inputs
selected are based on management's best judgment that reflect the assumptions market participants would use in pricing similar
assetsor liagbilities.

The unobservable input parameters selected are subject to the internal valuation control processes and procedures. When we
perform atest of all the significant input parameters to the extreme values within the range at the same time, it could result in an
increase of the overall fair value measurement of approximately $45 million or a decrease of the overall fair value measurement
of approximately $16 million at March 31, 2019. The effect of changesin significant unobservable input parameters are primarily
driven by the uncertainty in determining the fair value of credit derivatives executed against certain insurers and certain asset-
backed securitiesincluding CDOs.

Risk Management

Overview Managing risk effectively isfundamental to the delivery of our strategic priorities.

We use a comprehensive risk management framework across the organization and across all risk types underpinned by our risk
culture. Thisframework fosters continuous monitoring, promotes risk awareness and encourages sound operational and strategic
decision-making. It also ensures a consistent approach to monitoring, managing and mitigating the risks we accept and incur in
our activities.

Our Board of Directors has the ultimate responsibility for effective management of risk and approves HUSI's risk appetite. It is
advised onrisk matters by the Risk Committee of the Board of Directorsand the Compliance and Conduct Committee. In particul ar,
the Risk Committee of the Board of Directors advises the Board of Directors on risk appetite and its alignment with our strategy,
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risk governance and internal controls as well as high-level risk related matters. Robust risk governance and accountability are
embedded throughout our business through an established framework that helps to ensure appropriate oversight of and
accountability for the effective management of risk.

The principal risks associated with our operations include the following:
e Creditrisk istherisk of financial lossif a customer or counterparty fails to meet an obligation under a contract;

* Liquidity risk is the risk that we do not have sufficient financial resources to meet our obligations as they fall due or that
we can only do so at an excessive cost, or that funding considered to be sustainable, and therefore used to fund assets, is
not sustainable over time;

» Interest rate risk isthe potential reduction of net interest income due to mismatched pricing between assets and liabilities
aswell aslossesin value due to interest rate movements;

» Market risk is the risk that movements in market factors, such as foreign exchange rates, interest rates, credit spreads,
equity prices and commodity prices, will reduce our income or the value of our portfolios,

«  Operational risk is the risk to achieving our strategy or objectives as a result of inadequate or failed internal processes,
people and systems, or from external events,

* Regulatory compliance risk istherisk that we fail to observe theletter and spirit of relevant laws, codes, rules, regulations
and standards of good market practice causing us to incur fines, penalties and damage to our business and reputation;

e Financial crime risk isthe risk that we knowingly or unknowingly help parties to commit or to further potentially illegal
activity through the HSBC Group. It arises from day to day banking operations;

* Reputational risk istherisk arising from failure to meet stakeholder expectations as aresult of any event, behavior, action
or inaction, either by us, our employees, the HSBC Group or those with whom it is associated, that may cause stakeholders
to form a negative view of us. This might also result in financial or non-financial impacts, loss of confidence or other
consequences,

»  Strategic risk istherisk that the businesswill fail to identify, execute and react appropriately to opportunitiesand/or threats
arising from changes in the market, some of which may emerge over a number of years such as changing economic and
political circumstances, customer requirements, demographic trends, regulatory devel opments or competitor action;

*  Model risk is the potential for adverse consequences from decisions based on incorrect or misused model outputs and
reports. This occurs primarily for two reasons: 1) the model may produce inaccurate outputs when compared with the
intended business use and design objective; and 2) the model could be used incorrectly;

«  Pensionriskistherisk of increased costsfromthe post-empl oyment benefit plansthat we have established for our empl oyees;

»  Sustainability risk is the risk that financial services provided to customers indirectly result in unacceptable impacts on
people or on the environment.

In the course of our regular risk management activities, we use simulation models to help quantify the risk we are taking. We
believe that the assumptions used in these models are reasonable, but actual events may unfold differently than what is assumed
inthe models. Consequently, model results may be considered reasonable estimates, with the understanding that actual results may
differ significantly from model projections.

See"Risk Management" inMD&A inour 2018 Form 10-K for amore compl ete discussion of the objectivesof our risk management
system as well as our risk management policies and practices. There have been no material changes to our approach to risk
management since December 31, 2018.

Liquidity Risk Management Although our overall approach to liquidity risk management has not changed, we continuously
monitor the impact of market eventson our liquidity positionsand will continue to adapt our liquidity framework to reflect market
events and the evolving regulatory landscape and view asto best practices. See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2018 Form
10-K for amore complete discussion of our approach to liquidity risk.

As part of our approach towards liquidity risk management, we employ the measures discussed below to define, monitor and
control our liquidity and funding risk in accordance with HSBC policy.

The Basel Committee based Liquidity Coverage Ratio ("LCR") is designed to be a short-term liquidity measure to ensure banks
have sufficient High Quality Liquid Assets ("HQLA") to cover net stressed cash outflows over the next 30 days. At both March
31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, HSBC USA's LCR under the EU LCR rule exceeded 100 percent. A LCR of 100 percent or
higher reflects an unencumbered HQLA balance that is equal to or exceeds liquidity needs for a 30 calendar day liquidity stress
scenario. HQLA consists of cash or assets that can be converted into cash at little or no loss of value in private markets. HSBC
North Americaand HSBC Bank USA arealso subject tothe U.S. LCR rule. Under the U.S. rule, U.S. ingtitutions, including HSBC
North Americaand HSBC Bank USA, are required to maintain aminimum LCR of 100 percent and report LCR to U.S. regulators
on adaily basis. During the three months ended March 31, 2019 and year ended December 31, 2018, HSBC Bank USA's LCR
under the U.S. LCR rule remained above the 100 percent minimum requirement.
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The European calibration of the Basel Committee based Net Stable Funding Ratio ("NSFR"), which is a longer term liquidity
measure with a 12-month time horizon to ensure a sustainable maturity structure of assetsand liabilities, isstill pending. Therefore,
our calculation of NSFR is based on our current interpretation and understanding of the Basel Committee NSFR guidance, which
may differ in future periods depending on completion of the European calibration and further implementation guidance from
regulators. At both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, HSBC USA's estimated NSFR exceeded 100 percent. A NSFR of
100 percent or more reflects an available stable funding balance from liabilities and capital over the next 12 months that is equal
to or exceeds the required amount of funding for assets and off-balance sheet exposures. In April 2016, U.S. regulators issued for
public comment aproposal toimplement the NSFR inthe United States, applicabl eto certain large banking organi zations, including
HSBC North America and HSBC Bank USA. At both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, HSBC Bank USA's estimated
NSFR, based on our current interpretation and understanding of the proposed U.S. NSFR rule, exceeded 100 percent.

LargeBHCsandIHCs, suchasHSBC North America, area so subject to additional liquidity requirementsunder the FRB'senhanced
prudential standards issued pursuant to Section 165 of the Dodd-Frank Act. Under these enhanced prudential standards, IHCs are
required to comply with various liquidity risk management standards and to maintain aliquidity buffer of unencumbered highly
liquid assets based on the results of internal liquidity stress testing.

HSBC North Americaand HSBC Bank USA have adjusted their liquidity profiles to support compliance with these rules. HSBC
North Americaand HSBC Bank USA may need to make further changesto their liquidity profilesto support compliance with any
future rules.

Our liquidity risk management approach includes deposits, supplemented by wholesale borrowing to fund our balance sheet, and
using security sales or secured borrowings for liquidity stress situations in our liquidity contingency plans. In addition, current
regulatory initiatives require banks to retain a portfolio of HQLA. As such, we are maintaining a large portfolio of high quality
sovereign and sovereign guaranteed securities.

Our ahility to regularly attract wholesale funds at a competitive cost is enhanced by strong ratings from the major credit ratings
agencies. The following table reflects the short and long-term credit ratings of HSBC USA and HSBC Bank USA at March 31,
2019:

Moody's S&P Fitch
HSBC USA:
ShOrt-term DOrTOWINGS. ....c..eeiieirieerer e P-1 A-1 F1+
LoNG-term/SENior dEDL ..........coviireriieeie e A2 A AA-
HSBC Bank USA:
Short-term DOrTOWINGS.......c.coiiiiier e P-1 A-1+ Fl+
LONG-tErM/SENION AEDL ....ceoeeeececiie ettt Aa3® AA- AA-

@ Moody's long-term deposit rating for HSBC Bank USA wasAa2 at March 31, 2019.

Rating agencies continue to evaluate economic and geopolitical trends, regulatory developments, future profitability, risk
management practices and legal matters, al of which could lead to adverse ratings actions.

Although we closely monitor and strive to manage factorsinfluencing our credit ratings, thereisno assurancethat our credit ratings
will not changein thefuture. At March 31, 2019, there were no pending actionsin terms of changesto ratings on the debt of HSBC
USA or HSBC Bank USA from any of the rating agencies.

Interest Rate Risk Management Various techniques are utilized to quantify and monitor risks associated with the repricing
characteristics of our assets, liabilities and derivative contracts. See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2018 Form 10-K for a
more complete discussion of our approach to interest rate risk.

Economic value of equity ("EVE") EVE representsthe present value of the banking book cash flowsthat could be provided to our
equity holder under a managed run-off scenario. An EVE sensitivity represents the changein EVE due to a defined movement in
interest rates. We manage to an immediate parallel upward shock of 200 basis points and an immediate parallel downward shock
of 200 basis pointsto the market implied interest rates. At both March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, our EV E remains higher
than our book value of equity under the base case, up 200 basis points and down 200 basis points scenarios.
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Net interest income simulation modeling techniques We utilize simulation modeling to monitor anumber of interest rate scenarios
for their impact on projected net interest income. These techniques simulate the impact on projected net interest income under
various scenarios, such as rate shock scenarios, which assume immediate market rate movements by as much as 200 basis points,
aswell as scenariosinwhich ratesgradually rise by as much as 200 basis point or fall by as much as 100 basis points, over atwelve
month period. In the gradual scenarios, 25 percent of the interest rate movement occurs at the beginning of each quarter. The
following table reflects the impact on our projected net interest income of the scenarios utilized by these modeling techniques:

March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Amount % Amount %

(dollars are in millions)

Estimated increase (decrease) in projected net interest income (reflects projected rate
movements on April 1, 2019 and January 1, 2019, respectively):

Resulting from agradual 100 basis point increase in theyield curve...............ccccucueee. $ 103 4% $ 99 3%
Resulting from a gradual 100 basis point decrease in the yield curve..............cccccueeeee. (179) (6) (1212) (4
Resulting from a gradual 200 basis point increase in theyield curve..............c.cccceueee. 148 5 160 6

Other significant scenarios monitored (reflects projected rate movements on April 1,
2019 and January 1, 2019, respectively):

Resulting from an immediate 50 basis point decrease in the yield curve...................... (143) (5) (112) 4
Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point increase in the yield curve...................... 160 6 145 5
Resulting from an immediate 100 basis point decrease in theyield curve..................... (339) (12 (283) (10)
Resulting from an immediate 200 basis point increase in the yield curve...................... 252 9 245 8

The projections do not take into consideration possible complicating factors such as the effect of changes in interest rates on the
credit quality, size and composition of the balance sheet. Therefore, although this provides a reasonabl e estimate of interest rate
sengitivity, actual results will differ from these estimates, possibly by significant amounts.

Capital risk/sensitivity of other comprehensive loss Large movements of interest rates could directly affect some reported capital
balancesand ratios. The mark-to-market val uation of available-for-sale securitiesisrecorded on atax effected basisto accumul ated
other comprehensive loss. This valuation mark isincluded in two important accounting based capital ratios: common equity Tier
1 capital to risk-weighted assetsand total equity to total assets. At March 31, 2019, we had an available-for-sal e securities portfolio
of approximately $32,040 million with a negative mark-to-market adjustment of $353 million. An increase of 25 basis pointsin
interest rates of all maturities would lower the mark-to-market by approximately $244 million to a net loss of $597 million with
the following results on our capital ratios:

March 31, 2019 December 31, 2018
Actual Proforma® Actual Proforma®
Common equity Tier 1 capital to risk-weighted assets..........cccceveveerennene 11.9% 11.8% 13.6% 13.5%
Total equity 10 tOtal @SSELS........ccovverrererercerer e 10.1 10.0 119 118

@ Proforma percentages reflect a 25 basis point increase in interest rates.
Market Risk Management Exposure to market risk is separated into two portfolios:
e Trading portfolios comprise positions arising from market-making and warehousing of client-derived positions.
* Non-trading portfolios comprise positions that primarily arise from the interest rate management of our retail and
commercia banking assets and liabilities and financial investments classified as available-for-sale and held-to-maturity.
See "Risk Management" in MD&A in our 2018 Form 10-K for a more complete discussion of our approach to market risk.

Value at Risk ("VaR") VaR isatechnique for estimating potential losseson risk positions as aresult of movementsin market rates
and pricesover aspecifiedtimehorizonandtoagivenlevel of confidence. Theuseof VaRisintegrated into market risk management
and calculated for all trading positionsregardl ess of how we capitalizethem. In addition, wecal culate VaR for non-trading portfolios
to have acompl ete picture of risk. VAR measures are calculated to a 99 percent confidence level and use aone-day holding period.

Trading Portfolios Trading VaR generates from the Global Markets unit of the GB&M business segment. Portfolios are mainly
comprised of foreign exchange products, interest rate swaps, credit default swaps and precious metals (i.e., gold, silver, platinum)
in both North America and emerging markets.
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Daily VaR (trading portfolios), 99 percent 1 day (in millions):

5 Trading VaR

S = N W 4

Dec-18 Jan-19 Feb-19 Mar-19

The following table summarizes our trading VaR for the three months ended March 31, 2019:

Foreign
exchange and Portfolio
commodity Interest rate Credit Spread  diversification® Total®
(in millions)
At March 31, 2019.......ccccveveeeeee e $ 3 % 5 % 1% 4 $ 5
Three Months Ended March 31, 2019
AVEIBOR. ... 2 7 1 (4)
MEXTMUM. ...
MINIMUM e
At December 31, 2018.......ccccoveiveieeeieeeeene $ 2 % 6 $ 1% 3 % 6

@ portfolio diversification is the market risk dispersion effect of holding a portfolio containing different risk types. It represents the reduction in unsystematic
market risk that occurs when combining a number of different risk types, for example, foreign exchange, interest rate and credit spread, together in one
portfolio. It is measured as the difference between the sum of the VaR by individua risk type and the combined total VaR. A negative number representsthe
benefit of portfolio diversification. Asthe maximum and minimum occur on different daysfor different risk types, it isnot meaningful to calculate aportfolio
diversification benefit for these measures.

@ The total VaR is non-additive across risk types due to diversification effects. For presentation purposes, portfolio diversification of the VaR for trading
portfolios includes VaR-based risk-not-in-VaR.

Back-testing We routinely validate the accuracy of our VaR models by back-testing them against hypothetical profit and loss that
excludes non-modeled items such as fees, commissions and revenues of intra-day transactions from the actual reported profit and
loss. We would expect, on average, to see two or three profits and two or three losses in excess of VaR at the 99 percent confident
level over a one-year period. The actual number of profits or losses in excess of VaR over this period can therefore be used to
gauge how well the models are performing. To ensure a conservative approach to calculating our risk exposures, it isimportant
to note that profits in excess of VaR are only considered when back-testing the accuracy of models and are not used for capital
purposes.

During the first quarter of 2019, we experienced one back-testing exception. The profit exception occurred in March and was
mainly driven by precious metal future and spot price movements. There was no evidence of model errors or control failures.
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Back-testing of trading VaR against our hypothetical profit and loss (in millions):
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m———— Hypothetical profit and loss VaR (99%) % Backtesting exception

Non-trading Portfolios Non-tradingVaR predominantly relatesto Balance Sheet M anagement and representsthe potential negative
changes in the investment portfolio market value (which includes available-for-sale and held-to-maturity assets) and associated
hedges. Our investment portfolio holdings are mainly comprised of U.S. Treasury, U.S. Government agency mortgage-backed and
U.S. Government sponsored mortgage-backed securities. Our non-trading VaR exposure is driven by interest rates and agency
spread volatility.

The following table summarizes our non-trading VaR for the three months ended March 31, 2019:

Portfolio

Interest rate Credit Spread  diversification® Total®
(in millions)

At March 31, 2019 ..o $ 29 $ 20 % 11) $ 38
Three Months Ended March 31, 2019

AVEIAJE ...ttt 23 21 (8) 36
M@XIMUIM ..ot enne 35 22 39
Y T 10 T 21 18 33
At December 31, 2018 .......coovvrereeineeineeeeeeeeee e $ 2 3 18 $ 6 $ 34

@ Refer to the Trading VaR table above for additional information.

Non-trading VaR a so includestheinterest rate risk of non-trading financial assets and liabilities held by the global businesses and
transfer priced into Balance Sheet Management which has the mandate to centrally manage and hedge it. For abroader discussion
on how interest rate risk is managed, please refer to the "Risk Management - Interest Rate Risk Management” section in MD&A
in our 2018 Form 10-K.
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CONSOLIDATED AVERAGE BALANCES AND INTEREST RATES

The following table summarizes the quarter-to-date average daily balances of the principal components of assets, liabilities and
equity together with their respective interest amounts and rates earned or paid. Net interest margin is calculated by dividing net
interest income by the average interest earning assets from which interest income is earned. Loan interest for the three months
ended March 31, 2019 and 2018 included fees of $17 million and $18 million respectively.

Three Months Ended March 31, 2019 2018

Average Average
Balance Interest Rate Balance Interest Rate

(dollars are in millions)

Assets:
Interest bearing deposits With DaNKS ..........ceviieernieerise s $ 17,115 $ 114 270% $ 27,091 $ 110 1.65%
Federal funds sold and securities purchased under resale agreements............... 6,250 62 4.02 7,615 48 2.56
Trading SECUMTIES ......eueeeeeireeiee ettt 18,832 63 1.36 12,774 49 1.56
SECUMTIES ...ttt 45,995 304 2.68 44,516 253 2.30
Loans:
COMMENCIBl ..ot 50,036 522 4.23 48,283 414 3.48
Consumer:
Residential MOMGaAgES ..o reerrereriereiereece e 17,448 157 3.65 17,338 147 3.44
HOME egUIty MOMgaAgES......c.vrveeeeereereieireeiere st 959 12 5.07 1,162 12 4.19
CrEAIT CAITS......cceeeerreceereereeee e 1,020 19 7.55 735 18 9.93
OthEr CONSUMES ..ot 276 6 8.82 400 7 7.10
TOLAl CONSUMEN ...cueuerreeee e 19,703 194 3.99 19,635 184 3.80
TOLAl JOAMNS ...t 69,739 716 4.16 67,918 598 357
OLNEY ... 2,889 18 2.53 3,916 16 1.66
Total INterest ANING ASSELS......veureirreeireereeseseeeesesssessesesssessesssssessesssesessesssesees $ 160,820 $ 1,277 322% $ 163830 $ 1,074 2.66%
Allowance for Credit I0SSES ... (540) (653)
Cash and due from Danks.............ccceciiin s 1,299 795
OLhEr @SSELS......vuceeeereeeerer ettt 13,305 21,170
TOUAL BSSELS .....eereceererresie e $ 174,884 $ 185142
Liabilities and Equity - -
Domestic deposits:
L2 VT oS0 1= 1 1 $ 46504 $ 102 89% $ 50,310 $ 71 57%
TIME AEPOSIES. ...covreacerrreeee e 23,626 170 2.92 22,472 113 2.04
Other interest bearing dEPOSItS.......c.oviverirceerrreeeee s 10,125 51 2.04 11,066 30 1.10
Foreign deposits:
FOreign banks dEPOSITS........ccvvreeuiririeirireeieee e 4,128 7 .69 4,710 5 43
Other interest bearing dePOSITS. ........ceirireierirreerre e 763 3 1.59 1,292 2 .63
DepositSheld fOr SAlE.........cvvieeecereeee s 4 — .59 368 1 .62
Total interest Dearing dePOSIES..........ccverrieeriieerceere e 85,150 333 1.59 90,218 222 1.00
SNOrt-tErM DOITOWINGS ...ttt 7,612 62 3.30 6,510 33 2.06
LONG-TEIM AEDL ... 31,401 312 4.03 33,501 257 311
Total interest bearing deposits and debt ...........c.cevvvverneenneeereeeereeenes 124,163 707 231 130,229 512 1.59
Tax liabilities and Other ... 1,156 8 2.81 1,826 10 222
Total interest bearing liabilities. .........covieiicecce s $ 125319 $ 715 231% $ 132,055 $ 522 1.60%
Net interest income/INterest rate SPread ..........vveereeeresrereneseeesesesseeesesseessenens $ 562 .91% $ 552 1.06%
NONINEEreSt DEAING QEPOSILS ........coonvvvereeeeeeeseeee s seseesesseseseessessesesssseeseees 23636 27192 —
Other [18DIlITIES......cveieererrerecrere e 6,444 5,904
TOLBI EQUILY ...ttt 19,485 19,991
Total liabilitieS and EQUILY ......cccccveeeereeciiscecse e enens m m
Net interest Margin on aVerage €arning aSSELS ...............vveerveeersnseresesseeennnes - 142% — 1.37%
Net interest income to average total @SSELS........covveueerreerereseereree e T 1.30% T 121%
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures about Market Risk

Information required by this Item is included within Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operations in the Risk Management section under the captions "Interest Rate Risk Management” and "Market Risk
Management."

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures We maintain asystem of disclosure controlsand proceduresdesigned to ensure
that information required to be disclosed by HSBC USA in the reports we file or submit under the Securities Exchange Act of
1934, asamended (the"ExchangeAct"), isrecorded, processed, summarized and reported on atimely basis. Our Board of Directors,
operating through its Audit Committee, which is composed entirely of independent non-executive directors, provides oversight to
our financial reporting process.

We conducted an evaluation, with the participation of the Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveness
of our disclosure controls and procedures as of the end of the period covered by thisreport. Based upon that evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer concluded that our disclosure controls and procedures were effective as of the end
of the period covered by thisreport so asto alert themin atimely fashion to material information required to be disclosed in reports
we file under the Exchange Act.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting There hasbeen no changein our internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the quarter ended March 31, 2019 that has materially affected, or isreasonably likely to materially affect, our
internal control over financial reporting.
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PART Il

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

SeeNote 20, "Litigation and Regulatory Matters," inthe accompanying consolidated financial statementsfor our legal proceedings
disclosure, which isincorporated herein by reference.

Item 5. Other Information

Disclosures pursuant to Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act Section 13(r) of the Securities Exchange Act requires each
issuer registered with the SEC to discloseinitsannual or quarterly reportswhether it or any of itsaffiliateshave knowingly engaged
in specified activities or transactions with persons or entitiestargeted by U.S. sanctions programsrelating to Iran, terrorism, or the
proliferation of weapons of mass destruction, even if those activities are not prohibited by U.S. law and are conducted outside the
U.S. by non-U.S. affiliates in compliance with local 1aws and regulations.

To comply with this requirement, HSBC has requested relevant information from its affiliates globally. During the period covered
by this Form 10-Q, HUSI did not engagein activities or transactions requiring disclosure pursuant to Section 13(r) other than those
activities related to frozen accounts and transactions permitted under relevant U.S. sanction programs described under "Frozen
Accounts and Transactions" below. The following activities conducted by our affiliates are disclosed in response to Section 13(r):

Legacy contractual obligations related to guarantees Between 1996 and 2007, the HSBC Group provided guaranteesto anumber
of itsnon-lranian customersin Europe and the Middle East for various business activitiesin Iran. In anumber of cases, the HSBC
Group issued counter indemnities in support of guarantees issued by Iranian banks as the Iranian beneficiaries of the guarantees
required that they be backed directly by Iranian banks. The Iranian banks to which the HSBC Group provided counter indemnities
included Bank Tejarat, Bank Mélli, and the Bank of Industry and Mine.

There was no measurable gross revenue in the first quarter of 2019 under those guarantees and counter indemnities. The HSBC
Group does not allocate direct costs to fees and commissions and, therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure. The
HSBC Group is seeking to cancel all relevant guarantees and counter indemnities, and does not currently intend to provide any
new guarantees or counter indemnities involving Iran. None were cancelled in the first quarter of 2019 and approximately 16
remain outstanding.

Other relationships with Iranian banks Activity related to U.S.-sanctioned Iranian banks not covered el sewherein thisdisclosure
includes the following:

*  TheHSBC Group actsasthetrustee and administrator for apension schemeinvolving eight employeesof aU.S.-sanctioned
Iranian bank in Hong Kong. Under the rules of this scheme, the HSBC Group accepts contributions from the I ranian bank
each month and allocates the funds into the pension accounts of the Iranian bank’s employees. The HSBC Group runs
and operates this pension scheme in accordance with Hong Kong laws and regulations. Estimated gross revenue, which
includes fees and/or commissions, generated by this pension scheme during the first quarter of 2019 was approximately
$298.

For the Iranian bank related-activity discussed above, the HSBC Group does not allocate direct coststo fees and commissions and,
therefore, has not disclosed a separate net profit measure.

The HSBC Group has been holding a safe custody box for the Central Bank of Iran. For anumber of years, the box has not been
accessed by the Central Bank of Iran and no fees have been charged to the Central Bank of Iran.

TheHSBC Group currently intendsto continueto wind down the activity discussed in this section, to the extent legally permissible,
and not enter into any new such activity.

Frozen accounts and transactions The HSBC Group and HSBC Bank USA (a subsidiary of HUSI) maintain several accounts
that are frozen as a result of relevant sanctions programs, and safekeeping boxes and other similar custodial relationships, for
which no activity, except aslicensed or otherwise authorized, took place during the first quarter of 2019. There was no measurable
gross revenue or net profit to the HSBC Group during the first quarter of 2019 relating to these frozen accounts.
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Item 6. Exhibits
3(i)  Articlesof Incorporation and amendments and supplements thereto (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3(a) to HSBC USA Inc.'sAnnua Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 1999,
Exhibit 3to HSBC USA Inc.'s Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended September 30, 2000,
Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005, Exhibit 3.3to HSBC USA
Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed April 4, 2005, Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed October 14, 2005, Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed
May 22, 2006 and Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on May 31, 2016).
3(ii)  Bylawsof HSBC USA Inc., asAmended and Restated effective July 24, 2018 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 3.2 to HSBC USA Inc.'s Current Report on Form 8-K filed July 26, 2018).
31 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 302 of the
Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
32 Certification of Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer pursuant to Section 906 of the

Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

101LINS XBRL Instance Document™”

101.SCH XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document”

101.CAL XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document®

101.DEF XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document®

101.LAB XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document®

101.PRE XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document®

Pursuant to Rule 405 of Regulation S-T, includes the following financial information included in our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarter ended

March 31, 2019, formatted in eXtensible Business Reporting Language ("XBRL") interactive datafiles: (i) the Consolidated Statement of Income (Loss) for
the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, (ii) the Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income (Loss) for the three months ended March 31,
2019 and 2018, (iii) the Consolidated Balance Sheet at March 31, 2019 and December 31, 2018, (iv) the Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity for
the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, (v) the Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows for the three months ended March 31, 2019 and 2018, and

(vi) the Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Signatures

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, HSBC USA Inc. has duly caused this

report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly authorized.
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By:

/s GERARD MATTIA

Gerard Mattia
Senior Executive Vice President and
Interim Chief Financial Officer



EXHIBIT 31

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER

PURSUANT TO SECTION 302 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification of Chief Executive Officer

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:

1. | havereviewed thisreport on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financia statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financial reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financial reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor external purposesin accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure control s and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure control s and procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosedinthisreport any changeintheregistrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materially affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financial reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a

all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’s internal control over financia reporting.

Date: May 3, 2019

/9 PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer




Certification of Chief Financial Officer

I, Gerard Mattia, certify that:

1. | havereviewed thisreport on Form 10-Q of HSBC USA Inc,;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of amaterial fact or omit to state a material
fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not
misleading with respect to the period covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in thisreport, fairly present
in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the
periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer and | are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and
procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(€)) and internal control over financia reporting
(as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and procedures to be

designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its
consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities, particularly during the period in
which this report is being prepared;

designed such internal control over financia reporting, or caused such internal control over financial reporting
to be designed under our supervision, to provide reasonable assurance regarding the reliability of financia
reporting and the preparation of financial statementsfor external purposesin accordance with generally accepted
accounting principles;

evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure control s and procedures and presented in this report our
conclusions about the effectiveness of the disclosure controlsand procedures, as of the end of the period covered
by this report based on such evaluation; and

disclosedinthisreport any changeintheregistrant’sinternal control over financial reporting that occurred during
the registrant’s most recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report)
that has materially affected, or is reasonably likely to materialy affect, the registrant’s internal control over
financia reporting; and

5. Theregistrant’s other certifying officer and | have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control
over financia reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of the registrant’s board of directors (or
persons performing the equivalent functions):

a

all significant deficiencies and material weaknessesin the design or operation of internal control over financial
reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record, process, summarize
and report financial information; and

any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role
in the registrant’sinternal control over financial reporting.

Date: May 3, 2019

/s GERARD MATTIA

Gerard Mattia

Senior Executive Vice President and
Interim Chief Financial Officer




EXHIBIT 32

CERTIFICATION OF CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER AND CHIEF FINANCIAL OFFICER
PURSUANT TO SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

Certification Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company”) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Patrick J. Burke, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: May 3, 2019

/s PATRICK J. BURKE

Patrick J. Burke

Chairman of the Board, President
and Chief Executive Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.



Certification pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as Adopted Pursuant to
Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002

The certification set forth below is being submitted in connection with the HSBC USA Inc. (the “Company”) Quarterly Report
on Form 10-Q for the period ending March 31, 2019 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report™) for the purpose of complying with Rule 13a-14(b) or Rule 15d-14(b) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the
“Exchange Act”) and Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the United States Code.

I, Gerard Mattia, certify that:
1. the Report fully complies with the requirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Exchange Act; and

2. theinformation contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of
operations of HSBC USA Inc.

Date: May 3, 2019

/Y GERARD MATTIA

Gerard Mattia

Senior Executive Vice President and
Interim Chief Financial Officer

This certification accompanies each Report pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 and shall not, except to
the extent required by the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002, be deemed filed by HSBC USA Inc. for purposes of Section 18 of the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended.

The signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002 has been provided to
HSBC USA Inc. and will be retained by HSBC USA Inc. and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff
upon request.
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